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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the "Board”) of Yues
International Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year").

Amid the accelerated penetration of the digital economy and
the deepening of green logistics policies, the logistics industry in
Mainland China is undergoing a profound transformation. From
industry perspective, enterprises are facing multiple development
opportunities and challenges. On one hand, the widespread
adoption of new energy vehicles has effectively alleviated fuel cost
pressures; on the other hand, investments in smart logistics systems
have led to short-term operational cost pressures. Additionally, the
comprehensive implementation of carbon emission accounting
systems has prompted enterprises to accelerate the upgrading of
green warehousing facilities. Meanwhile, the rapid digitalization of
the industry, surging demand for cross-border e-commerce logistics,
and intensifying competition for specialized talent are reshaping the
development landscape of the logistics and warehousing sector.

The Group provides domestic transportation and international
freight forwarding services in Mainland China. In 2024, the domestic
logistics, warehousing, and transportation industry continued to
be influenced by global supply chain restructuring, accelerated
digital transformation, and Environmental, Social, and Governance
(ESG) trends, demonstrating steady growth. With the expansion of
the e-commerce market, heightened corporate demand for supply
chain resilience, and government-driven smart logistics policies, the
industry has made significant progress in technological applications,
infrastructure development, and service models. Concurrently, the
Group has consistently adhered to a prudent and disciplined financial
management strategy, including stringent cost control, phased
reductions in marketing budgets, and proactive efforts in strategic
partnership selection and systematic development in emerging
business segments.
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Chalrmaﬂ'S Statement (continuea

BUSINESS REVIEW

As a one-stop in-plant logistics services provider in Mainland China,
the Group has always prioritized high-quality service as its core
competitive advantage, continuously refining its customized client
solutions while expanding service boundaries to meet broader
market demands. On the strategic expansion front, following the
acquisition of the land use rights of a land situated at Fuzhou City of
Jiangxi Province in October 2024, the Group is planning to establish a
traditional Chinese medicine (TCM) logistics industry park which will
improves the quality of warehousing services for TCM products. The
logistic center will also serve other business sectors of the Group,
including TCM warehousing, distribution, healthcare and wellness,
tapping into a broader market. By diversifying its existing business,
the Group believed that this strategic move will support long-term
growth and boost profitability and returns for all shareholders.

In terms of infrastructure development, as at the end of 2024,
the Group had four warehouses in Guangdong Province, with a
total gross floor area of approximately 40,000 square meters. By
leveraging the economies of scale and hardware advantages of
its existing warehousing network, the Group has systematically
consolidated regional warehousing resources, dynamically optimizing
resource allocation efficiency to achieve structural expansion in
customer coverage. Furthermore, the Group has intensified its
efforts in developing emerging market segments, further solidifying
its client base through differentiated service offerings.

Benefiting from the overall recovery in domestic logistics demand in
Mainland China and the consolidation of result of Zhongshan Haihui
Technology Logistics (Group) Company Limited and its subsidiaries
(the “Haihui Group”), which the Group has acquired its 60% equity
interest in second half of 2023, the Group’s operating performance
in its two core business segments, transportation and warehousing
services, has showed significant year-on-year growth in 2024. The
Group's total revenue has increased by approximately RMB122.3
million, or 91.4%, from approximately RMB133.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (the “Previous Year") to approximately
RMB256.2 million for the Year.
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Chalrmal’]'s Statement (continuea

However, cost pressures have also posed challenges to the Group's
operating environment. Subcontracting expenses has increased by
approximately 365.6% year-on-year from approximately RMB33.7
million in the Previous Year to approximately RMB157.0 million.
Employee benefit expenses rose by 7.8% year-on-year from
approximately RMB66.7 million to approximately RMB71.9 million.
Additionally, in line with prudent accounting principles, the Group
has recognized impairment losses of approximately RMB2.1 million
and RMB7.6 million on trade receivables and loan and interest
receivables, respectively. As a result, the Group's loss for the Year
has decreased slightly from approximately RMB34.2 million in the
Previous Year to approximately RMB30.1 million for the Year.

OUTLOOK

Looking forward to 2025, the logistics and warehousing industry in
Mainland China will continue to face systemic challenges, including
cost control pressures, rising global trade protectionism, non-tariff
technical barriers, difficulties in overcoming technological innovation
bottlenecks, and a shortage of high-caliber talent. Notably, at the
macro-policy level, local governments are expected to enhance
industrial support by promoting industry standardization, refining
regulatory mechanisms, and facilitating intelligent transformation,
thereby fostering a more sustainable development environment for
logistics enterprises.

Under this background, the Group will pursue a dual-track strategy
which on one hand, consolidating its quality advantages in existing
transportation, warehousing, in-plant logistics, and customized
services and, on the other hand, accelerating business diversification
to flexibly adapt to dynamic changes in customers’ logistics needs.
Key strategic initiatives include, but not limited to: (i) Technology-
driven transformation: focusing on Artificial Intelligence (Al)
algorithm development, automated handling robots, and scenario-
based applications of computerized delivery systems to build an
intelligent logistics ecosystem; (i) Industry chain expansion: exploring
specialized warehousing and distribution networks in the Traditional
Chinese Medicine sector to develop end-to-end pharmaceutical
supply chain logistics solutions; (iii) Goat milk business development:
leveraging the management team'’s extensive experience in domestic
health and wellness industry as well as deep insights into market
trends, consumer demand, and supply chain integration, the Group
aims to utilize Inner Mongolia’s natural resources to develop goat
milk products, capturing emerging opportunities in the increasingly
popular health and wellness market in Mainland China.
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Chalrmaﬂ'S Statement (continuea

Through these strategic initiatives, the Group is committed to seizing
structural opportunities in a complex market environment, ultimately
achieving a strategic balance between robust shareholder value
appreciation and sustainable corporate development.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt thanks
to our staff for diligently performing their duties and overcoming
difficulties during a challenging year. Their commitment has enabled
the Group to maintain stability in its business amidst challenges. At
the same time, | would like to thank all shareholders, customers and
business partners for their trust and support to the Group.

Le Kang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E R M

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an established logistics service provider in the PRC
which provides a wide range of logistics services to meet the needs
of the customers’ supply chains including (i) transportation; (ii)
warehousing; (iii) in-plant logistics; and (iv) customisation services
(consisting mainly of labelling services and bundling services).

The Group offers transportation services which primarily involve the
delivery of the customers’ production materials, components and
finished goods to their downstream clients, manufacturing plants
and/or designated locations. As at end of 2024, the Group has
four warehouses located in the Guangdong Province with a total
gross floor area of approximately 40,000 square metres which offer
warehousing services to customers. The Group’s in-plant logistics
services cover the management of the movement of (i) production
materials and components and work-in-progress to the production
lines within the customers’ manufacturing plants; and (ii) finished
goods out to their factory gate. The Group’s range of services gives it
a competitive advantage over other logistics service providers in the
PRC which offer only a limited range of services.

In 2024, warehousing and logistics sector in the PRC continued to
play a vital role in supporting economic growth, driven by policy
support and technological innovation. While the industry maintained
steady development, it also faced pressures such as rising costs and
intensifying competition. Businesses across the sector focused on
balancing efficiency improvements with cost control, seeking new
pathways for growth in a rapidly evolving environment. Warehouses
nationwide accelerated their shift toward intelligent operations.
Technologies like automated guided vehicles and smart sorting
systems became more widespread, significantly boosting processing
efficiency. Government policies encouraged the redistribution of
warehousing resources to central and western regions, easing space
shortages in coastal areas. However, challenges emerged as rising
rents in major cities and increasing labor costs squeezed profit
margins for small and mid-sized warehousing companies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ontinea

ERET R

In 2024, the Group delivered robust revenue expansion of
approximately 91.4% compared to the prior year, primarily driven by
the rebound in domestic transportation demand and international
freight forwarding activities, as well as the acquisition of 60% equity
interest of Zhongshan Haihui Technology Logistics (Group) Company
Limited in October 2023. While revenue growth was commendable,
the Group also faced industry-wide headwinds in the logistics
sector in the PRC, notably labour shortages and inflationary cost
on warehouse maintenance and fleet operations. These factors
has contributed to a significant rise in the outsourcing expenses,
with their proportion to total revenue increasing from 25.2% in
2023 t0 61.3% in 2024. Conversely, the Group maintained stringent
financial discipline by optimizing marketing spend and administrative
overheads, reducing their share of revenue from 23.7% to 14.2%
year-on-year. Such cost-conscious measures were critical in
mitigating external pressures and persisting market volatility.

In order to remain the competitive positioning and diversify revenue
streams, the Group has, through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
acquired the land use rights of a land situated at Fuzhou City, Jiangxi
Province, the PRC through public tender for a consideration of
RMB10.0 million. The Group plans to establish a traditional Chinese
medicine (TCM) logistics industry park on the Land which will
improves the quality of warehousing services for TCM products. The
logistics centre will also serve other business sectors of the Group,
including TCM warehousing, distribution, healthcare and wellness,
tapping into a broader market. By diversifying the business, it is
believed that this strategic move will support long-term growth and
boost profitability and returns to the Group.

To conclude, despite lingering uncertainties in domestic demand
recovery, the Group has demonstrated operational agility through
disciplined cost controls and proactive investment in growth
drivers in 2024. The Group remains vigilant to market fluctuations
while pursuing value-accretive opportunities to sustain long-term
shareholder returns.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ontinea

ERET MR

OUTLOOK

Looking forward to 2025, from the perspective of market demand,
transportation and warehousing industry in the PRC will continue
its transformation and upgrading trend, but growth momentum
may show structural differentiation. Affected by the slow recovery
of domestic consumption and the restructuring of global industrial
chains, demand for traditional standard warehousing services
may continue to face pressure, while demand for high-standard
warehousing and smart warehousing solutions is expected to
usher in new growth. Industry competition will shift to operational
efficiency improvement, digital capability development, and the
creation of integrated service ecosystems.

To respond to market uncertainties, the Group is, on one hand,
adhere to a strategic direction of steady adaptability, deepen the
transformation of integrated intelligent warehousing to address
flexible changes in industry customer demands; on the other hand,
actively promoting in-depth cooperation with the Traditional Chinese
Medicine (TCM) industry, including but not limited to the construction
of warehouses and/or other logistics industrial parks on the land
which the land use right being acquired in 2024, aiming to provide
customers with high-quality TCM product warehousing and logistics
services. By leveraging the business network of chairman of the
Company who has extensive experience in TCM Business., the
project is forecasted to be completed by the end of 2026.

To achieve business diversification, the Group has also commenced
its goat milk product operations in the Inner Mongolia Autonomous
Region of China in late 2024. Developing goat milk products is a
strategic move for the Group to enter the health sector and achieve
business diversification. Considering the market trend of heightened
health awareness, goat milk is gradually gaining popularity among
consumers due to its low allergenicity and high nutritional value,
with the middle-aged and elderly population driving market growth
for goat milk powder. Currently, the Group plans to start selling goat
milk powder in the first half of year 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ontinea

ERET R

While encountering a new round of industry consolidation, the
Group will adhere to its development strategy of pursuing change
while maintaining stability. While strengthening its leading position
in the transportation and warehousing business, the Group will also
actively explore market opportunities to expand its existing business
network to attain cross-industry synergy. Through the formulation
of strategic adjustments, the Group expects not only to effectively
withstand market fluctuations but also to create value growth across
cycles for its shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in provision of transportation,
warehousing, in-plant logistics and customisation service. The overall
revenue of the Group increased by approximately RMB122.3 million
or approximately 91.4% from approximately RMB133.9 million for the
Previous Year to approximately RMB256.2 million for the Year.

Transportation service

Transportation service primarily involved (i) the delivery of the
customers' production materials or components from their suppliers
to their manufacturing plants; (i) the arrangement for transportation
of the customers’ finished goods to their designated locations or
downstream customers; (iii) sea transportation services; and (iv)
international freight forwarding agency services.

Revenue from the transportation service recorded an increase of
approximately 245.1% from approximately RMB50.3 million for the
Previous Year to approximately RMB173.7 million for the Year. This is
mainly attributable to the additional revenue brought by the Group’s
new subsidiary in incorporated in the Guangdong Province during
the year to provide one-stop solution on supply chain management
including transportation and logistics services. The acquisition of
Haihui Group in October 2023 has also broaden the Group's base of
the transportation revenue compared to the Previous Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ontinea

ERET MR

Warehousing service

The warehousing service of the Group included provision of inventory
storage and management services. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group had four warehouses in the PRC with total gross floor area of
approximately 40,000 square metres.

Revenue from the warehousing service increased by approximately
24.4% from approximately RMB19.3 million for the Previous Year
to approximately RMB24.0 million for the Year mainly due to the
inclusion of warehousing revenue from Haihui Group in 2024.

In-plant logistics service

The in-plant logistics service primarily included management of the
movement of (i) production materials and components and work-in-
progress to the production lines within the customers’ manufacturing
plants; and (i) finished goods out to factory gate of the customers.

Revenue generated from the in-plant logistics service decreased
by approximately 9.7% from approximately RMB62.9 million for the
Previous Year to approximately RMB56.8 million for the Year.

Customisation service

The customisation service mainly comprised of labelling services and
bundling services which is subject to the demand from its customers
on an as-needed basis.

Revenue generated from the customisation service amounted to
approximately RMB1.3 million and approximately RMB1.7 million for
the Previous Year and the Year, respectively.
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Other income, gains and losses, net

Other income gains and losses, net mainly consisted of change
in fair value on contingent consideration payable for business
combination, interest income from loan receivables, net exchange
gains, loss on disposal of subsidiaries and unrealised loss on fair
value change of financial assets at FVPL. The net gain decreased
from approximately RMB9.6 million for the Previous Year to
approximately RMB9.1 million for the Year mainly due to (i) the fair
value change on contingent consideration payable on acquisition
of Haihui Group of approximately RMB8.1 million; offset by (ii)
net exchange gains arising from translation of foreign currency
denominated monetary items of approximately RMB1.5 million for
the Year compared to approximately RMB3.3 million for the Previous
Year, (i) approximately RMB4.6 million unrealised loss on fair value
change of financial assets at FVPL recognised for the Year; and (iv)
loss on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately RMB1.7 million for
the Year.

Employee benefit expenses

Employee benefit expenses primarily consisted of (i) wages and
salaries; (i) social security fund and insurance contribution; and (iii)
other allowances and benefits.

The employee benefit expenses increased by approximately RMB5.2
million, or 7.8% from approximately RMB66.7 million for the Previous
Year to approximately RMB71.9 million for the Year.

Sub-contracting expenses

Sub-contracting expenses primarily represented the amount paid to
subcontractors for the provision of certain transportation services.
Sub-contracting expenses were incurred for the orders for domestic
transportation service and international freight forwarding agency
services by our customers, whereby the Group, through outsourcing
to independent subcontractors, assisted the customers to obtain
cargo space from shipping companies or shipping agents that
meet their requirements. The sub-contracting expenses increased
significantly by approximately RMB123.3 million from approximately
RMB33.7 million for the Previous Year to approximately RMB157.0
million for the Year mainly contributed by the corresponding increase
in revenue for the Year.
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Lease payment relating to short-term leases

Short-term lease payment mainly comprised lease payments for
rental expense for office premises, warehouses, staff quarters and
forklifts, which do not meet the definition of lease liability as lessee
under HKFRS 16. Short-term lease payment has decreased by
approximately RMB29.4 million, or 83.3%, to approximately RMB5.9
million for the Year from approximately RMB35.3 million for the
Previous Year mainly due to the change of corporate strategy of
leasing smaller warehouses to reduce cost after the termination of
lease of the old warehouse in Guangdong Province in 2024.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

The Group has certain leases pursuant to HKFRS 16 in respect of (i)
premises comprising warehouses, office premises and staff quarters,
and (i) plant and machinery such as forklifts. The depreciation of
right-of-use assets has increased from approximately RMB3.9 million
for the Previous Year to approximately RMB7.4 million for the Year
as two additional lease contracts relating to the warehouses of the
Haihui Group have been consolidated to the Group for the Year.

Finance costs

Finance costs mainly represented interest expenses on lease
liabilities and bank and other borrowings. Finance costs has
increased significantly from approximately RMB1.1million for the
Previous Year to approximately RMB4.0 million for the Year mainly
attributed to the inclusion of bank loan interest of Haihui Group on a
full year basis as compared to Previous Year.

Other expenses

Other expenses mainly include (i) fleet vehicles operating expenses
which mainly included fuel costs and maintenance expenses of our
fleet vehicles; (i) outsourced labour costs; (i) office and telephone
expenses which mainly included general office expenses and long-
distance calling fees; (iv) insurance expenses for the warehouses
and transportations; (v) entertainment and travelling expenses
for business soliciting; and (vi) others which mainly included
maintenance expenses for the warehouses, professional fees and
other miscellaneous expenses.
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Other expenses increased by approximately RMB4.6 million
from approximately RMB31.7 million for the Previous Year to
approximately RMB36.3 million for the Year, mainly due to increase
in outsourced labour costs led by the rise of general wage level of
manpower in the PRC, and additional acquisition-related legal and
professional fees incurred during the Year.

Loss for the year

As a result of the aforesaid, the Group recorded a loss of
approximately RMB30.1 million for the Year (Previous Year: loss of
approximately RMB34.2 million).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s operation and investments were financed principally
by internal resources. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had
net current assets of approximately RMB60.4 million (2023:
approximately RMB100.0 million) and cash and cash equivalents
of approximately RMB49.7 million (2023: approximately RMB78.0
million). The Directors confirm that the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to meet its obligations as and when they fall due
in the foreseeable future.

GEARING RATIO

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the gearing ratio,
which is expressed as a percentage of net debt divided by equity
attributable to owners of the Company. Net debt is calculated as
the sum of bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities, contingent
consideration payable and amount due to a director less time deposit
and cash and cash equivalents. The gearing ratio of the Group was
approximately 4.9% as at 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately
9.2%).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group comprises issued share capital
and reserves. The Directors review the Group’s capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, issuance of new shares and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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On 6 November 2024, the Company held an extraordinary general
meeting and an ordinary resolution was passed to approve the
consolidation of every ten issued and unissued ordinary shares of
par value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company into
one consolidated share of par value of HK$0.10 each in the share
capital of the Company. The share consolidation became effective
on 8 November 2024 and the total number of issued shares of the
Company became 1,000,000,000 shares. For details of the share
consolidation, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 26 September 2024 and 6 November 2024, and the circular of
the Company dated 17 October 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had issued a total of
133,416,000 shares in the par value of HK$0.1 each, and all shares
were fully paid and rank pari passu with each other in all respects.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group did not have any charge on its assets as at 31 December
2024 (2023: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material capital
commitment (2023: nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed 640 (2023: 680)
full time employees. The Group determines the employee’ s
remuneration based on factors such as qualification, duty,
contributions, work experience, the prevailing market conditions
and the Group’s remuneration policy. Employees’ benefits include
contributions to retirement scheme and share options under the
Company’s share option scheme. To enhance the expertise of our
employees, the Group also provides them on-the-job training and
sponsors them to attend external training courses and seminars.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES,
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR ADDITIONS OF CAPITAL
ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other
significant investments, material acquisitions, and disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the Year, nor there
were any future plans for material investments or additions of capital
assets for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 19 April 2024 (after trading hours), the Company and the placing
agent (the “Placing Agent") entered into a placing agreement,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to
place through the Placing Agent, on a best effort basis, of up to
192,880,000 placing shares, to not less than six placees who and
whose ultimate beneficial owners shall be independent third parties
at the placing price of HK$0.097 per placing share (the “Placing”).
The gross proceed from the Placing was approximately HK$18.71
million, and the net proceeds from the Placing (after deduction of
commission and other expenses of the Placing) was approximately
HK$18.52 million, representing a net issue price of approximately
HK$0.096 per placing share. The Placing Shares shall rank pari passu
in all respects among themselves and with the ordinary Shares in
issue of the Company. The Placing Price of HK$0.097 per Placing
Share represents a discount of approximately 11.82% to the closing
price of HK$0.11 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the
date of the Placing Agreement.

In view of the current market conditions, the Board are of the
view that the Placing represents an opportunity to raise additional
capital for the Group to strengthen its financial position in order to
supplement the capital requirements for the Group to further develop
its logistic service business. In light of the above, the Directors are
of the opinion that the terms of the Placing Agreement, including
the Placing Price, are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. On 30 April 2024,
the Placing was completed and 192,880,000 placing shares have
been placed by the Placing Agent to not less than six placees at the
placing price of HK$0.097 per placing share pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the placing agreement. At the time of completion,
the aggregate nominal value of the maximum of 192,880,000 Placing
Shares under the Placing was HK$1,928,800.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 19 April 2024 and 30 April 2024.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the Placing and placing of 80,000,000 shares
at the placing price of HK$0.185 per share pursuant to the placing
agreement dated 15 June 2022 (the “2022 Placing”) of the shares
of the Company, amounted to approximately HK$14.0 million.

An analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from the 2022
Placing up to 31 December 2024 is set out below:
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freEEE N IREHEA20224 6 A 15 BREL & #
IR BC & (B & A% 0.185 7 JT At & 80,000,000 A% 7K
2EkG5 (2022 BESHE]) 2 IERBEFE
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Unutilised Actual use Unutilised
net proceeds of net net proceeds
Planned as at proceeds as at
use of net 31 December during 31 December
proceeds 2023 the Year 2024
120235 720245
12A 3108 rEE 12A 3108
s lof S Il EREAN HREA
RIEREN FRRARE FRaRIE FRERIE
RERE BE g4 ] g g |
HKS'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
BEAT BEAT BEABT BEAT
Development of the Chinese Medicine RS ai2 K E /5
business and/or general working —RERES
capital 14.0 14.0 14.0 -

The net proceeds from the Placing and placing of 176,880,000 shares
at the placing price of HK$0.196 per share pursuant to the placing
agreement dated 12 June 2023 (the “2023 Placing") of the shares
of the Company, amounted to approximately HK$34.2 million.
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An analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from the 2023
Placing up to 31 December 2024 is set out below:

B 2023 Al E =AML T 2024412 A31 B IEWFT

SRIBFRERITOT

Unutilised Actual use Unutilised
net proceeds of net  net proceeds
Planned as at proceeds as at
use of net 31 December during 31 December
proceeds 2023 the Year 2024
®2023F 1®2024F
12A 3108 rEE 12A 3188
& lof S Il EREAN HREA
REREN FRRRE FRRRIE FRRRIE
RERE BE 4] B8
HK$'million HKS$'million HKS$'million HKS$'million
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEET
Development of Intelligent RREEMRRBES (i)
Logistics Services Business (Note) 34.2 34.2 4.2 300

Note: Itis expected that the remaining balance of the unutilised net proceeds allocated
for the "Development of intelligent logistics services business” will be utilised in
or before the year ending 31 December 2026.

The net proceeds from the Placing and placing of 192,880,000 shares
at the placing price of HK$0.097 per share pursuant to the placing
agreement dated 19 April 2024 (the “2024 Placing”) of the shares
of the Company, amounted to approximately HK$18.5 million.
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An analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from the Placing up
to 31 December 2024 is set out below:

Investment in infrastructure of the REMREBER I (HT)
logistic business (Note)

FEFERASWET
Actual use
of net
Planned proceeds
use of net during
proceeds the Year
FEE
RERE EREAN
BEH Eed ]
RERE B8
HK$'million HK$'million
BEET BEAT
18.5 10.8

Unutilised
net proceeds
as at

31 December
2024
#2024 F
12A 3188
HREA
FRRRE

4]
HK$'million
BEET

1.7

BRCESEREET2024F 12 A31 B LB 5 HRIE

Note: It is expected that the remaining balance of the unutilized net proceeds allocated
for the “Investment in infrastructure of the logistic business” will be utilized in or
before the year ending 31 December 2026.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the utilisation of proceeds
was in accordance with the planned applications. The unutilised
portion of the proceeds will be applied in a manner consistent with
the above planned applications.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Le Kang, aged 36, was appointed as an executive Director and
the chairman of the Board on 6 December 2021 and 30 December
2021 respectively. He is the chairman of the nomination committee
of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and a member of
the remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Ccommittee”). He has over 12 years of experience in marketing
and company management, mainly covering cultural tourism
consulting, tourism and wellness, Chinese medicine retailing, health
management, etc. Mr. Le is currently the legal representative and
partner of a number of domestic companies, and has served as the
legal representative of Shanghai Leshi Medical Technology Group Co.,
Ltd.* (b/B2E K BRI EE AR A7) and Shanghai Leshi Tourism
Development Group Co., Ltd.* (E/SZ Kk REEER A F).
Since 2020, he has been the partner of Shanghai Didi Technology
Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (E/8HSRIRABCEER
& %)), the legal representative of Panjin Liaohu Legin Health Care
Management Co., Ltd.* (RIRFBEIMVERELEETIERBR A E]) and
Leshi Materia Medica (Shanghai) Cosmetics Technology Co., Ltd.* (4
KARE( L@ tmBHRBRAR).

Mr. Le was the leader of the new era of Chinese brands in 2019. He
also served as the secretary-general of the Shanghai International
Volunteer Service Station* (_E/8 BIFR £ FE=E BRSuh) of the International
Peace Exchange Foundation.

Mr. Li zhigang, aged 43, was appointed as executive Director on
9 December 2023. He is currently the executive director and general
manager of Suzhou Institute of Traditional Chinese Medicine Co.,
Ltd.* (B& N R 225 9T BT B BR 2 7)) and a director of Jiangsu Kangda
Testing Technology Co., Ltd. Mr. Li Zhigang has served as an external
tutor at Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool University since March 2019. Mr.
Li Zhigang worked in various positions at Suzhou Yuanchuang
Pharmaceutical Research Co., Ltd.* (&M R &l ZE ¥ 55 B FR A &),
Suzhou Youseen New Drug Development Co., Ltd.* (Ef ) T Zx 5 2453
ZEHRAF]), and ReneSola Ltd. (now known as Emeren Group Ltd)
(NYSE: SOL).
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Mr. Li Zhigang passed the National Unified Legal Professional
Qualification Examination* (EIXR# —ZEBEERZHR) of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") in April 2021. Mr. Li Zhigang
is an non-practicing member of Shanghai Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a registered tax agent in the PRC, a certified
internal auditor of the Institute of Internal Auditors and obtained
the certification in risk management assurance from the Institute of
Internal Auditors. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering
with major in biological engineering from Wuhan Technical Institute*
(FE T EE67) (now known as Wuhan Polytechnic University* (2%
# T K22 in June 2003, a master’s degree in business administration
from Xi'an Jiaotong University in June 2017 and a master’s degree in
laws with major in civil and commercial law from Renmin University
of China in December 2023.

Mr. Li Jiahao, aged 34, was appointed as an executive Director
on 4 August 2021. He is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
and also a member of the Remuneration Committee. He obtained
the degree of Bachelor of Arts in International Trade and Business
Communication from University of Portsmouth in 2012. He joined the
operating subsidiary of the Company, namely Guangzhou World-Link
(China) Co. Limited* (B M P ESIRFIRA YR AR A ) ("Guangzhou
World-Link") as assistant manager since September 2012. Mr. Li
Jiahao was promoted as project manager of Guangzhou World-Link
and assistant general manager of Guangzhou World-Link in April
2013 and April 2017 respectively. He has been promoted as a deputy
general manager of Guangzhou World-Link since January 2019. Mr.
Li Jiahao is mainly responsible for the business operations of the
Group. Mr. Li Jiahao is also a director of Goal Rise Logistics (Egypt)
Limited which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

Ms. Liu Ping, aged 46, was appointed as executive Director on
15 April 2024 , she possesses extensive experience in investment
and corporate management. Ms. Liu is currently the chief executive
officer of Shanghai Chengmai Investment Management Co., Ltd.*
(B 53 8% & E E AR 2 Al), acompany principally engaged
in investment management, corporate management, asset
management, business consulting, health consulting, and other
related activities. Ms. Liu is responsible for its operations and overall
management.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick, aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 28 June 2022. He is the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Lau has over 20 years of experience in auditing and
accounting. Mr. Lau founded Ascent Corporate Services Limited in
December 2018 and has served as its director since its incorporation.
He is currently the company secretary of Haina Intelligent Equipment
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1645) and Infinity Logistics
and Transport Ventures Limited (stock code: 1442), whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From December
2020 to January 2022 and July 2019 to August 2022, Mr. Lau was
the company secretary of China Health Technology Group Holding
Company Limited (formerly know as China Bozza Development
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1069) and MOG Digitech Holdings
Limited (formerly known as MOG Holdings Limited) (stock code:
1942) respectively, whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Lau was also the company secretary of Dragon
King Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8493) for the period from March 2023 to
September 2023.

Mr. Lau obtained his degree of Master of Arts in International
Accounting in 2002 and Higher Diploma in Accountancy in 1997,
both from City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lau is currently a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Dr. Wang Yi, aged 54, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 17 October 2022. He is the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
committee since 30 August 2024. He is a professor of the School
of Economics of the Beijing Technology and Business University.
He has completed PhD programme at the School of Economics and
Business Administration of the Beijing Normal University, majoring in
educational economy and management, and has obtained his Doctor
of Management in June 2009. His main research areas include
enterprise management, labour economics, educational economics,
etc. Dr. Wang has published more than 50 high-level papers in the
Chinese Higher Education Social Sciences Citation Index journals and
has led more than 15 national- and provincial-level projects such as
key projects of the National Social Science Fund.
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Dr. Wang is also currently serving as a director of the Youth Branch
of the Commerce Economy Association of China; a director of the
China Association of Labour Economics; a director of the China
Disabled Persons’ Federation; a think tank expert of the National
Rural Revitalisation Administration; a think tank expert of the National
Bureau of Statistics of China; etc.

Mr. Chan Koon Yung, aged 66, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 19 October 2022. He is the member
of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. Mr. Chan has more than 34 years of
experience in management, audit, finance, taxation and accounting.
He obtained a Diploma in Accounting from the Hong Kong Baptist
University (formerly known as Hong Kong Baptist College) in 1982
and a Master degree of Business Administration from the University
of Strathclyde in the United Kingdom in 1993. He worked for
Tupperware (China) Company Limited from December 1987 to April
1998 with his last position as a financial director, and for Herbalife
International of Hong Kong Limited from January 1999 to November
2005 as the general manager/director, where the holding companies
for both companies are listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Mr.
Chan later joined Synergy Worldwide (HK) Limited from March 2006
to August 2008 as a general manager. Besides, he has been working
for Poon & Partners CPA Limited since September 2008 with his
current position as a director, and has been the sole proprietor of his
own accounting firm Chan Koon Yung & Co. since March 2013. Mr.
Chan was the chief financial officer of Star Centurium Limited from
January 2023 to December 2023. He is an independent non-executive
director in Anxian Yuan China Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00922), since
June 2014.

He is currently a practicing certified public accountant in Hong Kong
and is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.
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Mr. zhang Yao, aged 49, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 9 September 2024, he has extensive
experience in media and investment sectors. He has been the
chairman of the board of Haitian Film and Television Media (Shanghai)
Co,td* (B RF R EXEKL BB ) since 2016 and the
general manager of Shanghai Haitian Asset Investment Co., Ltd.*

EE8XEEREABR AR since 2006. Mr. Zhang served as an
a55|stant manager at Shangha| New Huangpu (Group) Co., Ltd.* (-
¥ ESH(EE) AR & T A7) from 2003 to 2006 and a human
resources supervisor at Shangha| Yunpeng Industrial Company*
(LB EREE ZE AR A from 1999 to 2002. Mr. Zhang obtained his
bachelor’s degree of law from China University of Geosciences in
July 2007.

/‘\—

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Yang Jianxin (#53£37), aged 48, joined the Group in February
1997 and has been the business manager since June 2008. Ms. Yang
is mainly responsible for negotiating the Group’s service contracts
with customers and preparation of business performance analysis
and contracting quotations of the Group.

Ms. Yang obtained her logistician qualification certificate issued by
the China Federation of Logistics & Purchasing* (/R B4 AR BE
B4 @) and the National Logistics Standardization & Technology
Committee* (2 EIMIRIZE(LFAiTZ B ) in December 2006. Ms.
Yang completed her high school education in 1996.
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The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in order to uphold the transparency of the Group
and safeguard interests of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). To accomplish this, the Company has adopted
the principles and the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The Company has complied with all applicable Code Provisions as
set out in the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ transactions in the
securities of the Company. Specific enquiry has been made of all the
Directors and all Directors confirmed that they had fully complied
with the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct
adopted by the Company and there was no event of non-compliance
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of
this report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Company aims to establish and maintain a competent and
independent Board to supervise the Group's business. The
Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s mission and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
are in place for the Group to achieve its objectives.
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The Board has established Board committees and has delegated
to these Board committees various responsibilities as set out in
their respective terms of reference. The Board may from time to
time delegate certain functions to senior management of the Group
if and when considered appropriate. The management of day-to-
day operation of the Group's businesses and implementation of the
business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board has
been delegated to the senior management of the Group.

The main functions performed by the Board include but are not
limited to the following matters:

formulating the Group’s strategy and direction and monitoring
the implementation thereof;

deciding all material contracts, acquisitions, investments,
disposals of assets or any significant capital expenditure;

approving of the Group’s financial statements, published
reports, price sensitive announcements and other disclosures
required under the Listing Rules;

developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate
governance practices and the effectiveness of the Group's
financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems;

Board appointment and other major appointments or removal;

monitoring the performance of the management;

reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management;

reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and

developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors.
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As at 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report, the
Board comprises the following five executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDS"):

Executive directors

Mr. Le Kang (Chairman)
Mr. Li Zhigang (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 9 September 2024)
Mr. Li Jiahao
Mr. Li Jiali (resigned on 29 October 2024)
Mr. Du Yingyou (resigned on 17 March 2025)
Ms. Liu Ping (appointed on 15 April 2024)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Yu Chun Man (resigned on 30 August 2024)
Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick

Dr. Wang Yi

Mr. Chan Koon Yung

Mr. Zhang Yao (appointed on 9 September 2024)

Biographical information of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report.

Ms. Liu Ping was appointed as an executive Director of the Company
with effect from 15 April 2024. Ms. Liu had obtained the legal advice
referred to in Rule 3.09D on 15 April 2024 before her appointment
and had confirmed he understood her obligations as a Director.

Mr. Zhang Yao was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 9 September 2024. Mr.
Zhang had obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D on 3
September 2024 and had confirmed he understood his obligations as
a Director.

In compliance with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
appointed four INEDS, representing more than one-third of the Board
and at least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.
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Relationship amongst Directors

Save for Mr. Li Jiahao is the brother of Mr. Li Jiali, a former executive
Director (resigned on 29 October 2024), none of the Board members
has any relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships) between each other.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a
sustainable and balanced development of the Company and also to
enhance the quality of performance of the Company.

Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy. The Board reviews the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy on an
annual basis.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the
nomination of directors (as applicable), board diversity has to be
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry and regional experience
and length of services.
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The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Directors have a balanced mix of experiences, including business
and operation management, accounting and taxation, corporate
governance, regulatory advisory, business model and strategy
development and logistics operations. The education background of
the Directors ranges from business administration and accountancy
to law and fine chemical engineering, from education institutions
in Hong Kong, the PRC and United Kingdom. The Group has also
taken, and will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity
at all levels of the Company, including but not limited to the Board
and senior management levels. To implement gender diversity
at the Board level, the Group has appointed one female Director
during the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group will adopt
various measures to identify suitable candidates, such as utilising
the business networks of the Directors and senior management and,
if considered necessary, engaging the services of executive search
agents. It will continue to apply the principle of appointments based
on merits with reference to the Board Diversity Policy as a whole.

The gender ratio in the Board as at the date of this annual report
was 8:1 (Male: Female), while the gender ratio in the workforce of
the Group as at 31 December 2024 was approximately 457:91 (Male:
Female). As at this moment, the Company aims to achieve a Board
and a workforce (including senior management) without single
gender, but recognises that the gender diversity at the Board level
can be improved given that the majority composition is male. The
Company will ensure there is a gender diversity when identifying
director candidate and recruiting employees so that there is a
pipeline of female employees, management and Directors in near
future.
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Measurable Objectives

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board that are relevant to the Company’s
business growth.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and where necessary, agree
on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board
and make recommendation to the Board.

The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as applicable)
such diversity perspectives and/or measurable objectives that
are appropriate to the Company’s business and board succession
planning, as applicable.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure
that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and business and is fully aware of the director’s responsibilities
under the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and
the Company’s business and governance policies. The Company will
from time to time provide briefings to all Directors to develop and
refresh their duties and responsibilities.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code
provision C.1.4 of the CG Code on Directors’ training. According
to the records maintained by the Company, all the Directors have
participated in continuous professional development on corporate
governance, updates on laws, rules and regulations and accounting/
financial/management or other professional skills to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles, functions and duties
of a listed company director during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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Attending training seminars/
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Reading materials
LRI g
AR FWEE
Executive directors BiTEE
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Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term under their service
contracts and every Director is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years in accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

Under the articles of association of the Company, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of three (3) years subject to
termination as provided therein. Each of the INEDs has respectively
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
term of three (3) years unless terminated by either party by giving at
least one month” written notice to the other.

Meetings and Attendance

The Board is scheduled to meet four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14
days in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice is given in a
reasonable time in advance.

All Directors are provided with adequate information before the
meetings. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on issues
arising at the Board meetings and to make informed decisions,
an agenda and the accompanying Board papers together with all
appropriate and relevant information in relation to the matters of
the meetings are sent to all Directors at least three days before the
intended date of each regular Board meeting. The Directors are
allowed to include any other matters in the agenda that is required
for discussion and resolution at the meeting.

The Directors may participate the meetings either in person or
through electronic means of communications. The Directors have
separate and independent access to the company secretary and
senior management from time to time.
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Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings, the general
meeting and the Board committees’ (the “Board Committees
including, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee) meetings during the year ended 31

December 2024 is set out in the table below:
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Meetings Attended and Eligible to Attend

BHERAERERZ S
Annual Extraordinary
General General
Meeting Meeting
held on held on
Audit Remuneration Nomination 16 June 6 November
Board Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee 2024 2024
120245 #2024
6A16A 11PA6H
BITRRR BTHRE
3] FUZAE FMZRE ReZRE BEXE cElvS |
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Le Kang b Pt 12112 N/ATEH 2/2 212 A Al
Mr. Li Zhigang FERARE 12112 N/ATER N/ATER NATER Al Al
Mr. Li Jiahao REERE 112 N/ATER 172 N/ATER A Al
Mr. Li Jiali BENTE
(resigned on 29 October 2024) (R2024%510E 298
BHE) 10/11 NATER N/ATER 22 A N/ATER
Mr. Du Yingyou HEREE
(resigned on 17 March 2025) (R2025F3F178
BHE) 12112 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER A 17
Ms. Liu Ping (appointed on s+
15 April 2024) (R2024F4 F15R
BZf) 10710 NATER N/ATER N/ATER Al 01
Independent non-executive Directors BV 5172 E
Mr. Yu Chun Man REXEE
(resigned on 30 August 2024) (R2024%8F 308
BHE) 8/9 212 2/2 212 A N/ATER
Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick AEMiE 1212 22 N/ATEF 212 ”n 7
Dr. Wang Yi T#ET 12/12 N/ATER 172 NATER A Al
Mr. Chan Koon Yung RoETE 1212 212 212 212 " 1n
Mr. Zhang Yao RIBSLAE
(appointed on 9 September 2024) (R2024F9F9R
BZf) 3/3 NATER N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER 11
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Apart from the said meetings, matters requiring Board approval were
arranged by means of circulation of written resolutions of all Board
members.

In addition to regular Board meetings, under code provision C.2.7
of the CG, the chairman should at least annually hold meetings with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence
of other Directors (the “Chairman and Independent non-
executive Directors Meeting"). During the year, one Chairman
and Independent non-executive Directors Meeting was held.

All business transacted at the Board meetings and by written
resolutions were well documented. Draft minutes are circulated
to the Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.
Minutes of the Board meetings and written resolutions are kept by
the Company and are available to all Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

According to the Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (the "CEQ") should be
separate and performed by different individuals to ensure a balance
of power and authority so that power is not concentrated in any one
individual. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the roles of the
Group’s Chairman and CEO were held separately. Mr. Le Kang is the
Chairman and Mr. Li Jiahao was the CEO up to 9 September 2024,
and Mr. Li Zhigang is the CEO since then. The Chairman is responsible
for the leadership of the Board, managing the overall operation and
developing the overall strategic planning and business management
of the Group while the CEQ is responsible for monitoring the business
operation and formulating sales strategies of the Group.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Independent Non-executive Directors support the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board, and to bring
independent views and input to the Board.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and Rule
3.10A of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation of his/
her independence, and the Company has assessed and considered
such Directors to be independent in accordance with each and the
various guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024
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No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements
will be granted to Independent Non-executive Directors to avoid
bias in their decision-making and compromise their objective and
independence.

INDEPENDENCE MECHANISM

The Board has adopted the mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board will review the
implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms on an annual
basis.

During the year, the Board reviewed the above mechanisms and
considered that the above mechanisms are effective in ensuring that
independent views and input are provided to the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The three Board Committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, were
established by the Board with defined terms of reference explaining
their respective roles and the authority delegated by the Board.
These defined terms of reference are available on the respective
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 26 September
2017 with written terms of reference (as amended from time to
time).

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal
of external auditors; review the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting; and oversee internal control
and risk management procedures of the Group.
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The Audit Committee comprises the three INEDS, namely, Mr. Lau
Wai Piu Patrick, Mr. Chan Koon Yung and Dr. Wang Yi. Mr. Lau
Wai Piu Patrick is the chairman of the Audit Committee, who has
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in accounting
matters. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the existing external auditors of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 2 meetings of the
Audit Committee were held for, inter alia, reviewing the Group's
interim and annual results, the Group's financial reporting and
compliance under the CG Code, the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems, and considering the re-
election and the change of auditor of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 26
September 2017 with written terms of reference (as amended from
time to time). Pursuant to the extension of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules which will come into effect on 1 January 2024, the terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were amended and
approved by the Board on 30 December 2022.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the
Group; review performance-based remuneration; and ensure none
of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of four members:
two executive Directors, being Mr. Le Kang and Mr. Li Jiahao, and
two INEDs, being Dr. Wang Yi and Mr. Chan Koon Yung. Dr. Wang Yi
is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 2 meetings of the
Remuneration Committee was held for, inter alia, reviewing the
remuneration packages for the Directors and senior management
and making recommendations to the Board. No Director was
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024
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Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the members of the Board and the senior management by band
for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HKS)
FrEf#R B (B T)
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Number of Individuals
AB

0-1,000,000

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 26
September 2017 with written terms of reference (as amended from
time to time).

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee currently consists of three members:
one executive Director, being Mr. Le Kang, and two INEDS, being
Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick and Mr. Chan Koon Yung. Mr. Le Kang is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Group adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
on 30 January 2019. A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.
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Selection Criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

character and integrity

qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy

any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board

requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules

any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity

willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of
the Company

such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company's
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024
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Nomination Process
(@  Appointment of New Director

()  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels,
including but not limited to internal promotion,
re- designation, referral by other member of the
management and external recruitment agents.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

(i) If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

(iv)  The Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

(v)  For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to Shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.
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(b)  Re-election of Director at General Meeting

()  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

(i)~ The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
also review and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

(i)~ The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.

Review of the Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the Nomination
Policy and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
business needs.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 2 meetings of the
Nomination Committee were held, inter alia, including (i) reviewed
the structure, size and composition as well as the diversity of
the Board; (ii) assessed the independence of the INEDs; (iii)
recommended to the Board for consideration the re-appointment
of all the retiring Directors at the Annual General Meeting; and (iv)
recommend to the Board for the consideration the appointment
of Directors during the year. The Nomination Committee has also
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered that the Group has achieved the objectives of the Board
Diversity Policy.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions, which includes developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management,
the Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements etc. During the year, the Board has reviewed
the Company'’s policies and practices on corporate governance.
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The Board is also responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board also establishes the Company’s purpose, values and
strategy, and satisfy itself that these and the Group'’s culture are
aligned. Such culture should instil and continually reinforce across
the organisation values of acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration paid
or payable to the auditor of the Company (including their affiliated
firms) for their services rendered is summarised as below:

EXeNBABRTEEEARTIEA2UGHAE
OB BE

EESNHEARRMNBAN - EEERE  WHE
REREEXE—H - BEXCEAEE L TR
W WAAEMNES AR BREAEEER -

B2

RBZ 202012 A31 BILERR - ARF (B
SRR 2 7)) B2 AT B L 3R 0 FR A 3 9 S BB
K FRIEEMEIT -

RMB’000

AR®TT

Audit services EAZIRTE 968
Non-audit services JEEZ IR 92
Total Est 1,060

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of financial statements for the relevant accounting periods which
give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position, results
of operations and cash flows. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors have applied
applicable accounting policies, adopted appropriate accounting
standards and prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the Group’s external auditors, Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited, on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 118 to
126 of this annual report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Tsang Mo (“Mr. Chan") is the Company Secretary of the
Company. The primary contact person at the Company during the
year with Mr. Chan was Mr. Le Kang, the Chairman of the Board.

During the year, Mr. Chan were responsible for providing advice
to the Board on corporate governance matters. Mr. Chan had
confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM")

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, an EGM
shall be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an
EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of
such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to send enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may raise questions, request for publicly available
information and provide comments and suggestions to the Directors
and management of the Company. Such guestions, requests,
comments and suggestions can be addressed to the Company by
post to Room 3, 5/F, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong
Kong.

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands (the
“Companies Law"). However, pursuant to the articles of association,
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by means of
requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set out above.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the constitutional document during the
year ended 31 December 2024. A latest version of the Company’s
constitutional documents are also available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange's website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to ensure timely, transparent and accurate communications
between the Shareholders and the Company, in general, information
is communicated to the Shareholders mainly through the Company'’s
interim reports, annual reports and quarterly reports (if any), general
meetings, as well as the corporate communications and publications
published on the website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and on the Company’s website (www.goalrise-china.com).

The annual general meetings and other general meetings of the
Company are the primary communication forum between the Company
and the Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to participate in
general meetings physically or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at
such meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend.

Board members, in particular, the chairman of the Board Committees
or their delegates, appropriate senior executives and external
auditor will attend the general meetings to answer the Shareholders’
questions.

The chairman of the general meetings will propose to vote the
resolutions (except resolutions which relate purely to procedural
or administrative matters) by poll in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. Scrutineer will be appointed for the
vote-taking at the general meetings and the voting results will be
published on the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the Company’s website (www.goalrise-china.com) subsequent to the
close of the general meetings.

The Company has established a shareholders’ communications
policy to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are
appropriately addressed. The shareholders’ communication
policy is reviewed by the Board on a regular basis. By reviewing
the views of shareholders that have been received as well as
assessing how the opinions of shareholders have been considered
in reaching important strategic decisions during the year ended 31
December 2024, the Board is satisfied that the current shareholders’
communication policy is adequate and effective.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board recognizes its responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group's strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group establishes
and maintains appropriate review on the overall adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems, which cover financial, operational and compliance controls
and ESG risks, to safeguard Shareholders’ investment and the Group’s
assets. The Board oversees the overall risk management of the Group
and endeavours to identify, control impact of the identified risks and
facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
principal risks and the relevant measures have been disclosed in the
section headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in the Report of the
Directors contained in this annual report. The Group’s systems of risk
management and internal controls are designed to manage, but not
eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can
only provide reasonable but not absolute, assurance against the risk
of material misstatement, fraud or 10ss.

The main features of the Group risk management and internal
control structure are as follows:

— Well-defined organisational structure with appropriate
segregation of duties, limit of authority, reporting lines and
responsibilities to minimize risk of errors and abuse;

— Clear and written policies and procedures have been
established and regularly reviewed for major functions and
operations;

— Important business function or activities are managed by
experienced, qualified and suitably trained staff;

— Continuous monitoring of the key operating data and
performance indicators, timely and up-to-date business and
financial reporting, immediate corrective actions are taken
where necessary; and

— Internal audit functions to perform independent appraisal of
major operations on an ongoing basis.

A risk-based approach is adopted to ensure that a methodical
coverage of the Group’s operations and resources are focused on
high-risk areas. The internal audit function takes the lead to evaluate
the internal control systems of the Group by reviewing the major
operations of the Group on a rotational basis every year with review
period covering the full financial year. The review covers all material
controls including financial, operational, compliance controls. Review
results and recommendations in the form of written reports and
submitted to the Audit Committee for discussion and review.
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The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. It was decided that the
Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the Group.
Procedures have been designed for safeguarding assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensuring the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information
for internal use or for publication, and ensuring compliance with
applicable laws, rules and regulations. The situation will be reviewed
from time to time. The Company also appointed an independent
internal control consulting firm to independently perform internal
control review and assess effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control system.

The Board reviews the risk management and internal controls
annually. The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well
as the management, independent internal control consulting firm
and external auditors, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2024 as well as the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company'’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and considered that such systems are effective
and adequate with sufficient resources and appropriate staff being
deployed to implement the same, and no significant control failings
or weakness are identified.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established and maintained procedures
and internal controls for the handling and dissemination inside
information. The Company has adopted a code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance
with the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.
Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession
of inside information of the Company are also subject to dealing
restrictions. Any inside information and any information which
may potentially constitute inside information is promptly identified,
assessed and escalated to the Board and for the Board to decide
on the need for disclosure. Inside information and other information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company in due course.

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy that, in recommending
or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate
cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements, future
business growth and its shareholding value.

There is no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividend.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements for the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

TRANSFER OF LISTING

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange on 18 October 2017 (the “Listing”) and have
been transferred from GEM to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
with effect from 19 December 2019 (the “Transfer of Listing").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated on 22 November 2016 in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set forth in Note
32 to the consolidated financial statements. The Group is principally
engaged in the provision of transportation, warehousing, in-plant
logistics and customisation services.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

A review of the financial performance and business of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and a discussion on the
Group’s future business development are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report. These discussions form part of this
Report of the Directors.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with
its employees, providing quality services to its customers and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

The Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity
to our staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and
career development opportunities based on their merits and
performance. The Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide
adequate trainings and development resources to the employees so
that they can keep abreast of the latest development of the market
and the industry and, at the same time, improve their performance
and self-fulfillment in their positions.

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with customers and provide the services in a way
that satisfy needs and requirements of the customers. The Group
enhances the relationship by continuous interaction with customers
to gain insight on the changing market demand for the services
so that the Group can respond proactively. The Group has also
established procedures in place for handling customers’ complaints
to ensure customers’ complaints are dealt with in a prompt and
timely manner.

The Group maintains close liaison with its subcontractors to monitor
their performance to ensure they meet the Group's standards at all
times.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the
Stock Exchange. The establishment and operations accordingly shall
comply with relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong
Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date
of this report, the Group has complied in material aspects with all the
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group understands the importance of environmental
sustainability and protection and has adopted policies on pollution
prevention, preservation of natural resources and adherence
to environmental laws and regulations. Details are disclosed in
the "Environmental, Social and Governance Report” prepared in
accordance with Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules, which set out on
pages 63 to 117 of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance through its continuous effort in improving the
business practices. Details about the principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
the financial position of the Company and of the Group at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 127 to
134 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in Note 31(b) to the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 131 of this annual report, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution comprising share premium and accumulated losses,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Law, amounted to approximately RMB54.0 million (2023: RMB43.2
million), of which nil dividend was proposed for the year. Under
the Companies Law, the share premium account of the Company
of approximately RMB108.0 million as at 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB93.3 million) is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company subject to the provisions of its memorandum and articles
of association and provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend, if any, is proposed to be paid, the Company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The Company'’s share premium account may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, is set out on pages 275 to 276
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company'’s share capital during the
year are set out in Note 24(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Prior to the listing of the shares on GEM of the Stock Exchange (which
subsequently transferred to the main board of the Stock Exchange),
the Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Previous Share Option Scheme”) on 26 September 2017 which
became effective and unconditional upon the listing. The Company
has terminated the Previous Share Option Scheme and has adopted
a new share option scheme (the "New Share Option Scheme”)
under the Shareholders’ approval by way of poll at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 23 November 2023. The New Share Option
Scheme is effective upon obtaining the listing approval from the
Stock Exchange on 29 November 2023.
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For the Previous Share Option Scheme, as at 1 January 2024,
69,000,000 share options were outstanding under the Previous Share
Option Scheme. For the year ended 31 December 2024, 69,000,000
share options with the exercise price of HK$0.188 were cancelled,
thus as at 31 December 2024, no share option was outstanding
under the Previous Share Option Scheme.

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available and high calibre personnel of the Group, to provide
additional incentives to the Eligible Participants and to promote the
overall success of the business of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no share options were
granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the New Share Option
Scheme. As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, no share
options were outstanding under the New Share Option Scheme.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer an option to the
Eligible Participants to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an
exercise price and subject to the other terms of the New Share Option
Scheme. Upon acceptance of the share option within a period of 21
days inclusive of, and from the date of grant, the Eligible Participants
shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the
grant. The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares as at the date of
approval of the New Share Option Scheme, unless with prior approval
from the Company's Shareholders.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme
together with all options and awards which may be granted under
any other share schemes for the time being of the Company would
be 11,412,800 Shares.
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Save for the circumstances prescribed below, an option must
be held by the grantee for at least twelve (12) months before the
option can be exercised. The Board may at its discretion grant a
shorter vesting period to an Employee Participant in the following
circumstances: (a) grants of “make-whole” option(s) to new joiners
to replace the share options they forfeited when leaving the previous
employers; (b) grants to an Employee Participant whose employment
is terminated due to death or occurrence of any out-of-control event;
(c) grants that are made in batches during a year for administrative
and compliance reasons, which include options that should have
been granted earlier if not for such administrative or compliance
reasons had to wait for the subsequent batch. In such case, the
vesting period may be shorter to reflect the time from which the
option would have been granted; (d) grants of options with a mixed
or accelerated vesting schedule such as where the options may
vest evenly over a period of twelve (12) month; or (e) grants with
performance-based vesting conditions in lieu of time-based vesting
criteria as determined in the conditions of grant.

Subject to the terms of the New Share Option Scheme, an option
may be exercised in whole or in part at any time during the period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to the grantee thereof
at the time of making an offer provided that such period shall not
exceed the period of 10 years from the date of the grant of the
particular option but subject to the provisions for early termination of
the New Share Option Scheme.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to or to be granted
to each Eligible Participant under the New Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. The New
Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years
from the date on which the New Share Option Scheme becomes
unconditional. Under the New Share Option Scheme, each option
has a 10-year exercise period unless otherwise determined by the
Board.

The exercise price for shares to be subscribed under the New Share
Option Scheme may be determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion, provided that it shall not be less than the highest of: (a)
the closing price of the Shares as shown in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a
business day; (b) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as
shown in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the
five (5) consecutive business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (c) the nominal value of the Share on the date of grant.
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No share option was granted since the adoption of the New Share
Option Scheme. The number of Share Options available for grant
under the scheme mandate at the beginning and the end of the
year ended 31 December 2024 is 11,412,800 and 11,412,800 (after
reflecting the effect of share consolidation) respectively. The total
number of share available for grant under the service provider
submit is 3,423,840 as at 31 December 2024. The total number of
Shares available for issue under the New Share Option Scheme as
at the date of this report is 11,412,800 Shares, representing 8.6% of
the issued shares of the Company as at the date of this report and
approximately 9.0% of the weighted average number of shares for
the year ended 31 December 2024. The number of shares that may
be issued in respect of options granted under all schemes of the
Company is 0.

The remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme is 8 years 8
months.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

On 31 July 2023 and 22 December 2023, Purchaser |, the Vendor
and the Target Company (as defined below) entered into a sale and
purchase agreement and an amendment agreement (collectively,
“the 2023 Agreements”) pursuant to which the Purchase | sold
60% equity interests in the Target Company and granted a put option
(“Put Option”) to the Vendor which allows the Vendor to request
Purchaser | to repurchase the Sale Interest at nil consideration.

The management believes that terminating the 2023 Agreements
and exercising the Put Option will allow the Group to concentrate
on its core strategies, reduce market risks, and improve operational
efficiency. Given the competitive logistics market in China and limited
synergy with the Target Company, the disposal of Shareholders’
Loan (as defined below) will help mitigate financial loss and provide
immediate cash to support financial stability.
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As such, on 20 December 2024, Guangdong Yues International
Logistics Co., Ltd.* (ERZ BB YR AR A F) (the "Vendor”), Mr.
Wang Haixi (£ & &) (“Purchaser 1"), Ms. Guo Chonghui (5 & &)
(“Ms. Guo") and Zhongshan Haihui Technology Logistics (Group) Co.,
Ltd.* (P LB ERBYIR () BRAF]) (the “Target Company”)
entered into the sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA") pursuant
to which Purchaser | has conditionally agreed to purchase, and the
Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell, the Sale Interest, representing
60% equity interest in the Target Company, at a consideration of
RMB1. On the same date, the Vendor, Guangzhou Fengyou Packaging
Products Co., Ltd.* (EMZE 8K R B R A7) (‘Purchaser 11"
and the Target Company entered into a loan transfer agreement
(“Loan Transfer Agreement”) pursuant to which, Purchaser Il shall
acquire from the Vendor a shareholder’s loan owed by the Target
Company to the Vendor in the principal amount of RMB7,500,000 and
relevant interests (“Shareholders’ Loan") at a consideration of
RMB7,000,000. On 20 December 2024, the Vendor, Purchaser | and the
Target Company entered into a termination agreement (“Termination
Agreement”) pursuant to which all the parties to the Termination
Agreement have agreed to terminate the 2023 Agreements and the
Put Option at nil consideration.

The Target Company, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group,
is 30% owned by Ms. Guo and 10% by Purchaser I. Accordingly,
each of Ms. Guo and Purchaser | is a substantial shareholder of
the Target Company and a connected person of the Company at
the subsidiary level. As the transactions contemplated under the
SPA and the Termination Agreement are connected transactions
between the Group and a connected person at the subsidiary level
on normal commercial terms or better, it is exempt from the circular,
independent financial advice and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

The SPA, the Loan Transfer Agreement and the Termination
Agreement were approved by the Shareholders at an extraordinary
general meeting held on 27 January 2025.

Save as disclosed above, none of these related party transactions
constitutes connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction which is required to be disclosed under the Listing
Rules. The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules during the year under review.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP

Save as elsewhere disclosed in this annual report, during the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not make any significant
investments.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Le Kang (Chairman)
Mr. Li Zhigang (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 9 September 2024)
Mr. Li Jiahao
Mr. Li Jiali (resigned on 29 October 2024)
Mr. Du Yingyou (resigned on 17 March 2025)
Ms. Liu Ping (appointed on 15 April 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yu Chun Man (resigned on 30 August 2024)
Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick

Dr. Wang Yi

Mr. Chan Koon Yung

Mr. Zhang Yao (appointed on 9 September 2024)

In accordance with Articles 108(a) and 112 of the Company's Articles
of Association, Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick, Dr. Wang Yi, Mr. Chan Koon
Yung and Mr. Zhang Yao will retire by rotation and be eligible to offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence from the
Group, and as at the date of this report still considers them to be
independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company are set out on pages 22 to 26 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The executive Directors, namely Mr. Le Kang, Mr. Li Jiahao and Mr. Li
Zhigang, have entered into a service agreement with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from the date.

The independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Wai Piu
Patrick, Dr. Wang Yi, Mr. Chan Koon Yung and Mr. Zhang Yao, have
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a fixed
term of three years.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The Board has the general power of determining the Directors’
remuneration, subject to authorisation of the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting each year. The remuneration
of the executive Directors is subject to review by the Remuneration
Committee, and their remuneration is determined with reference to
the Directors’ qualifications, experience, duties, responsibilities and
performance and results of the Group. As for the independent non-
executive Directors, their remuneration is determined by the Board
upon recommendation from the Remuneration Committee. Details
of the emoluments of the Directors, senior management and the five
highest paid individuals for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no Director had
a material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party subsisted at 31 December 2024 or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2024 had the Company or any of
its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance with the
controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, nor had any
contract of significance been entered into for the services provided
by the controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the
execution of their duties in their offices. The Company has arranged
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Group, in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company or their associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) had any interests and short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which each
of them has taken or deemed to have taken under the provision of
the SFO); or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered into the register referred to therein; or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Except for share option scheme, during the year ended 31 December
2024, the Company or any of its subsidiaries was not a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked
agreement that (i) will or may result in the Company issuing shares
or (i) requires the Company enter into any agreement that will or
may result in the Company issuing shares, was entered into by the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 or subsisted at
the end of the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, no
persons, not being Directors or chief executive of the Company
had, or were deemed to have, interests or short position in the
shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO; or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or
indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of the Company.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors
are not aware of any other person, other than Directors and the
chief executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, to
be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of the Company or options in respect of such share capital.

COMPETING INTERESTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors are not
aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates
that competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of interests
which any such person has or may have with the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities (including the
sale of treasury shares) during the year ended 31 December 2024.
As at December 31, 2024, the Company did not hold any treasury
shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There were no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being
the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to its existing shareholders unless otherwise required by the Stock
Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
annual report.
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DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no charitable donations
was made by the Group (2023: nil).

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the year under review, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 21.5% (2023: 34.7%) of the Group's total direct costs.
The Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 60.1%
(2023: 65.5%) of the Group's total direct costs.

In the year under review, the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 54.8% (2023: 65.7%) of the Group's total
revenue. The Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately
22.4% (2023: 38.7%) of the Group's total revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined under
the Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital (excluding treasury shares)) had any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers or five largest suppliers during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee was established on 26 September 2017
with written terms of reference (as amended from time to time)
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee is
responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditors,
and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the external auditors, and any questions regarding resignation
or dismissal of that auditor; monitoring integrity of the financial
statements, the annual reports and accounts, half-year reports and
quarterly reports (if any), and reviewing significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them; and reviewing the financial controls,
internal control and risk management systems.
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The annual results of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024 have been audited. The Audit Committee has reviewed with
the management of the Company the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed the auditing, internal
controls and financial reporting matters, including review of the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
shares of the Company.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the shares of the Company, they
are advised to consult an expert.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM") of the Company
will be held on Wednesday, 18 June 2025. A notice convening the
AGM, together with a circular therefor, will be dispatched to the
shareholders of the Company, and will be available on websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company in the manner as required by
the Listing Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
13 June 2025 to Wednesday, 18 June 2025, both days inclusive during
which no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the forthcoming AGM or any adjournment
thereof, all transfers of shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the Company'’s
Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 12 June 2025.
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UPDATE ON DIRECTORS' INFORMATION
UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this report, during the reporting period, there is
no information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this report, the Board are not aware of any
significant event which had material effect on the Group subseqguent
to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report.

CHANGE OF AUDITOR IN THE PRECEDING 3
YEARS

Linksfield CPA Limited has resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 29 November 2022. The Board has resolved to
appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly”) as the new
auditor of the Company with effect from 29 November 2022 to
fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of Linksfield CPA
Limited. Baker Tilly shall hold office until the conclusion of the next
annual general meeting pursuant to the articles of association of the
Company. A resolution to re-appoint Baker Tilly as the auditor of the
Company for approval by the Shareholders has been proposed and
passed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 16
June 2024.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 has been audited by Baker Tilly the independent
auditor, who shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution to re-appoint
Baker Tilly as the auditor of the Company will be proposed for
approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Le Kang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

This is the Environmental, Social, and Governance (“ESG”) report
prepared by Yues International Holdings Group Limited (the “Group”
or “we”, or "us") highlighting its ESG performance, with disclosure
reference made to the ESG Reporting Guide (the "Guide”) as
described in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the "HKEX").

We regard this report as a communication channel with our
stakeholders and believe that we should disclose ESG information
that is meaningful and important to their decision-making. To serve
this purpose, this report is prepared with reference to the reporting
principles set out in the Guide. This ESG report covers the Group’s
overall performance in two subject areas, namely, environmental
and social, of the following business operations from 1 January 2024
to 31 December 2024 (the "Reporting Period”), unless otherwise
stated, which is consistent with the coverage of the 2024 Annual
Report of the Group™:

() Guangzhou World-Link (China) Limited (Guangzhou Business
Headquarter)

(i) Guangzhou World-Link (China) Limited (Huangpu Distribution
Centre)

(i) Guangzhou World-Link (China) Limited (Tianjin branch)
(iv)  Guangzhou World-Link (China) Limited (Taicang branch)

(v)  Guangzhou World-Link (China) Limited (Shenzhen branch)

! During the Reporting Period, Zhongshan Haihui Technology Logistics (Group) Co.,
Ltd. was divested from the Group's portfolio and consequently excluded from
the ESG Reporting scope. Due to constraints in data collection and operational
considerations, ESG data for all acquired subsidiaries during the Reporting
Period have not been disclosed in this Report. The Group plans to address these
constraints and aims to disclose related information in the next reporting period.
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The principal activities of the above-mentioned operations are
providing logistic services to the Group’s customers’ supply chains
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), which include (i)
transportation; (ii) warehousing; (iii) in-plant logistics; and (iv)
customisation services (which consist mainly of labelling services
and bundling services). The Group offers transportation services
to their customers, including delivering production materials,
components and finished goods to their downstream clients,
manufacturing plants and/or designated locations. The Group's in-
plant logistics services cover the management of the movement of
(i) production materials and components and work-in-progress to the
production lines within the customers’ manufacturing plants; and
(i) finished goods out to their factory gates. Apart from the logistic
service, the energy consumption of the staff in dormitories will also
be included in this Reporting Period as the Group is responsible for
affording dormitory rents for its staff.

Reporting Principles
The preparation of the ESG Report has applied the following
principles:

Materiality — materiality assessments have been carried out
to identify material ESG issues that have major impacts on the
Group's significant stakeholders, the procedures, and results of the
stakeholder engagement conducted of which are presented in the
section “Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality” in the Report.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024
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Quantitative — key performance indicators (“KPIS"”) have been
established and are measurable and applicable to make valid
comparisons under appropriate conditions; information on the
standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools
used, and sources of conversion factors used, have been disclosed
when applicable.

Balance — performance of the Group was presented in an impartial
manner, avoiding choices, omissions or presentation formats that
may unduly influence readers’ decisions or judgements.

consistency — consistent statistical methodologies and
presentation of KPIs have been used to allow meaningful
comparisons of related data over time.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY

The Group communicates with key stakeholders through daily
interaction to understand their concerns and expectations on ESG
issues. The Group engages stakeholders via various communication
channels such as regular meetings, performance appraisals, the
company’s website, e-mails and via phone calls. Through regular
engagement sessions, the Group obtains valuable feedback and
reviews areas of attention which will help the business to meet its
potential growth and be prepared for future ESG challenges.

Bt — BEVBREREST ((RBEKER) -

WA FErE REANEEE BRI TEL AL
8 BREMAEE . 5% BE&SHGGEIA
AR P A E Z AR E R ERNER B T #

B -

Ffi — RAEM2IAEENRER - BRATEEE
REMFEFBERRAHENEE  BRXZE

A
WK o

—H — KA -BORETE R ERERUER
W25 - EHEBEIE R AIER SRR

KO E2HRRERN

AEEFEBAREHETIBHNHELETER A
BRRHENRE HENEARFEEIHIRAE -
AEBEERBZRBMRBEFNERE A0
EHMEE  RRFME  ARSY - EFHHRE
Ao BBEMER AEEESEEENREN

B EIEE  BYREBERBCERLAE

KRR i@ REATT EABUEREM o

\E

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH

65



Environmental, Social and Governance Report conineq
RIE g ke amEae

The major ESG concerns of its stakeholders and the means through  EEFMNENTEIRE  H e REABTUARARNE
which the Group engages with such stakeholders are detailed below: BB Z )& BBOH MW T ¢

Stakeholders Areas of ESG Concern Means of Engagement

HinE BE  HERELRIHE wEHN

Stock Exchange o Compliance with the Guide; and o Meetings;

. Timely and accurate announcement. e Training and seminars; and

Company’s website and
announcements.

HE 22X P HETiESl & B

REFERH NS - ER RS

UNGIF PR YN

Government and regulatory
authorities

B REE#E

Operational compliance;

Tax payment as legally required,;

and

Disclosure of information and
submission of materials.
BEBAR

BOEBABR &

= EREE RIRRIMHL o

Annual reviewal process; and
Company’s website and
announcements.

Investors

REE

Business strategies and
performances;

Effective corporate governance;
Sustainable profitability; and
Investment returns.
EBRMERRE
BRHMBEER
TFF%“EEJ%\J e K
BB -

General meetings;
Financial reports and
announcements; and
Company's website.

RS
BHRERDE R
NI

Media and Public

Corporate governance;
Environmental protection; and
Uphold human rights standards.
TEER:

RGRE &

EXSF AREIRAE o

Announcements;
Company's website; and
Press conference.

NE

NEAE &
EEmhE o
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Stakeholders Areas of ESG Concern Means of Engagement
BinE BE  HERELRTHE HEAR
Suppliers ° Payment schedule; Site visits;

. Demand stability,

. Operational compliance; and

° Quality services and products.
fEn J E SR

o EREEMN

° eiBa ;(/q. &

° BERBENMESR °

Meetings; and
E-mails and phone calls.

EER
g

BT RER-

Customers ° Quality services and products,
. Employee safety;
o Commercial credibility;
° Intellectual property rights and
protection; and
o Operational compliance.

BF . EERERES:
. [gE%2
. HEEE

. AHMERRRE
. mEam-

Visits;

Meetings;

E-mails and phone calls; and
Customers’ enquiries handling
mechanism.

E|J\;

\H
ol

Ly .
S

EFHHELERE &
BEFEAERIEHS)

Employees ° Rights and benefits of employees;

. Training and development;

° Working environment and
occupational safety; and

° Equal opportunities.

1B BN KAz A

o Bl RER

J THERERBERZS K

J TEHE -

7l
]
[ ]

Regular meetings,

Employee training;

Annual performance appraisal; and
WhatsApp and WeChat groups.

ERREE
EERIREFI
FEZ &
WhatsApp & {E &#4H °

Community ° Community development;
° Employment opportunities;
° Environmental protection; and
° Social welfare.
Pty J HEER
J MEME
. RIFRE &

. HEAN-

Community service activities;
Media enquiry; and
Press releases and announcements.

HERIES
iy E R
BB R AL -
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Materiality Assessment

To identify material ESG issues, the Group has specifically engaged
a wide range of stakeholders, including the board of directors (the
"Board"”), shareholders, senior management, frontline workers,
partners, clients and suppliers, to gain insights into ESG material
topics. The Group has identified ESG issues that may have potential
impacts on its sustainable development from various sources,
including issues identified and included in the Group's previous ESG
report and internal policies, and some reflected by industry trends,
the areas of ESG concerns raised by the Group'’s stakeholders as
set out above, and the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board's
Materiality Map?. Such ESG issues have been analysed with reference
to an array of factors, including the Group’s overall strategy,
development, and goals and targets.

During the Reporting Period, there were no significant changes
in the Group's shareholder composition or operational status. As
such, the Group confirms that the materiality matrix showed in 2023
remains applicable for 2024 and continues to align with stakeholder
expectations. The material aspects with respective management are
presented in the following matrix.

2 Sustainability Accounting Standards Board’'s Materiality Map,
https://materiality.sasb.org/
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Materiality Matrix E 2 {4+ 5 [

&
High Environmentand | _ Protection of
Natural Resources —  Customer Privacy
REEEAER REZFRTL
Products and
Water Usage SeMrwces Quality |-+ Prevention of Child
oy = anagement
KEIBEFR 2 O EREE S ~and Forced Labour
e B ET R%imLE
< Green Procurement -
7] - - Staff Training and .
= MR BRI Career Development == Occupational
et - Health and Safety
Qi BTIEIREEER R 2
ovm Innovative Products Quality Monitoring -
I g 0 and Services - and Assessment Protection of
Yo BT ER LR R BT R nteleciyal Property | Supply Chain
E o ('IP") Rights — Manag\eprEent
il Customer Satisfaction |~ SBEE( [IP) 1R LA
S EEWEE ,
w o Ant-corruption | __ | | a%‘?f&é‘;‘gp}%gtn
‘2’ Sl Energy Usage C— RES P
i W B BEIRGEF SN
228
SQim Community O] ®
=R Investment
3 2 e HEIRE
g W W
> aste ®
W FEEY)
Usage of Climate Change Diversity and
Packaging Materials FEEL Equal Opportunities
BEMEEER SRMEATEHE
| ]
Air Pollutants Greenhouse Gas Employee Wellbeing
EEE LY Emissions B EEF
BEREEHEN
&
Low
Lﬁ LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE OF ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS H_i'%;h
ow Bl RERUEVENEERE

Through the materiality matrix, the Group has identified 9 material FBEE B - REBESHPIOBEHZMNER
issues that were deemed as the most important by the stakeholders: ASEZERERHE ¢

. Products and Services Quality Management . EmiREE 2T
. Protection of Customer Privacy . REFPEL

° Anti-corruption . k&S

. Prevention of Child and Forced Labour . PrlbE T RogiE 4

e Occupational Health and Safety . BEREREZSE

. Staff Training and Career Development . BITHIIRBFEEE
. Protection of Intellectual Property (“IP”) Rights . HMBERE ([P RE
e Supply Chain Management . HpEEE R

. Recruitment and Retention . REE & B

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T —PUFFH
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The Group actively maintains communication with different
stakeholders through different channels on identifying material ESG
issues, such as energy saving, reduce resources consumption and
cost reduction. The Group will continue to manage these critical
issues by establishing more policies and guidelines to further
enhance the Group’s ESG performance.

SOURCE OF DATA AND RELIABILITY
STATEMENT

The information disclosed in the Report is retrieved from the
Group's internal documents, statistical reports and relevant public
information. The Group confirms that the Report does not contain
any false information, misleading statement or material omission,
and is responsible for the authenticity, accuracy and completeness
of the contents.

CONFIRMATION AND APPROVAL

This ESG Report was reviewed and approved by the Board on 28
March 2025 upon confirmation by the management of the Company.
The electronic version of this ESG Report is available on the website
of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

STAKEHOLDERS' FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its ESG approach
and performance. Suggestions and views can be sent by post: Office
C, 23rd Floor, Centre Mark II, 305-313 Queen'’s Road Central, Hong
Kong or email: admin@goalrise-china.com
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THE GROUP'’S SUSTAINABILITY MISSION AND
VISION

The Group believes that environmental protection and sustainability
development is a big social trend. The Group strives to pursue a
sustainable business model which can integrate ESG concepts into
the risk management system and implement measures to balance
the Group's business development with regard to protecting the
environment.

THE GROUP'’S SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

The Board holds the overall responsibility for overseeing the general
direction for the Group's ESG strategies, ensuring the effectiveness
in the control of its risks and internal control mechanisms, sets up
and evaluates ESG-related goals and targets and communicates with
stakeholders and participates in formulating relevant policies.

The Group has established an ESG Taskforce (the “Taskforce”),
which comprises core members from different departments and
is responsible for collecting relevant information on the Group’s
ESG aspects. The Taskforce continuously monitors and evaluates
the Group’s ESG performance through regular meetings. The
Taskforce reports to the board of directors (the “Board”), and
assists in identifying and evaluating the Group’s ESG risks and the
effectiveness of the internal control mechanisms, examining and
evaluating the Group's performances in different ESG aspects such
as the environment, health and safety, labor standards and product
responsibilities.
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b ﬁ%AE E% ﬂ/j%ﬁ
BIR M o

ESG Taskforce
5 #H8Kk .

ERI{ENAE HEREAEE o

Functional

Department
B BERR P

The Group complies with the related laws and regulations stringently,
adhering to “The Energy Conservation Law of the PRC” (FF Z A R
B &5 49 88 )R J£), “The Comprehensive Work Plan for Energy
Conservation and Emission Reduction for the '14th Five-Year Plan’
Period” ([ + 0T | EFgE R BEAR S TEETEL) .

AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

The Group was a recognised member of the Guangzhou Logistics &
Supply Chain Association and the Guangzhou Association of Highway
Transportation Industry.

The Group strives to maintain the highest standards to provide
logistic services to meet the customer needs and enhance customer
satisfaction, and with its high credibility, high quality and reliable
logistic services, it was certified with the Quality Management
System 1SO 9001:2015.
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e The Board is responsible for the overall decision-making, oversees
the formulation, administration, and assessment of the ESG system.

EERE  HeRERRAMNGIE

e The Taskforce is responsible for assisting the Board in managing and
monitoring the ESG matters on a daily basis.

THRNMEBEBBESEE

ERERERATRE

e Functional department is responsible for the execution of imple-
mented measures to achieve the set strategies and targets.
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ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is highly conscious of balancing development and
environmental protection to maintain the sustainability of
society. The Group is committed to continuously improving
its environmental sustainability and ensuring environmental
consideration remains one of the top priorities through its
business operation.

The Group stringently complies with national and local laws and
regulations concerning environmental protection and pollution
control, including the “The Energy Conservation Law of the
PRC" (R #E A R TN &5 4988 R %), “The Comprehensive Work
Plan for Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction for the
"14th Five-Year Plan" Period” ([ 10 ] Eige R BE4R & TIERT
£1), the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC (FF % A R 2%
MEIRIFRE L), the Water Pollution Prevention and Control
Law of the PRC (/2 A R M BI/KT B A%), the Law of the
PRC on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution
(R 2E AR FEFE KRS R JAE), the Law of the PRC on
Prevention and Control of Pollution From Environmental Noise
(FPEE A REFIEIR ZI505787%), and the Law of the PRC on
the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Waste (P 2E A R HEFBIRIZ S 20787%).

Apart from complying with the national laws and regulations,
the Group has formulated internal environmental management
guidelines and implemented carbon reduction measures to
reduce energy and resource consumption such as electricity,
fuel and water in its business operation. Firstly, in terms of
reducing air and greenhouse gas emissions, noise pollution,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, the
Group has implemented some practices and measures in order
to minimise pollution derived from its daily business operation.
For instance, the Group recycled and reused packaging
materials as much as possible. Secondly, the Group used low
emission fuel, and a filter device on the tailpipe in order to
reduce automobile exhaust gas. Thirdly, to reduce vehicle dust
dispersion, the Group regularly sprinkles water on vehicles.
For the purpose of reducing vehicle noise, the Group added
a vibration damping plate with a sound-absorbing pad and
chosen tires with low tire noise.
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No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, and generation of hazardous and

&/_‘l:(zg

non-hazardous waste was identified during the Reporting

Period.

A1. Emissions
A1.1 Air Emissions
Operation Activities

BERR BEXREREAZRLE
éﬁﬁgﬁ#ﬁﬁl%&*ﬁi&fﬂiﬁﬁ%%Fiﬂﬂ
AEEBAEARTE ZHMERERNIE

Al. BERRYD
A1.1 ERIER

Given the nature of our business operations, a
considerable number of vehicles are utilised to
ensure the timely and reliable transportation of
goods. The consumption of diesel used by the
medium and heavy goods vehicles results in the
emission of air pollutants, and the emissions
generated from vehicles are a major source of
emission of the Group during the Reporting Period.

Exhaust gas emissions generated from business
operations of the Group mainly include nitrogen
oxides (“NOx"), sulphur oxides (“SOx") and
particulate matter (“PM"). The major source of
emission is exhaust gas generated from vehicles.

Details of exhaust gas generated by the Group are
as follows:

Source of Emission  HEiikiE

Year ended on 31 December 2024
BE2024F12A3MBLEE
NOx(kg) ~ SO«(kg)  PM(kg)
NO(&F) SO(ZF) PM(AR)

2Eny
ENEBHELNLE
ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%%%%&%T%%
EYiER - PRMNBREHN
FESOME R = RIS RPN -
HE@MELINERRASERE
IR E EHHUR ©

AEBXEBLEELENER
FTEBRAACY(NOL) -
AL M ([SOx]) K& 8+ ¥)
(TPM]) HXBRREREH
ELERER -

AEBELNERPANT

Year ended on 31 December 2023
HENBF12ANBLFE
NOx (kg) SO (kg) PM (kg)
NO(BF)  SO(AF)  PM(2F)

Vehicle Operation BfEE 4,224.72 3.62 323.50 3,600.10 3.82 279.96

Natural Gas® KRS N/ATER N/AFRER NAFER 021 0.00 NilZE

Total 5t 4,224.72 3.62 323.50 3,600.31 3.82 279.96
3 The Group is no longer use the natural gas. 3 AEEETBFERRAR -
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Compared to last year, the total emissions of Noy
and PM increased by 17% and 16%, respectively,
primarily due to the updated fuel consumption
ratio utilized to calculate the estimated distance
travelled by vehicles. Taking into consideration the
business expansion, the Group has set a target
to reduce 10% of air emissions intensity by 2032,
with 2022 as the base year. In terms of progress
towards achieving the target, the Group fully
committed to implementing significant measures
to effectively reduce its air emissions, aligning with
its established reduction targets. Measures are
taken by the Group to curb unnecessary emissions,
detailed steps taken are outlined in the subsections
headed “Measures to Mitigate Emissions”.

A1.2 GHG Emissions

During the reporting period, the Group's business
activities contributed to greenhouse gas ("GHG")
emission of 870.61 tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent ("tC0O,e"), (2023: 1,102.31 tCO,e), and
the overall intensity of the GHG emissions for
the Group was 6.40 tCO.e/RMB million revenue*
(2023: 8.23 tCO,e/RMB million revenue). The
Group achieved a notable reduction in total
GHG emissions, primarily driven by the strategic
restructuring, optimised electricity usage, and
enhanced digitalization initiatives across operations.
The Group has been on track with its set target
and will continue to work towards mitigating the
emissions. More details can be found in the section
headed “Measures to Mitigate Emissions”.

The total million revenue for the Group was approximately RMB136.04 million
(2023: RMB133.88 miillion).

4
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The GHG emissions reported include the following WMEMBEREBHEMEEAT

activities and scopes: TEE R

. Direct (scope 1) GHG emissions from the . BE(BE) REREH
consumption of diesel; AR B FER S0 ¢

o Indirect energy (scope 2) GHG emissions from . R (BE2)BEER
purchased electricity; and BRI EEEER S

54

o Other indirect (scope 3) GHG emissions from . HEabfEE (SHEI)RER
municipal freshwater processing, wastepaper BEHE Y 2R B T UK K
landfilling, and business air travel. FRIE - BEAHEREB

MZEZEIR o

Detailed breakdown of Greenhouse Gas Emissions AEBEREREHAAAA -
by the Group:
Percentage of
total GHG

emission in Percentage
Year ended Yearended ~ yearended  of variation
31December  31December 31December  (Increased/

Types of Emissions Unit 2024 Total 2023 Total 2024  (Decreased))
BE20ufE
12A31H
fld:3:3:9
#E2024F EEVIRES BERE
12A31R 12R318 Hiae SBHEM
HHnER Ef fld:3:3 1) \HFE S (BAL)  (8I/(®D))

Scope 1— Energy Direct Emissions
HE1— RREEEN
Combustion of fuels in stationary sources

BIERAH
o Natural gas® Tonnes COL N/A 282 NA
o AAF B_ElikEE AER TER
Combustion of fuels in mobile sources
BERmtEnE
o Diesel Tonnes COL 593.66 626.11 (5.18%)
T i B ixg &
Sub-total Tonnes COL 593.66 628.93 68.19% (5.61%)
bt LR
5 Emissions from combustion of fuels in stationary sources were calculated based ~ ° & B R MR RHIR 158 22 A B0 BE AR5 AR 8¢ 2006 4F IPCC B 50U
on 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Volume 2 EREFEREE2ERR)TUGTH -

Energy.
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Percentage of

total GHG

emission in Percentage
Year ended Yearended ~ yearended  of variation
31December  31December  31December  (Increased/

Types of Emissions Unit 2024 Total 2023 Total 2024  (Decreased))
#E204E
12B318
LLEER
#E20245 HEARE BERR
12A318 127318 3 -] ER
HanER B L E @ IFEE B (BAk)  (8I/(®))

scope 2 — Energy Indirect Emissions
#H2— EERERS

Purchased electricity Tonnes CO£ 255.68 460.84 (44.52%)
MEEEN B-E{ g e
Sub-total Tonnes COL 255.68 460.84 29.37% (44.52%)
N B-E{ g e

scope 3 — Other Indirect Emissions
#H3— AMERn

Paper waste disposed at landfills® Tonnes CO£ 4.21 821 (48.72%)
REEREE 2R B-E{ g e
Electricity used for freshwater processing  Tonnes CO£ 2.51 127 97.64%
BERAKAAEN B-E{ g e
Business Air Travel Tonnes CO£ 14.55 306 375.49%
BENEER B-E{ixge
Sub-total Tonnes CO£ 21.27 12.54 244% 69.62%
N B_EltikEE
Group Total Tonnes COe 870.61 1,102.31 100% (21.02%)
it W_flHER
Intensity Tonnes CO.e/ 6.40 823 (22.24%)
RMB million
revenue
BE W_fLHER/
BSEETARY
g

6 The calculation methodology for emissions of paper waste disposed at landfills in 6 REEREE Y BRAEMENTE T EG A2 &
accordance with Appendix 2: Reporting Guide on Environmental KPIs by HKEX BRPHTREARESUBIEHREIES] -
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A1.3 Hazardous Waste

All hazardous waste in the Group is managed in
accordance with the applicable national regulations
and international standards, including the Laws of
PRC on Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste (/% A R £ A BE 5
YIS RIRIERG JAA). The Group is committed to
minimizing hazardous waste which poses risks to
our health and the environment. It has implemented
procedures of handling hazardous waste. For
instance, waste batteries are collected in a special
waste battery recycling box and sent to the
qualified department for recycling. Also, the Group
strives to prevent oil and chemical substances from
polluting cultivated land, grassland, rivers, lakes
and seas. If the above situation occurs, the Group
will notify the head of Health, Safety, Security, and
Environmental Protection Department (“HSSE") for
disposal arrangement.

The Group's hazardous waste generation
decreased to 150.00 kg during the Reporting
Period (2023: 180.00 kg). The waste intensity was
down to 1.10 kg/RMB million revenue (2023: 1.34
kg/RMB million revenue), contributed by lower
vehicle maintenance requirements and the Group’s
revenue growth. Taking into consideration the
business expansion, the Group has set a target
to reduce 10% of hazardous waste generation
intensity by 2032, with 2022 as the base year. The
Group is committed to undertaking substantive
efforts to further reduce waste generation in
alignment with its reduction targets.
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A1.3 EEEEY

AEBERMAEEERRYIER
BRANBEZARRBEREES
2 BE(hEARKNEERE
BEMISRBIRPIAIE) - A%
BEONBER D AR IR
BERBRETREARNEEER
W BERAEERYEIERE
Frefltn BEELKREEE
RAMEES RN ZEA
BREFIETEY - REETT
oalNIway:Eilld=-tyi=pErS
Biib - B RR - AR E
Ao IR EER - AEE
RBAMEE 22 TR R
R ([HSSE]) B8 & & A DA% BF
HEITRRE -

RREBHN - AEEEENE
EREEYRE D ZE150.00A T -
(20234 : 180.00 A fT)  BEE
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Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

Types of Hazardous Waste Unit 2024 Total 2023 Total

#E2024%F HE2023F

12A 31H 12H31H

AFEEEMER Bfr IESFEREE#BRT IEEFELRET

Waste engine oil kg 150.00 180.00
EEE 8 NI

Total kg 150.00 180.00
#et of

Intensity Kg/RMB million revenue 1.10 1.34

BE oF /BEHET
ARBKE

A1.4 Non-hazardous Waste

Apart from the 876.20 kg (2023: 2,241.40 kg) of
office paper waste produced, the Group generated
a total of 7,800.00 kg (2023: 6,000.00 kg) of non-
office paper waste, and 2,000.00 kg (2023: 3,600.00
kg) of waste tires, the non-hazardous waste
intensity decreased 9.84% which was 78.48 kg/
RMB million revenue (2023: 88.45 kg/RMB million
revenue). Taking into consideration the business
expansion, the Group aims to establish a green and
electronic office to reduce paper consumption and
has set a target to reduce 10% of hazardous waste
generation intensity by 2032, with 2022 as the base
year. Details can be found in the section headed
“Wastes Reduction and Initiatives”. All the non-
office paper waste and waste tires were collected
by renewable resources companies for recycling.

Al4 BEREY

BREL 876202 T (20234 :
2,28140R T ) A EREHIN -
REBHELIERAEER
7,800.002 fT (20234F : 6,000.00
AT REEFE R 2,000.00A fT
(20234 : 3,600.002fT) » &
EEEVMEERD9.84% B
BEBETARBNZ78.482
fr(2023%F : BEETARE
7@ 88.45NfT) o BRI EBKE
% AEEMNEEREEY @
FEMEFLHRZELURD
HARSHFE - WE T 2032458
DI%EEBREMELEZED
B1iZ - DA20226F BAEMEF o 5F
B2 RERER] —& -
FTEERAEERREEZRR
MBEERA R ED -

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH
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Details of the emission data of the Group: NEEHEREIRRA
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Types of Non-hazardous Waste Unit 2024 Total 2023 Total
HE2024% EHZE2023F
12A 31H 12H31H
EEEEDER Bfr il 9: 3 4y IEEFE AR
Office paper waste kg 876.20 2,241.40
MNERER NI
Non-office paper waste kg 7,800.00 6,000.00
WM AEER NaS
Waste tires kg 2,000.00 3,600.00
LTl Ny
Total kg 10,676.20 11,841.40
#at LF
Intensity Kg/RMB million
revenue 78.48 88.45
BE oF /BEHET
ARBERE

A1.5 Measures to Mitigate Emissions

The Group actively adopts measures to mitigate
vehicles emissions and strives to achieve the
reduction target. The Group selects environmentally
friendly vehicles according to the emission limit
standard of automobile exhaust pollutants required
by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the
PRC (d #= A R £ F1 Bl 4 #& 3% #5% 25). The Group

A1.5 FIEBE BV IEHE
N & BT R EREE bR D B
B SHERFEREZ - K
SEEBHREARLME A4 RE
RIRHHENAERERTED
PEREIR A RIRIREH o
AEBETHREEHEEER
PR HERE AR E AR KA

checks the vehicle-related gas emissions regularly,
and the emissions meet the qualification inspection
of Environmental Protection Agency of the PRC (#
= AR FEMBIRIRRES).
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Apart from monitoring the vehicle emission
standard, the Group also implements strict
requirements for drivers. The Group requires
all drivers to comply with Article 13 of the
“Performance Management System” of the Group.
Firstly, it prohibits the drivers from excessive
acceleration when the vehicle is started and
requires drivers to turn the engine off when loading
and unloading commodities. Secondly, drivers are
required to visit the designated gas stations that
meet the national standards, such as PetroChina
(BP) gas station for refueling, to ensure high quality
petrol products were used for vehicles. For the
vehicles that have reached the service life of the
"Automobile Scrap Standard” (748 R EEIE X E)
stipulated by the Ministry of Public Security (FF 2 A
R £ MBI A% #5) and the Ministry of Ecology and
Environment of the PRC (/1 2 A R £ A B 4 AR IR
% &F), the Group immediately scraps the vehicles.
Vehicles that fail to meet the requirements of the
Group will also be scrapped to ensure that the
operating vehicles are safe to use.

A1.6 Wastes Reduction and Initiatives

The Group strictly observes national laws and
follows the requirements of the Laws of PRC on
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution
by Solid Waste (FF 2= A R 270 3 [E 88 BE = 1)5 IR
5BhA7%) and the Directory of National Hazardous
Wastes (Bl K f& B & ¥ % £%) in handling both
hazardous and non-hazardous waste. Internally, the
Group has established various waste management
and reduction measures.

For details about the handling measures of
hazardous waste, please refer to the “"A1.3
Hazardous waste” section.

A1.6
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The Group sets up double-sided printing as the
default mode in all printers and encourages
employees to reuse single-sided paper when no
confidential information is presented. To further
decrease the use of paper, communicating online
is encouraged instead of communicating through
documentation. The Group strives to achieve the
goal by managing the usage of office papers, by
encouraging the staff to use the Group’s online
system for general business notices and data
transmissions, minimizing paper consumption for
printing and photocopying and using double-sided
printing if possible. Several measures are adopted
by the Group to reduce avoidable emissions. The
Group promotes reasonable driving, and long-
distance traveling is subject to strict review to
reduce unnecessary travel, with an aim to mitigate
the amount of GHG and exhaust gas produced
by vehicles. All vehicles are under regular
maintenance check to facilitate fuel consumption
efficiency, which ensures road safety and keeps air
emissions at their minimum. As such, the level of
total emissions can remain relatively low, and the
level does not pose considerable environmental
and social impacts. In addition, waste paper
is centrally collected and disposed of by the
administrative department and the office.
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A2. Use of Resources

The Group is committed to becoming a resource-saving
and environmentally-friendly enterprise to promote
environmental protection. We have been working
actively to reduce our usage of resources, as well as our
emissions. The Group pursues the practices of efficient
use of resources, including energy, water and other
natural resources and further reduces the negative

&/__l:(%“/

impacts on the natural environment.

A2. EIR(EM
AEEBORADHHERRBROE
% UHBRR - B ERERD
BRER RN - AEBETAUE

mﬁf«@ﬁ%; KREMBRAE
B EVER - i — WY B RE
ey -

A2.1 Energy Consumption

The total energy consumption of the Group was
2,903.51 Megawatt-hour ("“MWh") (2023: 3,362.58
MWh), with an overall energy intensity of 21.34
MWh/RMB million revenue* (2023: 25.12 MWh/
RMB million revenue) during the Reporting Period.
Types of energy consumed included electricity
and diesel. The table below presents the energy
consumption by energy types and the associated
energy intensity.

Diesel consumption of 2,408.96 MWh accounted
for 82.97% of the total energy consumption
during the Reporting Period, contributing to an
intensity of 17.71 MWh/RMB million revenue. The
total energy consumption intensity decreased by
15.05% during the Reporting Period compared
to the last reporting period. The Group's energy
consumption demonstrated a downward trend,
primarily attributed to the Group restructuring,
the discontinuation of natural gas usage, and the
relocation of a business unit, which optimised
electricity consumption patterns during the
Reporting Period. Taking into consideration the
business expansion, the Group aims to set a target
to reduce 10% of energy consumption intensity
by 2032, with 2022 as the base year. The Group
has successfully met its energy reduction target
and is committed to maintaining this improved
performance standard. Details can be found in the
section headed “Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives”.
The table below presents the energy consumption
by energy types and the associated energy
intensity.

A2.1 BETRIERE
WEBA - AEBEMEIRERE
8 R290351KEE (TR
B |) (20234F : 3,362.58 K FL
K  BEEREEATASET
ANRBEUEE21.34 K FLEF (2023
F - BEETARBRE25.12
KR )  JBFEZ ERERIBIE
BHREEH - TREHSEER
AR RER E FE A R AE AV RE
R o

HREHAN LHEEE AR
2,408.96 K LIS + A& BE IR 4808
HENS297% BEEZREA
BAETARBEWZE17.71K
R o SE BB IRAEE R
ERERE—ARE B
15.05% ° A& E K BERBFEZ
BTRBE TERHREE
=48 THERRXARRKE
—EEMELN - BT RED
W AEERER - Z R EBKE
R ASEE/ B IR 2032F 7
L10% R EREEN B E
A2022F REMEF - NEH
ERDIERHREEBIR - WE
NRRFE IR ENRERR
%o FIFALHELREAK
wmat &l —& o TRITRIRRE
FER KRR EEE S 2
BEIROBAE ©
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7

Details of the energy consumption of the Group”’:

REBRRBFERAMA

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Energy Consumption Unit 2024 Total 2023 Total
#E20245 HZE 20234
12A 31H 12A31H
RERETE Bfr il 9: 3 4y IEEFE AR
Direct Energy Consumption
BEEERBR
Natural gas MWwh
RAR, KB
. For dormitories N/A 13.90
e AREs ~EHA
Natural gas intensity MWh/RMB million revenue N/A 0.10
RAREE JKFLR, B8t ARE W ~EHA
Diesel
e
o For medium and heavy Mwh 2,408.96 2,540.61
vehicles
e FARPEMBRSBE JKEK
Diesel intensity MWh/RMB million revenue 17.71 18.98
SOREE KER,BETARBKEZE
Indirect Energy Consumption
e B FE
Electricity MWh 494.55 808.07
=W JKELBF
Electricity Intensity MWh/RMB million revenue 3.64 6.04
BRE KER,BETARBKEE
Total energy consumption MWh 2,903.51 3,362.58
HREIRHTE JE L
Total energy consumption MWh/RMB million 21.34 25.12
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A2.2 Water Consumption

The total water consumption for the Group was
5,735.00 m® (2023: 7,420.88 m?), with a water
intensity of 42.16 m3/RMB million revenue (2023:
55.43 m3/RMB million revenue) during the Reporting
Period. Compared with the last reporting period,
the water consumption intensity decreased by
23.94%. Water consumption intensity decreased
following the strategic relocation of a business
unit during the Reporting Period. In alignment with
our sustainable growth strategy, the Group has
established a target to reduce water consumption
intensity by 10% by 2032, using 2022 as the
baseline year. Current performance indicators
show positive progress toward this objective. The
Group is committed to undertaking substantive
efforts to further reduce water consumption in
alignment with its reduction targets. Details can be
found in the section headed “Water Use Efficiency
Initiatives”.

Details of the water consumption of the Group:

A2.2 XEFEFRE

HREBAN - AEEHBAKE
#5,735.0032 75 K (2023 :
7420883 75 K) - FHKEER
BRBTARBWEA2165L
FAKQOBF: BFEEBTAR
B 35 55.433 2 oK) o B2 F—
BAREHAL - AKBEERD
23.94% o WMEEN - RN— A
TS ERPI R SR RS IR B 1% - FAOK
EEBH TR - BEARMO
ARHFEREEE  ASEE
TFHRIZ  LA2022F BEEF
£ 2032 4F Rl % A 7K 2 JE B8 K
10% ° 785 B B AR R E R
HEEEREE R g%
mAORKE - HEFL2HEIA
Kiematal ] —&f -

AREBKEREFENFE

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

Water Consumption Unit 2024 Total 2023 Total

#E2024F HZE2023F

12A31H 12H31H

KEREFE Bfr I EE# IEFE4RET

Total m? 5,735.00 7,420.88

#at hv s S

Intensity m:/RMB million revenue 42.16 55.43

BE Bk BEET
AR#BK&E

The water consumption of the Group is mainly
sourced from municipal tap water. No issues on
sourcing water that is fit for purpose were reported
during the Reporting Period.

AEBMAKETIZREMHK
BXRK - RBEHRA - WER
SEBRBES RENKIRAE

o
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A2.3 Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives

To achieve the reduction target, the Group
has implemented various measures of energy
conservation and emissions reduction. For
instance, the Group installed LED energy-saving
lamps in all lighting areas, turns off lights when
staff leave the offices and warehouses, adjusts
and controls the temperature of air conditioners,
and the air-conditioned temperature remains at
25°C, carries out electrician inspection, monitor
and guide each department’s energy consumption
by equipment maintenance department. Also,
the Group conducts a monthly statistical count
of electricity consumption and prepares relevant
records. If the consumption is over the range
specified by the standard, the Group will analyse
the potential reasons and take remedial actions in
a timely manner.

By adopting the above measures and posting
power-saving slogans, the Group’s employees’
aware of energy conservation and environmental
protection has been raised.

A2.4 Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group strives to reduce water consumption
and complies to policies of effective use of water,
including the National Water Saving Action Plan (4
R 517K 77 &) ;5 &) and other relevant regulations.
The Group mainly consumes water to meet a high
demand for warehouse temperature control in daily
business operations. In order to control the amount
of water consumption and achieve the reduction
target, the Group has installed more frequency
converters, applied logic control in managing the
use of resources, and added plate changers and
heat recovery pumps in the main engine room.

The Group's business activities did not generate a
significant amount of sewage.
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A2.5 Packaging Material

Stretch films (mainly used to stabilise, cover and
protect the products during transition) were the
Group's major packaging material consumptions.
As packaging plastic films are difficult to be
reused, and there are no readily available
recycling methods in the industry, the Group has
commissioned an independent waste processing
company to collect and dispose of the materials on
a regular basis.

The Group consumed more packaging materials
compared to the last reporting period. During
the Reporting Period, the Group consumed
approximately 18.89 kg/RMB million revenue
of packaging materials intensity (2023: 67.2kg/
RMB million revenue) for cargo fixation and
protection. The Group achieved significant
reductions in packaging material usage through
the strategic relocation of a business unit during
the Reporting Period. Taking into consideration
the business expansion and the adoption of more
comprehensive disclosure starting from this
Reporting Period, the Group has set a new target to
reduce packaging material consumption intensity
by 10% by 2032, with 2023 as the base year. The
Group has successfully met its packaging material
consumption reduction target and is committed to
maintaining this improved performance standard.

The Group is very aware and concerned about the
potential adverse environmental impacts brought
by the packaging materials consumed. Therefore,
the Group spares an effort to reuse and recycle
the packaging materials by themselves as much
as possible in order to minimise the potential
environmental impacts brought by the disposal of
packaging materials.
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The Group will continuously monitor the use REEBHEEZEBEMEN
of packaging materials and aims to reduce any R - DR E AU EE
unnecessary packaging. 2

Details of the consumption of packaging materials REBMBEMHAEFE

of the Group:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Types of Packaging Materials Unit 2024 Total 2023 Total
HE20245 HZE 202349
12A 31H 12H31H
BERMEERN - Liv I\ESFE#RT IEFEEE
Stretch film (for cargo fixation kg
protecting material in transit) 2,570.00 9,000.00
R (AR EYEE A NIE
REEHP R
Total packaging materials kg 2,570.00 9,000.00
BEhE e "R
Total packaging materials kg/RMB million revenue
intensity 18.89 67.22

BERMHEEHER LF / BETARWKE
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A3. The Environment and Natural Resources
A3.1 Significant Impacts of Activities on the

Environment

The Group realises the responsibility of minimizing
the adverse impacts on the environment and
natural resources through its business operations,
so the Group adopts four basic principles in
order to protect the environment and natural
resources, including “Reduction, Reuse, Recycling
and Replacement”. In addition, the Group adopts
a green sourcing strategy and the most practical
technology to protect natural resources. In 2024,
the Group did not have any non-compliance of
relevant laws and regulations, including but not
limited to the Limits of Noise Emitted by Stationary
Road Vehicles (GB16170-1996) and The Law of the
PRC on Prevention and Control of Pollution from
Environmental Noise (12 A R R FIBIRIZR F)5
A2ERE).

The major environmental impacts of the Group's
operations include the air emissions and noise
generated by its logistics operations. The noise
pollution generated from the operations came from
vehicles. In order to minimise the level of noise
generated from logistic operation, the Group has
installed damping plates with sound absorbing
pads to minimise noise at offices and warehouses
and has used low-noise tires for its vehicle fleet.
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A4. Climate Change

Climate change not only affects our environment but
also may affect the normal routine of the Group working
conditions. The Group has implemented relevant policies,
including but not limited to the HSSE, to outline the
Group's commitment to protecting the environment and
reducing the environmental impact of its business.

Identifying and managing the associated opportunities
and risks is vital to the Group’s business operation.
Climate change may affect normal working conditions,
and arrangements will be taken to ensure the health and
safety of employees according to the real-time situation
released by the national, provincial and municipal
governments. In accordance with national and local
laws and regulations, the Group has purchased medical
insurance for every employee. In addition, the Group
also has purchased insurance for warehouses and auto
insurance for vehicles.

With the trend of the changing demand and requirements
of customers, the Group works hard to meet the needs
of customers and strives for a larger market share.

The Group reviews and identifies the climate-related
risk annually while conducting the risk assessment. We
have considered the potential climate-related risks in
respect of the recommendations of the Task Force on
Climate related Financial Disclosure (“TCFD"), which are
the physical risks such as extreme weather conditions
and transition risks such as regulatory change on
environmental matters, and summarised as below:
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R 8K

M AR A
SRR

short
(current
Potential reporting Medium Long
Risk Type Risks Financial Impact period) (1-3years) (4-10 years) Mitigation Strategy
o A =
REER 1] BERBERE (FEERR) (1-3%) (4-10%F) BRRMK
Physical Risks ¢  Extreme weather *  Reduced revenue from v v Located our offices and
conditions, such as business and supply warehouses in cities where
flooding and typhoons chain disruptions the occurrences of extreme
e Sustained elevated o Increased costs related weather conditions are
temperature to the rising need for relatively rare
cooling Established adverse
weather condition policy
Adopted energy
conservation measures
Purchased relevant
insurance for warehouses,
vehicles and employees
RERE o BHRARRAL KK o EBREEEFEHEH BHAZEREERRERAR
NEe R W AR ARSI R T
o BESR o RABREFBEAR HEBDRABE
Em REREREIEE
REE  BHREEEEIEN
R
Transition e Changesin o Higher operating costs v 4 Our Group has limited
Risks environmental-related to adopt more stringent company vehicle use to
regulations regulations necessary meetings and
reduced energy consumption
Dy implementing energy
conservation measures
Closely monitor the
regulatory updates to meet
the regulatory requirements
BERR o EBENEBERNED o ARBEEBNERM AEEERHARLESEN
BY2ENA LT AREH  TRBEHEEE
TR B IR R RE

BNEREERHUNAEE

BT
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SOCIAL
Employment and Labor Practices

For the Group, constructing a meaningful relationship
with its employees, which are the internal stakeholders, is
deemed equally important as attracting new customers for
business, and so is encouraging the employees to shape their
competitive edge. The Group understands that employees with
sophisticated technology knowledge are important assets.

As a responsible corporate citizen who genuinely cares for its
employees, the Group strictly abides by all applicable national
and local laws and regulations related to employment and
labor practices, including but not limited to:

o Labor Law of the PRC (A #E A R HEFE &5 8)5%)

. Labor Contract Law of the PRC (F HEMELEHE
E%)

° Regulations on Paid Annual Leave of Employees (B T #
FrERERIED)

° Law on the Protection of Women's Rights and Interests (4%
T RIER)

° The Special Provisions on Labor Protection for Female
Employees (28 T & B RER R TE)

o Law on the Protection of Minors (A& F AREE)
o Law on the Protection of Disabled Persons (& AMRE%)

o Social Insurance Law of the PRC (P A R EFBE 1 &R

BE)

o Law on Labor Unions of the PRC (FR & A R L AE T &%)

No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
had a significant impact on the Group relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare had been identified during the
Reporting Period.
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B1. Employment

The Employee Handbook of the Group clearly outlines
detail of recruitment, promotion, discipline, working
hours, vacations and other benefits, and the Group
has laid down compliance procedures and a series of
work safety rules. The Human Resources Department
is responsible for the confirmation that the staff has full
understanding of the content of the Employee Handbook
before they commence employment with the Group.

The Group aims at recruiting the most talented and
qualified from the job market, in order to bring immense
value to the business and to install trust in its clients.
The process of recruitment is standardised based on
the nature of the department. As such, it ensures that
competitive candidates will not be missed out and that
respective departments can screen for the most suitable
candidates. Also, background checks are performed to
ensure that the candidates have good attributes and
subjective judgement of interviewers will not affect the
selection process.

Employee Profile and Turnover

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total number
of 548 employees. All the employees of the Group
are full-time workers. The breakdown of employees
according to employment type, employee category, age
group, gender and region is as follows.

B1.
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Year ended
31 December
2024 Total
20245

12 A 31 B#&t

Total Number of Employees BEEBH
Employment type EmHEE
Full-time £
Part-time Fe
Employee category VAV
Senior management aREERRE
Middle management FAREEE
Frontline and other staff AR R HAM BT
Age group Fiewp
Below 25 255 AT
25-29 25-29
30-39 30-39
40-49 40-49
50 or above 503k A £
Gender 3]
Male Bt
Female M
Region ME
The PRC =8

548

548
N/AFER

71
471

18
45
149
158
178

457
91

548

The Group hires based on experience, expertise and
values, regardless of race, colour, creed, national
origin, ancestry, sex, marital status, disability, religious
or political affiliation, age, or sexual orientation. We
formulate equal opportunities and diversity policies for all
employees, and are committed to building a diversified
and inclusive working environment. As at 31 December
2024, female employees accounted for approximately
17% of the total workforce within the Group. Being in the
logistics sector, which is traditionally considered male-
dominated, the Group values gender equality and will
continue to strive for a more diversified workforce in the
future.
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During this Reporting Period, a total of 111 employees
left the Group, with an annual staff turnover rate of 20%.

EE FEEBTREAERA20%

BFFMMBEERHEFAA

Year ended

31 December

2024 Total

#E2024F

12A31A

I EE#E

Total Turnover® MRk E: 20.26%

Turnover rate by age group HERHFIE D m%ELE

Below 25 254 105.56%

25-29 25-29 40.00%

30-39 30-39 22.15%

40-49 40-49 12.03%

50 or above 503k A 12.36%
Turnover rate by gender HBMEFB R iR ELFE

Male B 19.26%

Female 7 25.27%
Turnover rate by region HIER R iR FE

The PRC i 20.26%

The turnover rate was calculated by (no. of employees leaving the company 8
during the reporting period/no. of employees as of 31 December 2024)*100%.

MAEDRBERANBRMARANEEHRE RIARE
2024512 A 31 BMiR B & H BIRIA100% 7 E 15 H -
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Employee Profile and Turnover

The Group attaches great importance to the recruitment
and retention of high-caliber employees as well as
attracting high-quality recruits that are valuable to the
Group. The Group’s recruitment procedure is guided
by relevant laws and regulations, including the Labor
Law of the PRC (4 % A R #t A0 B 4 ) J%). The Group
follows the principle of “fair competition and merit-
based employment” in the recruitment process. In
order to meet the company’s development needs, the
Group actively implemented a strategy of strengthening
the enterprise with talents which adopted a market-
based recruitment model to recruit outstanding talents.
In the recruitment process, the Group explored talents
through college campuses, social and online recruitment
channels. The Group improved these measures to attract
and retain talent continuously and provide opportunities
to employees with a broad development space. In
order to improve the personal quality and ability of
employees, the Group fully mobilised the initiative and
enthusiasm of all employees, to create a fair and open
competition mechanism within the company. In addition,
the Group recognises the value of employee experience
by arranging assessments, which provides equal
opportunities to employees for fair competition. The
Group believes that these strategies can reduce the loss
of outstanding talent in the long term.

Legitimate Rights and Employee Interests’
Protection

The Group complies with national and local laws and
regulations to protect the legitimate rights and interests
of employees. The Group formulated management
measures to strengthen contracts and remuneration for
employees, monitored the Group's labor policies and
evaluated the welfare and norms in order to protect the
interests of employees.
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Labor Contract Management

The labor contracts of the Group comply with the Labor
Law of the PRC (HZE A R 2k B4 &h)%) and the Labor
Contract Law of the PRC (FF#E AR KX FRH LB A [ E).
The labor contract management of the Group included
signing and termination of labor contracts, and regulates
positions, working hours, remuneration and benefits
of the employees clearly in the purpose of ensuring
the labor standards. Any overtime arrangement must
be made under the principle of negotiation between
the company and the employees and the employees’
voluntary principle. The relevant remuneration must
be paid in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group
complied with the employment-related laws and
regulations.

Female Employee Protection

The Group cares about the physical and mental health
of female employees, provides maternity leave, and
breastfeeding leave and reasonably arranges job duties
for female employees, it complies with the Special
Regulations on Labor Protection for Female Employees
(Z B T 4 B 1R # %5 5 48 7€) formulated by the State
Council (B 7 PBx) to protect their work rights and take
care of their needs.
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Employee Compensation and Benefits

The Group is committed to providing fair and competitive
remuneration and benefits to its employees, and the
wages of our employees exceed the local minimum
wage standards for the reporting period. The Group
reviews the remuneration strategy on a regular basis and
adjusts the remuneration policy according to changes
in the external remuneration market and the internal
situation. In accordance with national and local laws and
regulations, the Group pays basic pension, basic medical
care, unemployment, work-related injury, maternity and
other social insurances and housing provident funds
for employees. In addition, the Group has purchased
accidental injury insurance for employees, further
enhancing the medical protection for employees. The
Group has identified work-related injuries timely and
handled accidental injury insurance claims for injured
employees reasonably. The Group also provides benefits
such as annual leave and an annual body check-up for
employees. Some of the projects in the Group have
facilities such as dormitories and canteens, which can
provide complete accommodation and high-quality meals
for employees. The Group also cares about disabled and
severely ill employees and their families, so the Group
provides necessary assistance to support them when
they are facing difficulties. In order to support employees
to have a healthy life after work, the Group organises
various cultural and recreational activities regularly to
encourage employees to participate, establish a good
corporate culture and promote harmony and unity
among employees.

Staff Activities

In order to strengthen the staff's sense of belonging,
the Group arranges birthday parties every month.
It also organises staff dinners and activities such as
competitions. These activities strengthen communication
and interaction among staff to develop a harmonious
culture within the Group.
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B2. Employee Health and Safety B2.

The Group cares about the health, safety and security
of all the staff, and strives to provide services to protect
the physical and mental health, safety and security of
employees, and in the business operations. The Group
strictly follows relevant laws and regulations including
the Labor Law of the PRC (r ZE A R £ A B & &) %),
Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Treatment of
Occupational Diseases (9 & A R A B B 2 w706 %)
and Fire Protection Law of the PRC (7 #= A R A0 B4
ff7%). In order to providing a safe working environment
and protect employees from occupational hazards, the
Group distributes safety helmets, reflective clothing and
work shoes to employees who need protection, and the
Group follows the requirements strictly in accordance
with 1SO 9001:2015 and Standard Operating Procedures.
No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that had a significant impact on the Group relating to
occupational health and safety had been identified during
the Reporting Period.

The Group attaches great importance to providing
occupational health and safety for its employees and has
established internal safety procedures that all employees
are required to follow strictly. According to the Group
internal safety guide, the safety requirements and
procedures are stated clearly, including prohibition of
alcohol and drugs, security policies, safety procedure of
working in warehouses, and safe use of forklifts.
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Fire Safety Management

Fire safety and contingency management are also of vital
concern to the Group. During the Reporting Period, the
Group has arranged fire drills twice. In order to ensure
staff are familiar with the fire-fighting facilities and
emergency measures, the Group has dedicated a fire
officer in both companies and warehouses to manage fire
protection measures and a fire safety officer in the non-
warehouse department. Besides, the Group strives to
strengthen fire protection education so every employee
of the company must receive fire safety training. For the
purpose of ensuring the effectiveness of fire facilities, the
Group undergoes a comprehensive inspection of the fire
equipment twice a year. During high-risk periods of fire,
the Group increases the frequencies of fire supervisions
and inspections.

Health and Safety

Details of number of work-related fatality and fatality rate
of the Group:
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Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 Total 2023 Total 2022 Total
#HE2024%F B = 2023 F HZE 2022F
12A31H 12A31H 12H31H
1= 9:3 0y IEFE MG IEFE4RET

Number of work-related BT %M
fatalities RTEHRH 0 0 0
Total No. of Employees B T #& 548 680 678
Fatality Rate RTFE 0% 0% 0%

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded 1 case
of work-related injuries and 170 lost days due to work
injury. In order to ensure a safe working condition for
all staff and avoid work-related fatality in the future,
the Group always evaluates and improves the current
work safety measures and arranges for employees to
have regular physical examinations every year to ensure
employees work in healthy condition.
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B3. Development and Training

The Group is concerned about common growth
and development opportunities of employees, so
corresponding skills improvement and development
training are provided for different types of work and job
positions, the training includes new employee training,
skill improvement training, important person training and
other related training.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group provided over 2,783
training hours to a total of 530 employees (inclusive of
employees who have left the Group during the Reporting
Period). The average training hours per employee was
5.08 hours. The number of Employees who received
training and average training hours completed are as
follows.

B3.
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B e BB AR e

Total number of trained employees’®

Total average training hours for
all employees™

Distribution by Employee Category™

Senior Management
Middle Management
Frontline and other staff

Distribution by Gender™

Male
Female

Training Hours by Employee Category'

Senior Management
Middle Management
Frontline and other staff

Training Hours by Gender

Male
Female

Xl S a2

FRERZ TFHZINFEH

REBERNEI D2 DM

BIRERE
PRERE
AN EME T

RIERNEID 2 DM

St

7t

RREERIEI D 2 X 82

BRERE
R EIEE
AN EHME T

RIERNEI D 2 ZlF B

St

7t

% of all employees
1 RES A
96.72%

Hours per employee
WG EES

5.08

% of trainees
152 IEES 855k
0.57%

6.60%

92.83%

% of trainees
152 5EE B 5k
82.64%

17.36%

Hours per employee
g SEERES

2.00

3.10

5.42

Hours per employee
S EEES

5.16

4.68

Total percentage of employees trained = Total number of
employees trained during the financial year / Total number of
employees as of 31 December 2024*100%.

Average training hours completed per employee = Total number
of training hours completed during the financial year / Total
number of employees as of 31 December 2024.

Percentage of employees trained = Number of employees trained
by category during the financial year / Number of employees
trained as of 31 December 2024*100%.

Average training hours = Number of training hours completed
by category during the financial year / Number of employees by
category as of 31 December 2024.
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B4. Labor Standards

Child and forced labor are strictly prohibited within the
Group. The Group strictly observes applicable laws and
regulations regarding employment and labor standards,
such as the Labor Law of the PRC (FpZE A R LRI 44

J%), the Provisions on Prohibiting the Use of Child Labor
(Z |k # B Z I # &), the Labor Contract Law of the
PRC (2 A R EMEI 4 8) 4 FJ%) and the Law on the
Protection of Minors (# 2 A R E R F AREE).

The Group only recruits employees who are over the
legal working age, and new employees are required to
provide true and accurate personal data. Furthermore,
background checks will be conducted during the
recruitment process in order to ensure the identity of
the employees before they are employed. The physical
examination certificates, academic credentials, identity
cards, and household registers of the candidates are
reviewed strictly. No child or forced labor is hired
in the Group. If management discovers there is any
employment of forced or child labour, we will take
disciplinary actions for staff accepting forced/child labour
or providing false information, including immediate
termination of the employment concerned.

No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to preventing child and forced labor was
identified during the Reporting Period. There were no
major risks associated with incidents of child and forced
labor within the Group’s operation sites.

B4.
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OPERATING PRACTICES
B5. Supply Chain Management

The suppliers of the Group including transportation,
warehouse leasing, forklift rental and office leasing
services. Below shows the number of suppliers of the
Group in this Reporting Period.

Number of
Geographical region of suppliers suppliers
HEEHE #HEEHAE

EIEER
B5. {EEEIE
¢E@mfﬁﬁ&ﬁgﬁ»ﬁgm
XEEE&%“Z@%W& T

Type of suppliers
iR xR

The PRC
FEAH

Total number of suppliers
HIERm

10

Transportation
EH)

Warehouse leasing
BEMRE

Forklift Rental
XEHE

Office leasing
WAERE
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Supply chain management

The Commerce Department of the Group is responsible
for participating in the suppliers’ evaluation, selection,
price verification, and procurement work, and
established “Supply Chain Management Policy”. The
Group implements a strict selection of suppliers and
procurement procedures in order to ensure the quality
of suppliers and their compliance with environmental
and social-related laws and regulations that listed in
the “Supplier Evaluation Form”. Before making any
procurement decisions, the Group will conduct due
diligence and assessments on suppliers to avoid
environmental and social risks along the supply chain.
Our supply chain management and procedures include
assessment, selection, approval, procurement and
performance evaluation. The group will prioritise the
selection of suppliers that promote environmentally
preferable practices, such as double-sided printing
and e-communication. The department assesses new
emerging suppliers and re-evaluates the suppliers
who have major quality problems, and the department
recognises the qualification of suppliers according to
the following conditions. The performance evaluation is
based on capacity, service, environmental protection,
and social responsibilities, which are listed on the
"Quarterly Supplier Evaluation Form”: (1) The suppliers
who have passed 1SO9001 quality management system
certification; (2) Before the company implements the
ISO9001 quality management system, the suppliers who
have contacted and have no major defects in products
and services; (3) Suppliers designated by the customer
(for that customer service only); (4) When the suppliers
monopolise the market; or (5) Products and services
provided by the top 500 of the world or the top 500 of the
PRC. When a supplier is included in our qualified supply
chain list, the qualified supplier will sign a ‘Procurement
Contract’ and 'Contract Performance Evaluation
Procedure' with the Commerce Department of the Group
to ensure the quality of the product or service delivered.
Based on the product or service delivered by the
supplier, we evaluate its quality using different evaluation
forms, including the “Purchase Acceptance Form”,
“Vehicle Purchase and Acceptance Standard Form”, and
the “Warehouse Evaluation Form”.
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Bé.

During the assessment procedure of suppliers, the
suppliers are required to provide valid certifications
and qualifications, such as a valid business license and
organisation code certificate. For the rental and purchase
of vehicles, forklifts and warehouses, the evaluation form
of the vehicle and the warehouse evaluation form should
be provided as needed.

Besides, the major suppliers of the Group are audited by
the Commerce Department of the Group and approved
by the Board annually. The qualified suppliers list is
updated annually. If the suppliers fail to pass the annual
review, they will be disqualified for the next reporting
period.

Product Responsibility

In order to ensure the safety and quality of services,
the protection of intellectual property rights and data
protection, the Group complies with the laws and
regulations, including the Trademark Law of the PRC (1
= AR FE B ZE) and the Work Safety Law of the
PRC (P AR MBI % 2 4 EJ%). There was no non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods
of redress in this Reporting Period.
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The Group emphasises the quality control of its products,
and its services to align with I1ISO 9001: 2015 Quality
Standard (including (i) transportation; (ii) warehousing;
(iii) in-plant logistics; and (iv) customisation services
(which consist mainly of labelling services and bundling
services)). The Group is responsible for managing
and conducting quality supervision practices. The
quality department of the Group is responsible for the
maintenance, monitoring and assessment of the quality
supervision and control system. The quality management
group also oversees the implementation of external
monitoring methods and quality management systems.
The quality control system is divided into quality contro
planning and quality inspection. Quality control planning
covers many aspects of content, such as directions,
objectives, strategies, achievement paths, guarantee
plans, and cost budgets with respect to annual quality
control, with a view to ensuring that quality objectives
can be effectively achieved. Quality inspection involves
the annual integrated quality inspection plan, specialised
quality inspection plans, and specialised inspection
plans, aiming to reach the standards set by the quality
control programmes through inspection. When the
Group and the client undertake any written, oral or other
documents, materials, drawings, specifications, orders,
manuals, agreements etc., these documents are kept
confidential and must not be disclosed, provided or
made available in any form to any third party without the
consent of the clients. The Group cannot disclose the
agreement between the client in any of its promotional
materials, advertisements or for any purpose without the
prior written consent of the clients. Upon the expiration
of the agreement or the termination of any extension, the
Group returns all the documents and materials obtained
under the agreement or provided by the clients.
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Service-related complaint

The Group didn't receive complaints during the Reporting
Period. In order to maintain the highest service quality,
the Group has implemented measures to deal with
complaints. For instance, warnings were given to staff
who violated the operation practices, monitoring the
operations, evaluating the operation procedure and set
up measures to improve the quality of services, providing
more training to employees and disclosing the work
requirement to employees clearly.

In general, the Group has formal procedures to handle
the complaints. The complaints are mainly divided into
oral and written (including e-mail) complaints. If a written
response is required, the related cases are sent to the
department manager, then the department manager
informs his superior, the director and the general
manager of the company. Finally, the department
manager should pass the case to the Quality Supervision
Department of the company. The department being
complained about should investigate and analyse the
complaint to find out the cause and solution immediately,
and the complaints should be handled in accordance
with the “Continuous Improvement Procedure”. The
external written reply report will be approved by the
general manager of the company before sending to the
customers, all the solutions and the evaluation results of
complaints are mentioned in the report, and the Quality
Supervision Department is responsible to keep a full set
of records for handling customer complaints.
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B7. Anti-corruption B7. RE)S

The Group regards honesty, integrity, and fairness as its
core values, so the related national laws and regulations
are strictly complied with, including the Criminal Law of
the PRC (FF Z A R £ M B FIX), Anti-Money Laundering
Law of the PRC (7 #E A R £ F1 B |2 & £8 7%) and Law
Against Unfair Competition of the PRC (7 #E A & H A
B/ I~ IE & 3% 55%). The Group had no non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations of bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering in the Reporting Period.

The Group has formulated an Anti-Fraud Management
System in accordance with the “Basic Norms of
Enterprise Internal Control” and the actual situation of
the company. This system mainly clarifies the purpose
of anti-fraud work, the responsibility for anti-fraud,
prevention and control of fraud and fraud reporting,
investigation and supervision of anti-fraud work, and its
measures and penalties.

Whistle-blowing policy

The Group values and welcomes our employees to report
any suspected malpractices confidentially via email
or phone. A full investigation will then be conducted,
and reports will be presented to the Board. Disciplinary
action will be applied to the relevant employees upon
confirmation of the occurrence. For the preventive
measures and whistle-blowing procedures, the Group
understands that protecting whistleblowers is important
in reporting and investigating procedure of corruption.
The Group prohibits any unlawful discrimination or
retaliation, or hostile behaviors against investigators.
Those who violate the regulations and disclose the
information of the whistleblower or take retaliation
against the whistleblower will be dismissed and the labor
contract will be terminated. The violators of the law will
also be sent to the judicial department in accordance
with the law.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not involved in
any legal cases regarding corruption, and is not aware of
any bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering or other
violations.
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Anti-corruption training

In order to strengthen the awareness of anti-corruption
in the workplace, the Group carries out effective
communication and training within the company in
various ways, such as issuing employee handbooks,
publicity or internal Anti-Corruption Office to ensure that
employees receive training on relevant laws, regulations
and professional ethics, so that they understand the
concepts involved in the code of conduct, and help
employees identify legal and illegal concepts, ethical
and dishonest behavior. The Group will closely monitor
the regulatory development and arrange relevant anti-
corruption training for our employees and directors,
where necessary.

Community Investment

The Group donated RMB9,720 to Guangdong Heyuan
Town Yongxin Elementary School (& & & i J& 5k 1 /)
&) during the Reporting Period. The Group encourages
employees to contribute to the community by reaching
out to the community and participating in voluntary
activities. Participating in these activities can increase
the employees’ sense of social responsibility and can
develop positive values in helping people and our
society. We strive to continuously and actively contribute
to the education, environment, and cultural aspects of
the community in the future. The Group will explore more
opportunities in the neighborhoods, where it can invest
resources and engage employees in community service.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

BS.

RES 5

RBICBERESER  AREEB
BHETFM  SEIABRBHA
EELBTAERRAETAERDN
BB - ERE TR EEAR
EREBERBENEI A TRITA
Ry RS XYEBE THEHR
BEMBEENBLR - BEMTHER
TR ARESEYEREEEE
WHEKERAEIRERLHEMD
=B BRIE I o

HERRE

RERA - REBEREREARK
HNBIBBARKT20TT - AEE
SEE TEBEELRR2EERE
BREEL S - 2EZFEH LR
BT EEMER  LHEEBAMM
BAWt e TEELLEEE - 2
BMAOMRREBRER R BN
B BRERXCHHEELER - A%
BN ATt RIRREE - IAREE
R LR R 8 2 EAt R AR -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report conineq

RIS - 4T

& REARE @

HKEX ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND ERBRZFRE 8 RERIES
GOVERNANCE GUIDE CONTENT INDEX ABZEL|
Aspect Description Chapter/Section
i={i:1} Jilj it =11}
A. Environmental
AR
A1 Emissions
A1EER
General Disclosure  Information on: Overview
(@) the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
—RHEE FRABRMBEREBIR  M/KRLHMEES BEREZEEYN BB
EEER
@ BE: &k
(b)) BFHETABERZEZNEBERRANER -
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Air Emissions
BARESUEEAL  HERWRE SR RARREBE B o ZE R
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Greenhouse Gas
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of ~ Emissions

RASAERIRRAL2

KPI'A1.3

BABEAEIBIZ A3

KPI'A1.4

RSB IEIR AL

KPI'A1.5

RABAARUIEIRALS
KPIA16

FASEAE L IEIRAL6

production volume, per facility).

B (SE1) ke REE (BE2) R =RIBE
HA)EE(MASESEN - FEZEAE) -
Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FEEEEEEMEES UEHE) R(WER)EE (WS
BIEZEAE

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

B E (LAMRET &) & (1A

EEE

FEcCEZEFEEMBE CAETE) R(ER)ZE (B ESEN
HIEFZMEE

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

M FTET BB R R R ESZE B S ERIR 5 -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,
and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

MG AERBEEEM L - K]
EYZEEEERIRA TR -

AFFRTSLH)RRE B 1R & A

BEREHEN

Hazardous Waste

BEEEEYD

Non-hazardous Waste,
Measures to Reduce
Waste Generation and
Emissions
mEREEY
=i
Measures to Mitigate
Emissions
RIEBERE 5
Measures to Reduce
Waste Generation and
Emissions

R B HE IR A R BE

© BREE B
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Aspect Description Chapter/Section

EBm Jilj =6

A2 Use of Resources

A2ER{EH

General Disclosure  Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and Overview
other raw materials.

—ARIEEE BREAER(BIERIR - KEREMFREMED) BBE - HE

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas  Energy Consumption
or oil) in total (kwh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

BRBENIEIZEA2] RERESHMEER SHEER(NE - foh) BFEE (ATET BEIRERE
T8 RRE(MAEBESSEM - BIERETE) -

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production Water Consumption
volume, per facility).

MRERIERA22 BFEKERTE (WMABESEM - BERBIE) KE B

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to Energy Use Efficiency
achieve them. Initiatives

FRESUEIRA23  HRAlFTRT L HIBEIRE A B R R AERZ S B IR ATEREA 225K - BEIR P AT &

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit Water Use Efficiency
for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved. Initiatives

BREBUERA24  FEEUKEGE AR L A EAEE - URIEARKSGEERMAER AR S
% °

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if Packaging Material
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

FARERIEIZA25 HAMRAMAREMENEE (UNEETE) X (ER) BEEEMEE - BEYE

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources
ASIRIERXAREIR
General Disclosure  Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the

environment and natural resources.

—MHEE BURBEITAHREBERRABRENEXNZEMNEBUR ©
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment

and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
BT HIRE R RAERNEATEREKNEEERTEW
178 °

A4 Climate Change

AR IREL
General Disclosure

RASR AR IR 1R A3,

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

—AR IR EE Rl FomE 2 A8 R AT BRI BT AE A BN E AR IR BRI R

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

FRESUEIZALT MADERAEETAEELENEARGHBEE - RIEHTH -
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Aspect Description Chapter/Section
EBm Jilj i =6

B. Social

B.it&

B1 Employment

B1{E{&

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.

General Disclosure

—R R FRAFMNERE  BEEREA TERE - &Y - FEHT 2T
b~ RIEAR A K HAb 8 RABFIR) -
(@ BER: K
(b)) BTFHETABERZEZNEBERRAFNER -

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-
time), age group and geographical region.

FRERUEIEB =M EEEL (Fl2 Bk - FRENREE S NES S
o

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

FAREBUEIEB1.2  RMRI - FRRERRMEE D HEBRKLE -

B2 Health and Safety

B2 RERZ

General Disclosure  Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from

occupational hazards.

—M R FARELZ2TIERERRERERABENTERN
@ BxE: Kk
(b)) BETFHFETABERZENE@EERBENGELR -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past

three years including the Reporting Period.
BE=ZF (BRBEHN) EFRITHROABKLLLE -
Lost days due to work injury.

RS AR I IE B2.1
KPI B2.2

RS2 A IRIZ B2.2
KPI B2.3

EATEEETERSE -
Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how
they are implemented and monitored.

FASRAESNIEIRB23 I PTERMA B REF R 2k - URBERRTRERTXL -

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH

Employment and Labor
Standards

S

i
s

EfR R8s T2

Employment

(A

Employment
&R

Employee Health and
Safety

Employee Health and
Safety
EERREARZS
Employee Health and
Safety
EERREARZS
Employee Health and
Safety
EERREARZS
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Aspect
[Bm

Description
Jilj

Chapter/section
=1:11]

B3 Development and Training

B3 & R R i
General Disclosure

—RIE
KPI B3.1

RS AR I TE B3.1

KPI B3.2

RASAE K IE1R B3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work.

AR EERITIERE A R EAEHEER o

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
BMRIRESERN(NEREERE PREEE) S >NZIEER

Lk e

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.

muRIREEERE D  BREE KNI TFIIRE -

B4 Labor Standards

B4% T #8|
General Disclosure

—REE

KPIB4.1

RS AR RIE1R B4
KPI B4.2

AR IRIZ BA.2

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labor.

BREAPIIEE T g4 TH)

(@ BX: K

(b) BETHBITABERTENEBERLBNNER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child

and forced labor.

fitie st B B A e FE e LA R B T RIS T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when

discovered.

e IR B R BARER B B IE ST B o
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Aspect Description Chapter/Section

EBm Jilj i =6

B5 Supply Chain Management

B5 {ifE S E 1E

General Disclosure  Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply Supply Chain
chain. Management

—R IR EE EREMHERNIRE R SRR HEERERE

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain

Management

BRI MUEIEB5. R E S REEREA - HEERERE

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of Supply Chain
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they are Management
implemented and monitored.

FARRAERIEIEB5.2 M AREREEMMES  mENTEAEMNHENEE ARk HEREE
TERNTT REER T A -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks ~ Supply Chain
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.  Management

FARAAMIEIEB5.3  fhal e LIRS R g R A ES - UREEEN e HEEER
ITREERTE »

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable Supply Chain
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are Management
implemented and monitored.

FARRERIEIEB5.4 M EE R ER R TIRIRE M RRBFTERAMES - LR EM@IES (HEEERE

HBIT R EEER TR o

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH
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Aspect
[Bm

Description
Jijauk

Chapter/section
=1:11]

B6 Product and Service Responsibility

B6ERMBRBHERE
General Disclosure

— R

KPI B6.1

RS AR I TE B6. 1

KPI B6.2

AR AR IRIZ B6.2

KPI B6.3
RG2S IRIZ B6.3
KPI B6.4
AR ERIEIZEB6A
KPI B6.5

RAS AR IR 1R B6.5

116

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.

ERFMREERMRBHRRERZS - B  ERELBEEARME

RITER

(@ B K

(b)) BTFHETABEAZEZNEBEERRAANER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for

safety and health reasons.

g

EEXRDEREMERPRLT T EREEAMAD KN A S
Number of products and service related complaints received and how

they are dealt with.

BRI E fn RISV IR B A R EE X -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights.

el B 4 AR AR ERE B A ED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

TS ST RE REmEBYIEST -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they
are implemented and monitored.

HUE B B ERHRE RALBECE - URBBARITRERFE -

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

Product Responsibility

Due to the Group’s
business nature, no
products will be subject
to recalls

AR AEEEBHEE
R B E AR
Product Responsibility
— Services related
complaint
EmEE—
&R
Product Responsibility

AR5 1 R

Emaft
Product Responsibility
EmEMf
Product Responsibility

it

EEnE
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R g REAmE®

Aspect Description
B ik

Chapter/section
=—1:11]

B7 Anti-corruption

B7 REi%

General Disclosure  Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,

fraud and money laundering.

—R IR EE BRI IETEES - $hFR - MEFROERIEEM -
(@) EE: Rk
(b) BETHIBITABERZENEBEARLBNONER -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought

against the issuer or its employees during the Reporting Period and the
outcomes of the cases.
RIERARNEETASEESERETVEELENES
FantER -

Description of preventive measures, how they are implemented and
monitored.

BT EFE e - LA RRAB BT T R BRI 0L o

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

R4S IR B7 1 SETRAZR TRV ERE &

KPI B7.2

RS AE NIEIZERT.2
KPI B7.3

FRETIEIEB7.3 HilMEFREIREMRESE -
B8 Community Investment

B8t [E#E
General Disclosure  Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take

into consideration the communities’ interests.

—M R BN ESERTREEMTHEFTENBREER TS Z BT
& F = HBUR -
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns,

labor needs, health, culture, sport).
FREDUEIEBS.T FEEREE(HE - BEEE L TIHFK - #E - Yk 87) -
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.
FAREDIEIEB8.2 THFHEBAER(NSELERE) -

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

RES

Anti-Corruption —
Whistle-blowing policy
RER — BREE
Anti-corruption — Anti-
corruption training
k&EBF— REFHI

community Investment

HERE

Community Investment

HEKE
Ccommunity Investment
HERE

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH
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Independent Auditor’s Report
& Az BN

@ pakertilly
w4 E7]

Independent auditor's report to the members of

Yues International Holdings Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yues
International Holdings Group Limited (the “"Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 127 to 274, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

FRERERERKERRAFREREZ
B BT
(RESHEITMK L FRLA)
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ZEOENEREBIEREBER AR (AT
BIEAR))REMBAR(UATHE &%KHD
FIER 127 B274 B R S @RE - BIER
202412 A3 BWER & AR R IA R B EZ
BIEFERNGEEEER  GAZERER 54
ERFEE  REBRSRERRLEE P BHEREM
i BREREARGTERER -

EERE HAVBBRRIEZBESSHAMAE
((FEEEHMLE ) EANESBVBREGTE
AEERA TR BHEEMN2024F12 731
BOGZEMBRAURBEZA LFENRE T
BRARGAESRE - WEBRBEEBLQRIES
HRBEERZ AR -
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FIERHETREEARCREEHAETENER
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T T 1 BB 355 o0

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
RaFEER

FARENER
MREAHEHEERBEESNEXHE - RAYHA
ARG AV BERERNBTRIEENTH - 5L
FHREESENBERAMBREAMHKARR
RETTRIZN - BETEHELERIEHEBD
BR -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ESEENPTRERSENFERNG &

Impairment of trade receivables
BB 5 IR E

Refer to Note 3.1(b), Note 4(c) and Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
H2HGE AP FRRMTEI1D) T4 RMFE18 -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had trade receivables
of approximately RMB67,832,000, net of loss allowance of
approximately RMB2,055,000.

20245 12A31H EXEEBSEBARENAARK
67,832,000 7T - F0RR BB R B X A R ¥ 2,055,000 7T °

Management performed the impairment assessment
of trade receivables as at 31 December 2024 by using a
provision matrix which requires significant estimation in
determining the expected credit loss and this is based
on information including but not limited to, historical loss
experience, ageing of trade receivables, repayment history
and financial capabilities of the customers.
EREFRABEREE 202451231 BN E 5 ERGRIEE
ITRERE - ZEMEREEERAEEEERELEXMG
O ERBREETRNBERBLR 5 ERIGIER
- BIEHREPOMBEENETER -

Management also considered forward-looking information
that may impact the customers’ ability to repay the
outstanding balances in order to estimate the expected
credit losses (“ECLS") for the impairment assessment.
ERENERAIGEVETPEERBERARENVAE TSR
B MEEDRENGOEREESE ((FEREEEE]D) -

Our procedures in this area included:
EERHEBENREFRIE

o Understanding management’s process in assessing
and determining the expected credit loss allowances
of trade receivables;

. THRERENERETE HRYBGRIBEEREEEFER
HHEAE

o Understanding the status of each of the receivables
that was past due through discussions with
management and the sales team;

J FAEEEEREEERNGR - TRESEDBIERK
FIBRIAR

o Checking, on a sample basis, the completeness and
accuracy of the trade receivables ageing analysis
used by management to estimate the appropriate
provision for loss allowance;

. HEBREEREANGHHEERENEERENE S
YR IA BR e 99 1T B0 ST RE 14 e B R

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
REBFEAER

AREETTEE®)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ESEESNPTREREENFERNGE

Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)
BB Rk ARE (F)

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
trade receivable balances and the significant management
judgements and estimates in determining the expected
loss allowance of the trade receivables.

HBRNE ZENFIBERERRETE S 5 EYWRIETE B E B 5
BRI REREEBHE KM  HESEPRULERE -

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

J Evaluating management’s impairment assessment
and explanations on each of the significant trade
receivables that were past due as at 31 December
2024 with reference to supporting evidence
such as repayment history of the customers,
correspondences with customers and review of the
customers' financial position; and

. FEEHREEHSENR2024F12A3MHE B HNER
B o RYG IR ER G REE - W2EXFERE - W
BEPMENRGLE  BEFPOBEREMEP OV MK
oK

o Assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology, examining the
key data inputs on a sample basis to assess their
accuracy and completeness, and challenging the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-
looking information, used to determine the expected
credit losses.

J METEREEEEREIENES T - M RERER
B A BB DAY BB M R e B - W AR EETE
HEEEENBRR(BEREL RAEEERREES -

Based on the procedures performed, we found that
management'’s judgements and estimates of impairment
of trade receivables are supported by sufficient and
appropriate evidence.

ERAITHRRT  ESEREREHE S ERUGIERER
BT RAFTEASRR REE NEESZF -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
REBFEAER

HAREETTEE®)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ESEENPTREREENFERNGE

Impairment assessment of loan and interest receivables

FE 8 B F Bt BTG

Refer to Note 3.1(b), Note 4(d) and Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
BR2HGEETBHRERWESD0) « HEEAd) MHE18 -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had loan and interest
receivables of approximately RMB18,635,000, net of loss
allowance of approximately RMB7,577,000.
R2024512A31H - EEENRREREMENBARE
18,635,000 7T R EEEE L AR 7,577,0007T

Management performed the impairment assessment of
loan and interest receivables as at 31 December 2024,
the measurement of ECLs which requires the application
of significant judgements and estimates include the
identification of exposures with a significant deterioration
in credit quality, and assumptions used in the ECLS
model such as the probabilities of default, loss given
default, expected future cash flows and forward-looking
information.

EREH R 2024F 12 431 B EKRER KA SETRERT
b EHEEEENTERZRAERABGE - 21EER
FEEEZEERNER  URBHEESEEXREAN
RE& - PIEAME  BRABKE  BEHARKRRES M E KA
IEMEE R o

Our procedures in this area included:
EEENERBNEFEE

o Understanding and evaluating the key controls
over impairment assessment of loan and interest
receivables, which relates to management’s
identification of possible events that triggered
the provision for impairment of loan and interest
receivables and estimation of the amount of
provisions.

J T R R AT Ah S RS R R SR E AT A B R R AT I
HEaBW [E AP BB E R A SR EREN T
EHRMEFRECREEH -

o Inspecting the loan agreements entered into
between the Group and the borrowers, and other
relevant information relating to the borrowers as
assessed by the Group.

o wE BEEEEERAGTINERBZE Ak EF
B FraT b A e AR AR E R o

o Circulating confirmations to test the existence of
the loan and interest receivables as at the end of
the reporting period. We also checked the accuracy
of the ageing of loan and interest receivables as at
the end of the reporting period by tracing to source
documents.

. ERBERE DUASE N IR & R 2 D7 E W E LA
B BEEMERBERBAXHRERKERLFER
s R BRBS ) E BRI ©

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
RREHER

AREETTEE®)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ESEERMPREMRENERNSE

Impairment assessment of loan and interest receivables (Continued)

B R B F B AT ()

We focused on this area because the carrying amount
of loan and interest receivables is significant to the
consolidated financial statements, the identification of
whether exposures triggered deterioration in credit quality
and the estimation of the individual impairment amount
require the use of significant judgments and estimates.
EEHFRRERDBENERERRFE ZREEHLGE T
BmEMSBEKN  #HrlEEEEEEEEES 22 RMEE
ERIRE S BEREREAHE KA -
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o Assessing the reasonableness of the Group's
ECL model and the criteria for assessing if there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
loss allowances for financial assets that should
be measured on a lifetime ECLs basis. We also
assessed recoverability of the loan and interest
receivables with reference to borrowers’ principal
and interest repayment records during the year
and subsequently up to the date of this report, and
traced the repayments to the bank statements.

J i BEREEEHEEEERXNEGEERTMEER
ERREEELENReREEBERERSEEEH
B EEEEEEGENEE - EENR2EEBRAR
FRRHEEZEAREAMNARS LT EERTH -
S EWERRF S AUEE - B EEERE
RITHEE ©

Based on the procedures described above, we
considered key judgments and estimates applied by
management in the impairment assessment of loan and
interest receivables were supportable by sufficient and
appropriate evidence.

RIF LR  EERATEENREBREFR LT BRE G
FREAMNBRABRGEHERY REENEEZFF -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

Htt&E#
BEAFEF(EEDHEMBENAR - REH
BREBRFENAEER  ETBRETHES
FATE R RAZ B RS

EERGEMBREBRNERL TREEMBE
o BEZAUTHZFEMERBEREAT AL

DK 4t =A
EEBMET ©

BiMRAMBHRERE  EENAEHHELMLE
B YR @iEREREEEMENER EERA
MBBRABESFNEATATHENBERLBEEAT
B2 - JUFFEERFEREL

BEFEBEREREML - &
s BFALEEMFE -

EENERZEENGREMBHRR
ARENELE

EXAAAERBEESTMASRHNOFT BN
BESAHENBFAUFELBARAGRIINKER
KRUEERRFORAMBEHRE  UHREE
ERBRE N FEERERBUL (T BN REE
R NAE M B IRKRN = B0 2 H) A #R 2

&

BRESUMBRRE  EFAQFNE E5E
SELENE S YEERBER T HREEFEL
LEANER ARERRELE RS ER
BRIFEEHEER BEKEBRIEFLLE K5
BHMEROBATRE -

EECHEERZBENBY TREIREESR &
SEPHERERFOBE -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

REEMRBN RS U EBRRBAE
NEE @)

s HEERAKBEKERGTEMMNRBREML
e WREBPIERN B BERTE
EAFERERHBERNEENEANTEE
- emARERY SRENKELE
RNELEBARE MREERA/FTEE
RIHEEN - AL EERBEIRE TR
FIBRAMBHRTOAEREKE - BRE
ERNEETR  AEREEHRER - B
HiameEER EERBARE B LAEUS
M ERHRE o AT RRFEHEKBRA R

o  FHERAMBHERMERINEBIRN  E8
MAR  BREEE AREEMBHRRE
BAFRRABRHMEIE °

o FEIRMITEER UH EREARAZ
ERREBEUNVBENESKEOEE
MEHRE - FRBALE A BRI
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Leung Yun Wa.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

Leung Yun Wa
Practising certificate number P08096

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

BB BN RES U EBRRBAE
NEE @)

BEENTABERZEQRIEBH  FABEFCET
BRBYEMARERER YR fIBBME
WEERRRAIRETEESNBLENBEERERLEM
FH G UREBERANBELT  RKEBTBRERE
e A P A

EENRERZESBENERT  REMPLLE
BHEAAFEGEAUHEREMEE/ER -
MEBKERETFE - RIPERIER TR
REBELER  IRNBEENERT BERR
KR FEA /RN A RERFBERTA
BUHFENOMNEMAERBEPRE  SHES
SIZ N RS P B IR

A AZHBERENEN AR ESERBE -

AREEEHAEERARAT
HEEI A

BB 202543 A28H

RiE=E
2 B E /5T P080%6



Consolidated Statement of Profit or LoSs

e EmK

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 22024412431 H1EF/Z

2024 2023
2024 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Kiat AR®TT AREEFIT
Revenue Kka 6 256,214 133,881
Other income, gains and losses, net EaUg A - W2k R EieEEE 7 9,100 9,595
Employee benefit expenses EERMNMX 8 (71,922) (66,744)
Subcontracting expenses e (156,964) (33,714)
Lease payment relating to short-term e ENE E MRS R
leases 15(b) (5,876) (35,291)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERRETE
equipment 14 (1,205) (1,637)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREERETE 15(b) (7,429) (3,852)
Impairment of right-of-use assets EAEEERE 15(b) (1,947) (2,846)
Amortisation of intangible assets | A ERE 17 (165) (27)
Impairment loss on trade receivables B 5 R IB R E RS 3.1(b) (2,055) -
Impairment loss on loan and FEWE R SO B & 1B
interest receivables 3.1(b) (7,574) -
Other expenses HfX 9 (36,348) (31,714)
Operating loss BEER (26,171) (32,349)
Finance costs A& A A 10 (3,971) (1,057)
Loss before income tax FRFr S MBI E (30,142) (33,406)
Income tax credit/(expenses) risfiEe, (Fx) 11 86 (757)
Loss for the year FREHIR (30,056) (34,163)
Attributable to: BTALHRES:
Owners of the Company KATER A (24,710) (34,431)
Non-controlling interests FEIR PG AR RS (5,346) 268
(30,056) (34,163)
RMB cents RMB cents
AR%S AREBS
(Restated)
(geE:7)
Loss per share BERER
Basic and diluted HANEE 13 (19.44) (32.77)
The notes on pages 135 to 274 are on integral part of the  $135F274B WM TGS BTG RERH— D

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

A THENRRR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 22024412431 H1EF/Z

2024 2023
2024 2023 FF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBT T
Loss for the year FRHEE (30,056) (34,163)
Other comprehensive income Htt2mEmka
Items that may be reclassified HiZ R B DI E Emm Y
subsequently to profit or 10Ss: EH -
Exchange difference arising on translation BEGINEREEZIER =58
of foreign operations, net of nil tax HBRZEHIE (1,851) (3,102)
Reclassification adjustment on exchange HENE A T EE N EEER T
reserve released upon disposal of ERREFHEARE
subsidiaries 2,187 -
Other comprehensive income/(expense) FRHMEERWES(FIX)
for the year 336 (3,102
Total comprehensive expense FR2EMASZEH
for the year (29,720) (37,265)
Attributable to: DT ALRES:
owners of the Company RAREB A (24,374) (37,533)
Non-controlling interests FEIRAR A (5,346) 268
(29,720) (37,265)

The notes on pages 135 to 274 are on integral part of the

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B ER R

e

As at 31 December 2024 F2024F12H31H

2024 2023
2024 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
HiaE AR®TT AR®ETT
ASSETS HE
Non-current assets JERENEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BE MR 14 2,821 2,885
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15(a)(i) 23,038 21,719
Goodwill and intangible assets EEREREE 17 2,158 2,045
Deferred income tax assets EIEFTSR & E 26(a) 975 241
Rental deposits HEZse 18 2,671 675
Loan receivables FEWE R 18 17,892 11,692
Deposit in relation to purchase of EBBEEWE BENERE
property, plant and equipment MiRE 36,167 36,167
Financial assets at fair value through 2 QA FEFABEZNSRVEE
profit or loss 16 - 4,580
Total non-current assets ERERERE 85,722 80,004
Current assets mENEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 NREmEWRIE 18 81,224 92,677
Amount due from a non-controlling R — B IEERR IR R
shareholder 19 30,048 32,121
Amount due from a director el — R ESE B 27 110 -
Time deposit with original maturity over R EIE B #5838 =18 A & F BIEX%
three months 20 10,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents RERKBEEED 20 49,723 78,026
Total current assets RERERE 171,105 202,824
Total assets HEE 256,827 282,828
EQUITY a2
Share capital [N 24(a) 11,469 9,770
Reserves s 24(b) 118,474 128,686
Equity attributable to owners ENFHEAEGES
of the Company 129,943 138,456
Non-controlling interests FEIE RS 3,475 5,352
Total equity BaeE 133,418 143,808
SEERZERERERAR / — T JUFFH
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position continued

AR e IR @

As at 31 December 2024 F2024F12H31H

2024 2023
2024 5 2023 4F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Hat AR®TT ARBTT
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities ERBAR
Lease liabilities HEEE 15(a)(ii) 4,154 19,593
Other payables HAh e FRIE 21(b) 8,178 8,178
Contingent consideration payable for — ¥4 0t ER S ARE
business combination 33(c) - 8,115
Deferred income tax liabilities RILFISTRAE 26(a) 364 284
Total non-current liabilities DA EEE 12,696 36,170
Current liabilities b4 A=K
Trade and other payables B 5 R HAFERFOR 21 48,294 38,819
Contract liabilities AEHBEE 22 474 566
Bank and other borrowings HRIT M E M fE 3K 23 50,784 52,602
Lease liabilities HEEE 15(a)(ii) 11,132 5,896
Amount due to a director et —R%EEHIE 27 - 4,581
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFR SR B (& 29 386
Total current liabilities mEN B EEE 110,713 102,850
Total liabilities HaRE 123,409 139,020
Total equity and liabilities RaRaREdE 256,827 282,828

The consolidated financial statements on pages 127 to 274 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and were

signed on its behalf by:

Le Kang

-5
Director

EF

The notes on pages 135 to 274 are on integral part of the

consolidated financial statements.
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Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

NSNS

—H— N\ /=4
/ N\ /o

b IIE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 22024412431 H1EF/Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

FUAREAB
Non-
Share Share Statutory Other ~ Share option Exchange Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests equity
[ KHER EEHE AR BRESH EREE RHER Mt FEEEE e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABRTR  ABRTR  ARMTRE  ARMTR  ABRTR  ARMTR  ABRTR  AERTRT  ARRTR  ABKTR
At 1 January 2024 R202451R81A 9,770 93,270 10,606 21,094 5217 (2,260) (5,301) 138,456 5,352 143,808
Loss for the year ENER - - - - - - (24,110 (24,110) (5,346) (30,056)
Other comprehensive income ~ Xf2EkA
Bxchange difference arising on BERINEREL ERER
franslation of foreign operations,  NBEHE
net of nil tax - - - - - (1,851) - (1,851) - (1,851)
Reclassification adjustment on HERBAARREEE
exchange resenve released upon B M{ELM BN HEER
disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - 2,187 - 2,181 - 2,187
Total other comprehensive income— FRE M2 B
for the year - - - - - 336 - 336 - 336
Total comprenensive expensefor - N2 ERREE
the year - - - - - 33 (24,710) (24,374) (5,346) (29,720)
Transactions with owners HEFANZS
Issug of shares through share placing  EBRHEEZTRE
(Note 24(@)(i) E2408)0) 1,699 14,775 = = = = = 16,474 - 16,474
Lapse of share options (Note 25) - - - - (184) - 184 - - -
Cancellation of share options (Note 25) 4 = - - - (5,093) - 4,480 (613) - (613)
Non-controlling interests arising on
acquisition of subsiciaries (Note 33(0}) i3y - - - - - - - - 3,469 3469
1,699 14,775 = = (5.217) = 4,664 15,861 3469 19,330
At 31 December 2024 R2024%128 318 11,469 108,045 10,606 27,094 = (1,924) (25,347) 129,943 3475 133,418

HEREBZEREBARAT/ — T —PUFFH
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity «oninea
feo A i SE AT o )

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z20244F 12531 H IEF/Z

Attributable to owners of the Company
LN IN

Retained
eamings/ Non-
Share Share Statutory Other  Share option Bxchenge  (accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Sub-total nterests Total equity
e R &R EERE EfhiE b e ERGE gt SAES B

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB OOD RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARETR  ARETRL  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

At 1 January 2023 R2023%181R 8139 62920 10,606 27,09 5207 82 2130 144,008 - 144,008
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (34431) (34431) %8 (34,163

Other comprehensive income X2 &S
Exchange difference arising on BEIEREL /B AR
translation of foreign operations,  MBEHE
net of nil tax - - - - - (3102 - (3102 - (3102)

Total otfher comprenensive expense SRR B2 EE R LE
forthe year - - - - - (3102 - (3,102 - (3102

Total comprehensive expensefor - SRR ERRLE
the year - - - - - (102 (1431 [375%) 28 37263

Transactions with owners HEFANZS

Issu of shares through share BEROEERARG
placing (Note 24(a)) (Wz£246) () 1631 303% - - - - - 31981 - 31,981
Non-controlling interests arisingon ~ RAGEHBABIMELH
acquisition of subsidiaries SERRRIER (W 330)
(Note 33(c)) - - - - - - - N 5084 5,084
1,631 30350 - - - - - 31,981 5,084 37,065
At 31 December 2023 R20235128318 9710 93210 10,606 27,09% 5217 (2,260) (5,300 138,45 5352 143,808

The notes on page 135 to 274 are on integral part of the consolidated 13552748 BT TEARER A BTG HRER ) — 205 ©
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
an\ fﬁi}ﬁ;%_%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 22024412431 H1EF/Z

2024 2023
20245 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Hiat AR®TT AREFT
Operating activities BEED
Cash used in operations KEFTAIR S 30(a) (31,056) (33,485)
Income tax paid EATFSH (448) (333)
Net cash used in operating BETDMARESRHE
activities (31,504) (33,818)
Investing activities ﬂ?%i
Interest received from bank deposits  $R1TERFTEHE 761 1,052
Interest received from third parties F£= Eﬁﬁ ﬂ 1,743 5,844
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE  BELXHE
equipment (1,280) (545)
Purchase of land use rights BE (10,348) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BE REED
plant and equipment FriS kI8 139 1,734
Repayment of loan receivables from  EERUE=HER
third parties 21,500 11,405
Deposit refunded for investment in IR AT ER ABZE
financial asset at fair value through SREERERONEZES
profit or loss = 6,898
Net cash inflow from acquisition of WEEMT B AR MR FERA
subsidiaries 33 - 1,426
Net cash outflow from disposal of L E M B A R AR ST R
subsidiaries 33(a) (1.217) -
Placement of time deposit with FREEISHEBBE=MAN
original maturity over three months EHIE (10,000) -
Net cash generated from BRETEBREHBH
investing activities 1,298 27,814

SEEAREREBARAT / ~ T NEFH 133
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows continvea
A ESRER®

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 22024412831 H 1 F/E

2024 2023
20245 2023 F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Hiat AR®TRT AREFT
Financing activities BEEE
Principal element of lease rental paid A SRS KRS BH 30(b) (9,256) (3,899)
Interest element of lease rental paid YNBERESHN D 30(b) (968) (501)
Interest paid on bank and other STERAT I EAth fE RN S
borrowings 30(b) (3,003) (556)
Proceeds from share placing, net of B 15 FRE B P15 308
direct costs Mk B A 24(a) 16,474 31,981
Payment of cancellation of share EX LG A 0K EAN
options 25 (613) -
Proceeds from bank and other HRIT N H M A8 SR PRS FRIR
borrowings 30(b) 6,420 4,580
Repayment of bank and other ERIRIT REAER
borrowings 30(b) (8,238) (2,564)
Net cash generated from MEETBRERSERE
financing activities 816 29,041
Net (decrease)/increase in HeRHRSEBEWM(RD) 18
cash and cash equivalents ] (29,390) 23,037
Cash and cash equivalents at the FOReRREEEY
beginning of the year 78,026 55,530
Effect of foreign exchange rate [ER S B2
changes 1,087 (541)
cash and cash equivalents at FRALRBCEED
the end of the year 20 49,723 78,026
The notes on pages 135 to 274 are on integral part of the  F135E274B MM TEK LG A P FEHREN—D

consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Yues International Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its issued shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The registered address of the Company is
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.

The principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong has been changed from Room 3, 5/F., United
Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong to Office
C, 23rd Floor, Centre Mark I, 305-313 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong with effect from 27 May 2024. The
principal place of business of the Company in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") is Units 1301 and 1302,
13/F., Citic Plaza, N0.233, Tianhe Road North, Guangzhou, the
PRC.

The Company is an investment holding company and together
with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of transportation, warehousing, in-
plant logistics and customisation services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Renminbi (“RMB’000"), unless otherwise stated.
The consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the board of directors of the Company on 28 March
2025.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE ISR R M T

—R&ER
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ERESHESIMATAERRBR AT -
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AI(TBRRRR]) £« RA Rt &
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box
1350, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontinved
A TS RA M T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a summary of material accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The consolidated
financial statements are prepared for the Group consisting of
the Company and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(a)

(b)

Compliance with HKFRSs, HKCO and Listing
Rules

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards, which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSS"), Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASS") and interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622 of the laws of Hong Kong) ("HKCO"). These
consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

Measurement basis

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL") and contingent consideration payable for
business combination, which are measured at fair
values.

The preparation of consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or the areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A R RE I s

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c)

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The following amended HKFRSs are adopted for the
financial year beginning 1 January 2024, but have
no material effect on the Group's reported results
and financial position for the current and prior
accounting periods.

HKAS 1 (Revised) (Amendments), Presentation
of Financial Statements

. HKAS 7 (Amendments), Statement of Cash
Flows — HKFRS 7 (Amendments), Financial
Instruments: Disclosures

. HKFRS 16 (Amendments), Leases

. HK Interpretation 5 (Revised), Presentation
of Financial Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

The Group has not early adopted any new or
amended HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the
current accounting period.

2
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(d) New standards, amendments and
interpretations not yet adopted

The following new accounting standards and
interpretations have been published but are not
mandatory for 31 December 2024 reporting periods
and have not been early adopted by the Group.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

RAUEERBEAETBE®

2.1 GRBIEE (@)

(d)

M ARBRAM TR - BET A
kBeE

T S5 A RAED A
5+ HE I FE 7R 2024 612 A 31
B3R & B R Bl AR - TR
RERMBEERD -

Effective for
annual periods
beginning

on or after
RTH &=

Z &R
FERHMEN

Amendments to HKAS 21
BB EFHERFE 2157 (IBFTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

BRI wEERE IR R
BB BMERERE 75 (BETA)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

BAMGRELENEIRRES
Mg mEERIE 7595 (BRI A)

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards
ARV B REGTER(BETA)

HKFRS 18
BB IEHRELERE 1857

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

BB EwEERE 105 &
BB GETERIE 2858 (1BETA)

138  Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

Lack of Exchangeability
Rz it

1 January 2025
202541818

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments
BT EDBEHEGTEMER]

1 January 2026

202651 A1 H

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent

Electricity
WK A RREREEBNHEL

1 January 2026

20261 A1H

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

BRWHRESHEUNFRLE —F 111

1 January 2026
20261 A81H
Presentation and Disclosure in Financial

Statements
MBEHRENE MR

1 January 2027

20271 A1H

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be determined
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
KEEEEBENANEERRIZEZ

BELEIERA

N

FE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A R RE I s

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(d)

New standards, amendments and
interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standards
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all these new
and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”, which sets out requirements
on presentation and disclosures in financial
statements, will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation
of Financial Statements”. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward
many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces
new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit
or loss; provide disclosures on management-
defined performance measures in the notes to
the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed
in the financial statements. In addition, some
HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS
8 "Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors” and HKFRS 7 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosure”. Minor amendments to
HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows” and HKAS 33
"Earnings per Share” are also made.

2 mUEERBAETFBE®

2.1 YRBIELAE ()

(d)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

AR

L

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(d) New standards, amendments and
interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027, with early application permitted.
The application of the new standard is expected
to affect the presentation of the statement of
profit or loss and disclosures in the future financial
statements. The Group in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

2.2 Subsidiaries and consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date when control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for business combinations by the Group (refer to Note
2.3).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontined
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2

2.3

Subsidiaries and consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of financial
position respectively.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, a
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or 10ss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified or
permitted by applicable HKFRSS.

Business combination

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary comprises the:

. fair value of the assets transferred,

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired entity,

o equity interests issued by the Group,

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

AR

L

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.3 Business combination (continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are,
with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

. consideration transferred,

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than
the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a
similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent
financier under comparable terms and conditions.
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or
as a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial
liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T E

N

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

24

2.5

Business combination (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment in the separate financial statements of
the Company. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiaries in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investments in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision maker
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors, who makes strategic
decisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A IS RERM 5T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is
the functional currency of the Company and
presentation currency of the Group.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates
are generally recognised in profit or loss. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on a net
basis within “other income, gains and losses, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair values are reported as part
of the fair value gain or l0ss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T E

B BHRRM T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

o assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position,

. income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions),
and

o all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities and of borrowings are recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part
of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or
loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

AR

L

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation and impairment losses, if any.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the consolidated income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Construction in progress (“CIP") represents buildings
and other structures under construction and is stated at
cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost
includes the costs of construction of buildings, interest
charges and foreign exchange gain/loss arising from
borrowings used to finance these assets during the
period of construction. No provision for depreciation
is made on CIP until such time as the relevant assets
are completed and ready for the intended use. When
the assets concerned are brought into use, the costs
are transferred to specific item of property, plant and
equipment and depreciated over their expected useful
lives.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A R RE I s

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2 EREERSEASHERR@®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 27 M - BB KREE @

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their costs, net of their residual values, over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Plant and machinery

Furniture and equipment ~ 20% per annum

Office equipment 20%-33% per annum

Leasehold improvements  Over the shorter of
remaining lease term or
20% per annum

20% per annum

20%—33% per annum

Motor vehicles

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.9).

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within “other income, gains and losses,
net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

Goodwill
Goodwill is measured as described in Note 2.3.

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included
in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised
but it is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity
sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation
is made to those cash-generating units or groups
of cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the business combination in which
the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units
are identified at the lowest level at which goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes,
being the operating segments.

Customer relationships

Customer relationships acquired arising from a
business combination are recognised at fair value
at the acquisition date. They have a finite useful
life and are subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A TS RERM 5T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

RAUBEERBAETBE®

29 EEMEERME

Goodwill is not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for improvement or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. Other non-financial assets (including property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible
assets with finite useful life) are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
the end of each reporting period.

2.10Investments and other financial assets

(@) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss) , and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's business

model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(@

(b)

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in debt
instruments, this will depend on the business model
in which the investment is held. For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income.

See Note 28 for details of each type of financial
assets.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T E

N

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

()

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or 10ss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in “other income,
gains and losses, net” using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in “other income,
gains and losses, net” together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in
the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.10Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

(c)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI"): Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, where the
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised
in "other income, gains and losses, net”.
Interest income from these financial assets is
calculated using the effective interest method
and foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in “other income, gains and losses,
net” and impairment expenses are presented
as separate line item in profit or 10ss.

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that
do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or
FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or 10ss
on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL and presented net in
profit or loss within “other income, gains and
losses, net” in the period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T E

B BHRRM T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

()

(d)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group's right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in “other income, gains and losses,
net” in profit or loss.

Credit losses and impairment

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses ("ECLS"”) on the financial
assets measured at amortised cost (including
trade and other receivables, loan and interest
receivables, rental deposits, amounts due from a
non-controlling shareholder and a director, time
deposit with original maturity over three months
and cash and cash equivalents).

Measurement of ECLS

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as
the present value of all expected cash shortfalls
between the contractual and expected amounts,
discounted at the original effective interest rate,
where the effect of discounting is material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

b2 & BT IS SR B S on

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(d) Credit losses and impairment (Continued)
Measurement of ECLS (Continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

. 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of
ECLs that result from default events that
are possible within the 12 months after the
reporting date (or a shorter period if the
expected life of the instrument is less than 12
months); and

. lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T E

N

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(d)

Credit losses and impairment (Continued)
Measurement of ECLS (Continued)

For all other financial assets measured at amortised
cost, the Group recognises a loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the financial
asset since initial recognition, in which case the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLSs.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument (including a loan commitment)
has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when measuring ECLs, the group considers
reasonable and supportable information that
is relevant and available without undue cost
or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based on
the Group's historical experience and informed
credit assessment, that includes forward-looking
information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in
default when the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by
the Group to actions such as realising security (if
any is held).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

AR

L

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.10Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(d)

Credit losses and impairment (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the
ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

o significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or
being more than 90 days past due;,

. the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
group on terms that the group would not
consider otherwise,

. it is probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;,
or

. the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A R RE I s

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(d)

Credit losses and impairment (Continued)
Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which
the recovery occurs.

2.110ffsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

AR

L

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services provided in the ordinary course of business.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contains significant financing components, in which
case they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the trade receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. See Note
2.10 for further information about the Group's accounting
for trade receivables and Note 2.10(d) for a description of
the Group’s impairment policies.

If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

2.13Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.14Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 24(a)).
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A TS RERM 5T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2 EREERERSTEHE#E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.15Trade and other payables 215 B 5 K B M e~ 5RIB

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables
are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not
due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are
recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

2.16Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are derecognised when the obligations
specified in the contract is extinguished, cancelled or
expired.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at
the end of the reporting period, the Group has a right
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17Borrowings costs
Borrowing costs include interest expenses and finance
charges in respect of lease. They are recognised in

consolidated statement of profit or 10ss in the period in
which they are incurred.

2.18Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based
on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

(@

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation and considers
whether it is probable that a taxation authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group
measures its tax balances either based on the most
likely amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.18Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right
to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

2.19Employee benefits

(a)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in
respect of employees’ services up to the end of
the reporting period, and they are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled. The liabilities are presented as current
employee benefit obligations in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T E

N

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Other long-term employee benefit obligations

The liabilities for annual leaves that are not
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service. They are therefore
measured as the present value of expected future
payments to be made in respect of services
provided by employees up to the end of the
reporting period using the projected unit credit
method. Consideration is given to expected future
wage and salary levels, experience of employee
departures and periods of service. Expected future
payments are discounted using market yields at
the end of the reporting period of high-quality
corporate bonds with terms and currencies that
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future
cash outflows. Remeasurements as a result of
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognised in profit or l0ss.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position
if the entity does not have a right, at the end of
the reporting period, to defer settlement for at
least twelve months after the reporting period,
regardless of when the actual settlement is
expected to occur.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.19Employee benefits (continued)

(c)

(d)

Post-employment obligations

The Group operates defined contribution plans
which are available for all employees in the PRC
and overseas offices, where applicable.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the
PRC are members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the government of the
PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit scheme is to make the
specified contributions under the schemes. During
both current and prior years, the total amounts
contributed by the Group to the scheme and
charged to the profit or 10ss represent contributions
paid/payable to the scheme by the Group at rate
specified in the rules of the scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before
the normal retirement date, or when an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a)
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises
costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of
HKAS 37 and involves the payment of terminations
benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage
voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits
are measured based on the number of employees
expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting
period are discounted to present value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A TS RERM 5T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20Share-based payments

RAUBEERBAETBE®

2.20 B 17 EEAST 3K

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

The Group operates an equity-settled share-based
compensation plan, under which the entity receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense with a
corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of
the options granted:

J including any market performance conditions (for
example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining as an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting conditions
(for example, the requirement for employees to
save or holding shares for a specified period of
time).

Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over
the vesting period, which is the period over which all of
the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

After vesting, when the share options are forfeited or
repurchased by the Company prior to the expiry date
or are not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the “share option reserve” will
be transferred to the “Retained earnings” within the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

AR

L

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions
(Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that are expected
to vest based on the non-marketing vesting conditions.
It recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the consolidated income statement,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital (nominal value) and share premium.

2.21Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A R RE I s

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21Revenue recognition (continued)

RAUBEERBAETBE®

221 W ER (8)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

J the Group's performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.21Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

Transportation service, warehousing service
and in-plant logistics service

Transportation service represents delivery of the
customers’ inventory to their downstream clients,
manufacturing plants and/or designated locations.
The transportation services cover across the PRC
and Egypt.

Warehousing service represents provision of
inventory storage and management services in
the Group’s warehouses located in the PRC with
specified physical conditions.

In-plant logistics service represents provision of
wide-range of in-house services at customers’
manufacturing plants to integrate the production
processes, which cover the management of
the movements of (a) production materials
and components and work-in-progress to the
production lines within the manufacturing plants
of the customers of the Group; and (b) delivery of
finished goods to the factory gates of the relevant
customers deployed by staff of the Group at its
customers' manufacturing plants.

Revenue from the from the provision of the
transportation service, warehousing service and
in-plant logistics service is recognised over time
when the Group provides the services and all of the
benefits are received and consumed simultaneously
by the customer throughout its contract period.
Thus, the Group satisfies a performance obligation
and recognised revenue over time and the Group
has present right to payment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T E

N

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21Revenue recognition (continued)

(b)

(c)

Customisation service

Customisation service represents provision of
labelling services (i.e. sticking labels onto the
surface of the inventory according to customers'’
instructions) and the bundling services (i.e.
bundling the inventory to facilitate handling and
transportation) generally provided inside the
Group’s warehouses.

Revenue from customisation service is recognised
at a point in time when the customers accept
the services and the Group has present right to
payment and collection of the consideration is
probable.

Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset except for financial assets
that subsequently become credit-impaired. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

b2 & BT IS SR B S on

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.22Earnings/loss per share
(a) Basic earnings/loss per share

Basic earnings/loss per share is calculated by
dividing:

o the profit/loss attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares

. by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year and excluding
treasury shares.

(b) Diluted earnings/loss per share

Diluted earnings/loss per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic earnings/loss
per share to take into account:

° the after-income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares, and

. the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

170  Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

2

RAUEERBEAETBE®

2.2 BREAEE

(@

(b)

SRERRF, B
BREREF FIBIIEAT
FREE

e ARDAHEEAEMNE
F/ ER(TeELEak
A S A A BR 7% 42 1 BX
)

o BRUAMBEEARKRET
TR (e
FABBTEAEBRAAR
ERELFERMGE
TFRR) ©

SREBRA,HA
SREEAT FRAREE
SREARF], BRI
Sy E R

. BERELBRABR
Q&HM@§&$m%
SEBTE

. BREMBEEH ST A
f& & S s R EITH
BN I AR A hn i 15
o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A TS RERM 5T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23Leases

RAUBEERBAETBE®

223F&E

The Group, as a lessee, assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception of the contract. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component and are accounted for by applying other
applicable standards.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets (such as tablets
and personal computers, small items of office furniture
and telephones). Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2 mEEEREASHEE®
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.23Leases (continued) 223ME #)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term. When the Group obtains
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term, upon exercising purchase options, the
cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the related
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss are
transferred to property, plant and equipment. The Group
presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Land use rights

The cost of acquiring land use rights under an operating
lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period
of the lease term. Impairment losses are recognised in
accordance with accounting policy set out in Note 2.9.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2 EREERERSTEHE#E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23Leases (continued) 223 & #)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option
to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontined

54 B S SRR TS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23Leases (continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use

assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option,
in which the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

a lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease (see below for the accounting policy for “lease
modifications”).

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A R RE I s

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2 EREERSEASHERR@®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23Leases (continued) 223 & #)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

J the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability,
less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use assets. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate standalone
price of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

AR

L

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

2.24Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the consolidated financial statements in
the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company'’s shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

Dividend proposed or declared after the reporting period
but before the consolidated financial statements are
authorised for issue, are disclosed as a non-adjusting
event and are not recognised as a liability at the end of
the reporting period.

2.25Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions. Government grants relating to
costs are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over
the period necessary to match them with the costs they
are intended to compensate. Government grants that
become receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred are recognised as income of the
period in which they become receivable.

2.26Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of
money is material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T E

AU THREM T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.27Related parties

@)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(0)

(if)

(i)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

T E

SMTREM T

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.27Related parties (continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(v)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides personnel services
to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T E

B BHRRM T

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including price, foreign exchange
and interest rate), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group's overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effect on the Group's financial
performance.

(@) Market risk

0]

(i)

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the fair value of
the Group’s financial assets at FVPL will
fluctuate as a result of changes in significant
unobservable input as stated in Note 3.3(a),
whether those changes are caused by factors
specific to the individual investment or factors
affecting all instruments in the market.

In arriving at the fair value of the financial
assets at FVPL , the Group may use valuation
technigues which require the estimation of
key variables. Details of the valuation method
and the sensitivity analysis for the possible
impact given a reasonable shift in the key
variable are set out in Note 3.3.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group holds monetary assets or liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, which
can be affected by currency fluctuations and
expose to currency risks.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should
the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A WIS RR N

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(@

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group's currency risk is mainly
attributable to exposure on outstanding
bank balances and trade receivables that
are denominated in currencies other than
functional currency of the entities within the
Group. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily United States dollar ("USD").

The following table details the Group’s
exposure at the end of the reporting period to
currency risk arising from recognised assets
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the
amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB,
translated using the spot rate at the year end
date.

3 sEEARERE#)
3.1 srEREEE)
@@ TEER ()

(i) SNERR ()
AEBNEERBRTS
BRERUAEEE R
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REMBITEBRES
FE U 2O R R o B A
HERMEE B AE
7T (%))

TRANAEBRHE
HIRFPH R AR B 88
DEEER AN T’ G
BENEEREEMEL
WEBRE- - 25
FRBSEUARE
SR - A HRAFHEEN
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Exposure to foreign
currencies (expressed in RMB)

ShEERBE (LARBES)
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
United United
States States
Dollars Dollars
=TT ETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT
Trade and other receivables B 5 REMERFA 22,846 6,383
Cash and cash equivalents B RIBELEEYD 480 4,209
Exposure arising from BEREEEENRR
recognised assets 23,326 10,592
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3 sEEAREE#)
3.1 srEREZE®E)

(@) Market risk (Continued) (@) TWHEE(E)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) shERSE (4E)
The following table details the Group’'s TRFAWAEEHAR
sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in MHBEINEEART
RMB against the relevant foreign currency. PR5% ) B B% JZ o 5% 1K
5% represents management’s assessment REBEHINEEES
of the reasonably possible change in foreign PRI RE # E AT 1E - B8
exchange rate. The sensitivity analysis REDMEBTEKRER
includes only outstanding foreign currency INEFEE®IER - I
denominated monetary items and adjusts %i&iﬁﬁﬂi?fs%ﬁﬁﬁl\“
their translation at the end of the reporting RPHFHEHBRE -
period for a 5% change in foreign currency L/\T'E\%(?%/f\#&%:,ﬁﬂl?\?
rate. A negative number below indicates an i A R K AN T
increase in post-tax loss for the reporting B5% - RIBRBi1& 51815
period where RMB strengthens 5% against 0o fim A K 5 FE #E A
the relevant foreign currency. For a 5% HEBZ (B 5% @ BIBRTI1& 3
weakening of RMB against the relevant BEERFIERTE -
foreign currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the post-tax results.
2024 2023
2024 2023
Increase/ Effecton Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) results (decrease) results
in foreign  after tax in foreign after tax
exchange and equity exchange  and equity
rate RMB’000 rate RMB'000
FRiRE BBz
BER BiEx
SRR wEET SN REBAF
i+ :of 7 RS b7
(FER) AER%®TXT (TR’) ARBTT
usD 7T 5% 875 5% 442
(5%) (875) (5%) (442)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily
from time deposit with original maturity
over three months, cash at banks, loan
receivables, contingent consideration payable
for business combination and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings. Bank deposits
and borrowings issued at variable rates and
loan receivables, contingent consideration
payable for business combination, and
borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value
interest rate risk respectively.

In the opinion of the directors of the
company, the interest income derived from
the cash at banks is insignificant and the
Group’s income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes
in market interest rates. Accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis is performed.

The Group has not used any financial
instrument to hedge the interest rate risk
that it is exposed to currently. However, the
management of the Group monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise.
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3 sEEARERE#)
3.1 srEREEE)
@@ TEER ()

(iii)

FEE
AEBONXER T2
KERIHARES =

AHEBRER - /TR
T BEREN EBA

Gl A F P
BRITREMEBR - &
SRR EBEITHRITE
REER BRER
EBAHEMNIARE
RAZEE M R BOE
K B AN 5 18] T B 3R
EREMNEXER K QF
EFRER

ARABEERRE  RIT
BeEENNBRAL
TEX MAEEHK
ARBEREREAK
RIS R EF) o
F L - I AETT R
DT

REBEREBERA S B
T AASHEE 5l H b
B L o AT - AR
SEEEEERMNEXME
B UEREFEERS
B E AN E @R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A TS RERM 5T

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

@)

SRERERE @)
31 eREREZE@E)
(@) TBEER ()
(i) FIEmB (F)

Interest rate profile (i FIEHR
The Group's interest rate profile as NEHEREBER
monitored by management is set out ZREBRE S 50
below: T
2024 2023
2024 20234
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate rate
% RMB'000 % RMB'000
ERAE%) AERBTRT ZBRANE% ARETT
Fixed rate financial 2 &RTH
instruments
Time deposit with REIERER
original maturity =X SR
overthree months  FEATERR 1.9% 10,000 N/ATiEA -
Loan receivables FEE R 6%-12% 17,892 6%-12% 46,192
Contingent EBAER
consideration HARE
payable for business
combination N/ATREHR - 4.75% (8,115)
Other borrowings Hib % 6% (2,890) 6% 2,915)
25,002 35,162
Variable rate FREMIA
financial
instruments
Bank borrowings RITEN 8.60% (47,894) 8.92% (49,687)
Net exposure RIS (22,892) (14,525)

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2024, it is estimated
that a general increase/decrease of
50 basis point in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would
increase/decrease the Group’s 10ss
after tax and accumulated losses by
approximately RMB180,000 (2023:
RMB186,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates
the instantaneous change in the
Group's loss after tax and accumulated
losses that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the end of
the reporting period and had been
applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk at the end of the reporting
period. The 50 basis point increase or
decrease represents management'’s
assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the period
until the next annual reporting period.
The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2023.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

3 SRERERE®

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

3.1 srEREEE)
@) TEERE)
(i) FIRER (F)

(i)

BREDT

MR 2024F 12 A 31
H - A Hitn &
ERPFIEHER
T MAEEELE
F /T FE50E &
B A AEES
MieEE R R E
BG4
A R #180,0007T
(20234 : AR #&
186,000 7T) °

BA_L ) BUBBE 1
LR IELE
W EBR D B
o WEEARE
et EARENTR
SR
£ RS A ER
XRBHNES@MI
A BIAEEBH
EEER AR
Y BNEF & 8 o 501
HE T E R
BEEET—F
4 BRI A T
R M A IR X
BEH T - AR
DT 0 B 2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

e

B BHRRM T

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk
refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on
its contractual obligations resulting in a financial
loss to the Group. The Group's credit risk primarily
arises from trade receivables, loan and interest
receivables, deposits, other receivables, amount
due from a director, amount due from a non-
controlling shareholder, time deposit with original
maturity over three months and cash at banks.

The Group’'s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group in the
event of the counterparties failure to perform their
obligations as at the end of the reporting period in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of these assets which are
stated as follows:

3 SERARERE®)

3.1
(b)

TRIARREZE®)

FERE
EERBEZEEELEER - (3
ERBE: T?E@&é%@%ﬁ‘%

EYAREEBMFEROER
AEBENEERREZRA
B 5 RWHIR - B E R F
B e HMEWFIE &
W—REERIEA BRI
ERBERFR - REHABS
=EAMERFREIRITRE

i3 F 7RI E R AKRBEET
HEMF AAKERSECHE
REMEEMEY HEHARE
BELAMBEBERENESEER
BRREEENREE - #7)
W

2024 2023

20245 2023 F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBT T

Trade receivables B 5 W IE 67,832 39,913

Other receivables H i EURIE 3,279 1,082

Loan and interest receivables EREREFE 18,635 46,192

Rental deposits Heke 3,602 5,710

Amount due from a director Bl —ZEEHIE 110 -

Amount due from a non-controlling &l — & FE3E A% AR R =X

shareholder 30,048 32,121
Time deposit with original maturity ERZ|Hi A #8:@ =& 7 &

over three months TFHATERR 10,000 -

Bank balances RITHE R 49,670 77,989

183,176 203,007

Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

EEECHECERK  XFF

BERZEEERR -

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A IS RERM 5T

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, management
is responsible for the determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue trade receivables. Normally, the Group
does not hold any collateral over trade receivables.
In addition, individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. Trade receivables
are generally due within 0 to 150 days (2023: 0 to
150 days) from the date of billing.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk from
trade receivables from certain customers. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the top customer
accounted for approximately 22% (2023: 39%) of
the Group's revenue. As at 31 December 2024, 36%
(2023: 16%) and 54% (2023: 45%) of the total trade
debtors was due from the largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix.
As the Group's historic credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.
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3 sEEARERE#)
31 eptRREZE )

(b)

FERRE(E)
B SN E
REFEEERR  EEERE

HEEERTE  FERILEE
fh BEIEFE b - DAREIREREUIR i
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ME S EBFIERE EAMER
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FPREPBEZ A EBFED
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BREPHEEEAMNUREYR
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Ko BHEYGRIE— MR EE
A H# £ 5F0E 150 B (2023 4F -
0£150H) AEIH] -

AEBHBGREETEPHNE
SEBFENEFREERR
HE2024F12A31HILEFE -
BREPIHAREERAL22%
(20234 : 39%) o P 2024 4F 12
A3E B &ZAEFP LT
K% P BB 5 Bl G B BR X
48 %8 1936% (2023 4F : 16%) &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The following tables provide information about the
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade

3 sEEAREE#)
3.1 srEREZE®E)

(b)

FERRE(E)
B SN ()

TERE B B S B R 2024 F
12 A3 HHEEHNE S RIGE

receivables as at 31 December 2024: HEERKREBEHEEEEBN
Ert
Gross Net
Expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
mRGRE IRE#E BiIRE R REZE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
% ARETT ARETT AE%TR
Current (not past due) — ENHA (k@ EA) 0.00% 55,748 2 55,746
1to 30 days pastdue  #@HI1Z30H 0.00% 8,964 —* 8,964
31to 60 days pastdue #EI31E60H 0.33% 1,796 (6) 1,790
6110 90 days past due  #@HI61 =90 H 5.38% 130 7) 123
More than 90 days BWHAIS0 A £

past due 62.78% 3,249 (2,040) 1,209
69,887 (2,055) 67,832

* Below RMB1,000.

As at 31 December 2024, expected loss rates are
based on actual loss experience in current year.
These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.

* ERARH1,0007T ©

2024512 4318 - 78 B &
T§T<E$E?F$¢FQZ?WXE
TE BEBSH - ZFLLERLE

’ LA&%EE&%&EH&Z%%F&
E’]Z&EHK‘}R - B AT AR
B 5t e W SOR TR A iR A AR
RN BEZ B ER o

HEREBZEREBARAT/ — T —PUFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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A BTSN T

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, based on the historic
data, current conditions and the Group’s view
of economic conditions over the expected lives
of the trade receivables, the directors of the
Company have considered the credit risk of trade
receivables and note that there was no actual
loss nor significant past due experience over the
past 3 years, including periods of unfavourable
economic conditions. The directors considered the
aggregate risks arising from the possibility of credit
loss on trade receivables was not significant and

3 sEEARERE#)
3.1 srEREEE)

(b)

EERK(E)

B Z W E (E)
M2023%E12A318 - B & E
SHE - ERIMARAEEY
B Z RN IETE R F LR
R EE - AQ Té%a%
BE P REBHIERNEER
WEBIRBE= E(’T%T
F 4 AR 0 B R ) 3 4 R S
BRERBHLER E=R
" BHRERWRIEBEEEEER
BREHEEEANBRRIETERX -
MR 2023612 A31 A I £ 1

no allowance for credit losses were made as at 31 HIEEEERE -
December 2023.
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect FAEBE S EUGIAERNEE
of trade receivables during the year is as follows: BERZEHOT
RMB'000
AREEF T
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 20231818 ~2023F 12 A31H
and 1 January 2024 2024 1H1H -
Impairment loss recognised BRI ERE 2,055
At 31 December 2024 202412 A31H 2,055
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
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AU THREM T

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.
To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the asset as at the end of the
reporting period with the risk of default as at the
date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

. internal credit rating;

° external credit rating (as far as available); and

° actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the counterparties’
ability to meet its obligations

3 sEEAREE#)
3.1 srEREZE®E)

(b)

FERRE(E)

BB IEX A BRI R M2 B E
E
AEBREREHEFES B
ML EREER HERONH
EREERBEBAEEN -
SRABEERRE S KEE
e AEERRBERREE
HIRIE QR0 AL B R FERR A
HIHREOWERLES S E
ZRAGHEEBABEN
RIEIEER - LEMAATIE
=

o ABEMEERAE:

o HMBEENR(RTRE
B R

J X MBS BRI
KB R ok T8 i E KT F)
Sy MmMBREHRYE T E
TEANENEBAERKR

#wh
=
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A WIS RR N

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

A summary of the assumptions underpinning the
Group’s ECL model is as follows:

Category
A

Definition of category
MRz ER

cRERERE®)
31 RtREREZE@
(b) FEERE)
R AR EE 2 BB
E ()
AEMBEHEEEHEERER
ZBERET -

Basis for recognition of
ECL provision
ERENEEGRBEREE

Stage 1

Eri 124

Stage 2

FEER

Stage 3

FFEER

Exposures where there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and that are not
credit-impaired upon origination.
BRERLAREE @ AR K@
BEABREREERENRR -

Exposures where there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition but are not credit-
impaired.
BRERAREERR D K@M
EREHREERMBENREE

Exposures are assessed as credit-
impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that
asset have occurred.
BEAE-IARZIESMH - HEENMGE
KERBEnEEEEELER  ARR
FHERIEERIE

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

Portion of the lifetime ECL associated
with the probability of default events
occurring within the next 12 months is
recognised.

TERELR R 1218 A A3 A Z N E a9
e AR K ATEHEEE B S

Lifetime expected losses (i.e. reflecting
the remaining lifetime of the financial
asset) is recognised.

HRKATEHER AR/ EESRT
FH) -

Lifetime expected losses is recognised
and interest revenue is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost (net of provision)
rather than the gross carrying amount.
7@ ST SRR (MR B ) (T FERR M 42
18) A BRI = m iRk A TE B S 180
FTEN SN -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

Loan and interest receivables

The Group manages and analyses the credit risk for
each of their new borrowers before making loans
to them and offering the terms and conditions.
The directors of the Company would evaluate the
credit quality of the borrower by assessing the
identity, background, financial position, purpose
of borrowings, etc. The Group may request for
collateral after granting the loan, if necessary.
The Group does not provide any guarantees
which would expose the Group to credit risk.
Over the terms of the loans, management of the
Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately
providing for ECLs on a timely basis by reference
to each of the borrower's financial capabilities and
their repayment history, and adjust with current
and forward-looking economic conditions.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding loan
receivables were from the loans made to four (2023:
seven) third parties.

Loans to the top borrower and top five borrowers
constituted 28% and 100% (2023: 15% and 75%) of
the Group’s loan and interest receivables balance
respectively as at 31 December 2024.

The Group rebutted the presumption of default
under ECL model for loan and interest receivables
over 90 days past due and set the criteria for
default as over 180 days past due based on good
repayment records for those loan borrowers
having continuous business with the Group. They
are assessed individually based on their probability
of default and exposure of default with reference
to historical credit loss experience, adjusted by
current and forward-looking factors.

3

3.1

EREREE &)
TRIARREZE®)
(b) EERRF)

BB IEX A BRI R M2 B E
E (#8)
FEWE R F S
AREBR R & RALE L &K
& 1!%?K&ﬂ%1¢ﬁﬁ%£§&%
FRESEENEERR - AR
AEE /A BN %?&U\E’J%
- B BBRRNERE
MEFEERANEEER -
MEFRE  AEEAIREHE
AR EREHRERSD - AEE
T\a"mﬁ%ﬂ%gézﬁﬁlﬁﬁun =B
BEERER - EERHR
W CAEEERERB2ER
ERAR B 58E 1 R H &R
i REEEMAHERAER
B8 - SRR E AT AIRTIE 1AL
EARUETTAE - REARE
R -

M2024512 310 KB B
JEWE F R B M4 (2023 4F -
tR)BE=ZHEERNER -

2024124318 © KN &
MHRAERARRARERAD
B RIS R E R B
4 £k #928% & 100% (2023 4F
15% K 75%) °

EREAEERFERITESZ
BERERABRLERLT - &
SECHFSHBHA0AZ
RURER R ENRTEREES
BEATBENZBRELETE
BHA180 A LA E My B 49
MiAREEEL TR RED
Rk - E2ERATEERBL
5 UHRBRAEEEZA
BB R EBIFTR -

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

b2 & BT IS SR B S on

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

Loan and interest receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, all the loan and interest
receivable balances were not past due. The
management has reviewed those borrowers with
strong capacity to meet the contractual cash flow
and satisfactory repayment history. The directors
of the Company were of the opinion that aggregate
risks arising from the possibility of credit losses
were not significant and no allowance for credit
losses were made as at 31 December 2023.

Movements in the gross amount of loan and
interest receivables are as follows:

EeHEREE &)
31 eptRREZE )

(b)

EERE(E)

R AT EME S @ E
E (#)

EWERRFE (&)
202312 A31H BT A JE
WE R RF BRI REE -
ERECEMZEEENME
BHHRESTERS ARMBER
SEMERA c RARIEER
B EEBBARMELENE
BRI TEKX - BUR 2023 F
12 A31 B EREEEBHE
B

FE U 2% F S 48 5 B
T

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ol 124 E_REER ESREER #st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTT AREBTT AREBTET
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1H1H 58,587 - - 58,587
Interest accrued F IR RERT AR
during the year 4,478 - - 4,478
Repaid during the year FR1{&&E (17,249) - - (17,249)
Exchange adjustment  [E 5 ;5% 376 - - 376
At 31 December 2023 72023 4F
and 1 January 2024 12A318B X
20241 A1H 46,192 - - 46,192
Interest accrued FARERTNLE
during the year 2,867 = - 2,867
Transfer Lty (7,373) = 7.373 -
Repaid during the year FRER (23,243) = = (23,243)
Exchange adjustment  [& 5 7% 396 - - 396
At 31 December 2024 5220244
12A31H 18,839 - 7,373 26,212
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

2 A BT SRR M S

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuead) 3 SERARERE®)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea) 31 eRtREREZE@®
(b) cCredit risk (Continued) (b) FEEEE)
Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued) LA EM A E
E (&)
Loan and interest receivables (Continued) BRERRAE (&)
An analysis of changes in the corresponding ECL HAESEERRERED S
allowances is as follows: e :
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F—RE® E_REER EREER ot
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFITT ARETFT AREBTT ARETT
At 1 January 2023, M2023F1A1H
31 December 2023 2023 F
and 1 January 2024 12H31B R
20241 81H - - - -
Impairment 10ss EERREEE
recognised (Note) (Htaz) 201 - 7,373 7,574
Exchange adjustment  [& 5 7% 3 - - 3
At 31 December 2024 #2024 4
12H31H 204 - 7,373 7,577

Note: As a result of occurrence of default of a borrower for
which the relevant loan and interest receivables were
past due over 180 days, upon the policy of the Group,
provision for ECLs for the entire balance of approximately
RMB7,373,000 was made during the year, and the
management of the Company has taken a legal action
against this borrower for the recoverability of the debts.

Kiat - R EREKERRFISE B
180H A o —BERAREER
B BRBEREENECK - FAR
2EEBIHRESREEEERE
# AR ¥7,373,0007C AR A
EIEE B HZIERARRA B
BB EERITE -

HEREBZEREBARAT/ — T —PUFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

Time deposit with original maturity over three
months and cash at banks

The credit risk on deposits with banks is limited
because the counterparties are several reputable
and creditworthy banks. Management does not
expect any losses from non-performance by these
banks and financial institutions as they have no
default history in the past. Therefore, expected
credit loss rate of deposits with banks is assessed
to be immaterial and no provision was made as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.

Deposits and other receivables (including
amounts due from a non-controlling shareholder
and a director)

For deposits and other receivables, management
makes periodic collective assessments as well
as individual assessment on the recoverability of
deposits and other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience. These
balances are assessed by the management of
the Group as low risk of default with no indicators
to trigger a significant increase in credit risk nor
deterioration of credit quality, since the relevant
counterparties have strong capacity to meet the
contractual cash flow.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3 SERARERE®)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 eRtEkEEER@®w)
(c) Liquidity risk (c) REBELER
With prudent liquidity risk management, the REEREMETRDE SR
Group aim to maintain sufficient cash and cash RER  BEEMARTENES
equivalents and ensure the availability of funding MEeESEMRERITBEBRR
through an adequate amount of available financing. TRESENGEAIRESR K
It is the policy of the Group to regularly monitor SENSHATHEEEN R
current and expected liquidity requirements and TBERESESF R - WHERE
to ensure that adequate funding is available for ERAMNECRAREE &
operating, investing and financing activities. BERBEEE -
The table below analyses the Group’s non- TRETAEENIEITETE
derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity BE - RREBEND EER
groupings based on the remaining period at the ﬂ?&ﬁﬁa#&iﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ SEpGR=]
end of the reporting period to the contractual RO R BRI T D AT - FER A
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table BENSERE N RMIRD
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. WEME °
At 31 December 2024 720245 12H31H
More than ~ More than Total
Within 1yearbut  2yearshut  contractual
1 year or less than less than undiscounted carrying
on demand 2 years 5years  cash flows amount
BEXY g5 Bl2E Ll
R1ER BFR2%E EFR5E RekERE BEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEWTFT IN: S AE®TT ABRTT AEWTT
Tracle and other payables B 5 RAMERNFE 48,294 = 8,178 56,472 56,472
Bank and other borrowings MARELEREIN
sbject to a repayment on FREMER
demand clause 50,784 - - 50,784 50,784
Lease liabiliies HEAE 11,586 3993 235 15,314 15,286
110,664 3,993 8413 123,070 122,542
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontined

2 A B R B0 2R i S

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3 sEEARERE#)
3.1 srEREEE)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (o) RBELEAKE)
At 31 December 2023 202312 A31H
More than More than Total
Within 1year but 2years but contractual
1year or less than lessthan  undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2years 5years cash flows amount
BEKS BEE BlR2E ANER
RER [ErR2E BARSE  RERELE e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Tracle and other payables BAREMEMNTE 38819 - 8178 4,997 4997
Bank and other borrowings MEREXEREINBRT
Subject to a repayment on REMER
demand clause 52,602 - - 52602 52,602
Lease liabilities HEaE 7,063 4,867 17,615 29,545 25,489
Amount due to a director E-%EZHE 4,581 - - 4,581 4,581
Contingent consideration payable £#%AHEMSARE
for business combination - 9,000 - 9,000 8,115
103,065 13,867 25,793 142,725 137,784

The following table summarises the maturity
analysis of term loans with a repayable on demand
clause based on agreed scheduled repayments
as set out in the loan agreements. The amounts
include interest payments computed using
contractual rates. As a result, these amounts
were greater than the amounts disclosed in the
“on demand” time band in the maturity analysis
contained as above. Taking into account the
Group's financial position, the Group does not
consider that it is probable that the lenders will
exercise its discretion to demand immediate
repayment. The Group believes that such term
loans will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c)

3 sEEAREE#)
3.1 srEREZE®E)
RBE SRR ()

Maturity Analysis — Term loans subject to a repayable on
demand clause based on scheduled repayments
HYE A — EMERREHBERIEEXRERRNR

Total More than ~ More than

contractual 1yearhut  2years but
undiscounted Within less than less than More than
cash flows 1year 2 years 5 years 5 years

SENER BR1E BiR2E
RenERE 15 BRR2% BRR5E Bl5E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ANRETT ANEETT ANREFT
At 31 December 2024 RAUE12A31A 59,676 21,049 10,717 13,064 14,846
At 31 December 2023 RA23E12A318 69,701 12,764 14,558 21,607 20,772

3.2 Capital risk management 32 BEXERER
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to REBPEREBEHRE  2RELEB

safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt plus net new debts.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the gearing

BLALE LB - URPTAE R IR
REMMAERHENE - RNERS&
N ERBEBIAREE R o

RTHRBIHBENER - RNEET
EEEREINTERROBEHE [
BREREEAR BITHRAHEERE
VOB B bz (E7% 558 -

AEBERBEEABRERAEELR

ratio, which is expressed as a percentage of net debt MEEARBERABEIHERINERE
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as the sum FATSE DL - AEFREIRRIEIT
of bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities, amount LEM HEAE BN —REEXK

due to a director and contingent consideration payable
for business combination less the sum of time deposit
with original maturity over three months and cash
and cash equivalents. Total capital represents equity
attributable to owners of the Company as shown on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

BREBE BN AR ELIRE
HABB=EANERFRIALR S
RIRSZEMBNTESD - E448
R AR A MIEHOR R AP AR 2 B
B ARG -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

b2 & BT IS SR B S on

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

(@) Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value

The table below analyses financial instruments
carried at fair value, by level of the inputs to
valuation technigues used to measure fair value.
Such inputs are categorised into three levels within
a fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices

included within level 1 that are
observable for the assets or liabilities,
either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liabilities that
are not based on observable market
data (that is, unobservable inputs).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(@

Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (Continued)

The following table presents the Group's financial
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value

3 SERARERE®)
NSHIEREE e )

(@

RATVEFENSREERE
&(#E)

T & 2 5 8 & B R 2024 F &
2023512 A31 B % A F & &t

at 31 December 2024 and 2023. ENEREENREE -
Level 3
E3k

2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREETF T
Financial assets TRV E = 4,580
Financial liabilities TRBE - 8,115

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3.

—IERZIREAH ABIEYL
FREAERTIHER - Al
ERMTAIIAEIR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(@

Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (Continued)

Unlisted investment

As at 31 December 2023, the directors of the
Company determined the fair value of the unlisted
equity investment, which was determined using
the income approach as it is considered as a better
estimation of the future economic benefits derived
from the unlisted investment. In this approach, the
discounted cash flows method was used to capture
the present value of the expected future economic
benefits to be derived from the equity ownership of
this unlisted shares.

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of
unlisted investment is determined using asset-
based approach, which net assets value is the
significant unobservable input. The change of
valuation technique was due to the change of
the investee’s business development. In October
2024, following the failure of the business project
under this investment during the current year, the
shareholders of the unlisted investment passed a
resolution to liquidate and deregister the unlisted
investment. The directors of the Company assessed
fair value of unlisted investment as at 31 December
2024 to be zero after taking into accounts remaining
distributable resources from the investment and
estimated liquidation costs, and accordingly a fair
value loss of approximately RMB4,580,000 (2023:
RMB1,513,000) was recognised during the year.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(@)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (Continued)

Contingent consideration payable for business
combination

As at 31 December 2023, the directors of the
Company determined the fair value of contingent
consideration payable for business combination
which was determined using discounted cash
flow method to capture the present value of the
expected future cash outflows of the acquired
group as detail in Note 33(c). The fair value
measurement is negatively related to the discount
rate used, i.e. an increase in discounted rate used
in isolation would result in a decrease in the fair
value measurement, and vice versa. Conversely,
the fair value measurement is positively related
to the probability-adjusted revenue and profit of
above-mentioned acquired group, i.e. an increase
in probability-adjusted revenue and profit in
isolation would result in an increase in the fair
value measurement, and vice versa.

As at 31 December 2024, the directors of the
Company determined the fair value of contingent
consideration payable for business combination
to be zero, given that the audited revenue and
audited net profit of acquired group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 is not achieved during
the guaranteed period.

3 SERARERE®)
NYEEME ')

(@

BAVEFENESRMEERSE
R(#&)
REEHAENLARE

202312 A31H - KA R 7]
EXCETEBRAMHENIA
REHRAFE  ZRFERA
BRI S IMEETE - AR
WIEEBERHAARKIRE RN
HiE FRMFEIBC 2F
BEFFEEERMIEREEAM
B - BEE 0 A m0 BRIR 4 hn
SEYPRNFEAERD R
MR- Rz AFEFEELE
RS =B AR R BRI
W R A 2 IEFRRE - BNASHE
KRR AR B E BT
MEERAFEFEEM &
ZINER ©

2024412 A31H - 2R
U B8 = B & 2024 F 12 A 31
HIEFENEEZ G REE
120 FIE R A8 R R 3 B %
BARARFESETEBRSH
ERNSAREBHRATFERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

3 SRERERE®
3.3 A¥EMHE@#@)

202

(@) Financial assets and liabilities measured at (@) RBRAFEHENERMEERSE
fair value (Continued) &)
Contingent consideration payable for business FEBE IR ET S AE ()
combination (Continued)
The following table provides the information about TRIZHER 2024 F % 2023 F 12
Level 3 fair value measurements as at 31 December RANBEM@EIRLTEFE
2024 and 2023: BER
Relationship
Valuation of key inputs
2024 2023 techniques Significant and significant
20245 3% and  unobservable unobservable Rate/ Sensitivity of
RMB'000 RMB'000 Key inputs inputs  inputs to fair value range fair value to the input(s)
TERANE
REXFA
fEERTR EXTUHE BREANE
AERTR  ARETR TERANE BARE ROTEOME  LE/EE LFEHBABENHEE
Financial assets
SMEE
Unlisted investment - 4,580 Asset-based Netassetvalue /A (2023: Higher the N/A 5% increase/(decrease)
(Note (i) approach  (2023: Discount for rate of discount (2023 16.9%) in the net assets value
(2023: income future cashflow lower the fair (2023: discount rate of future
approach) forecast)  value and vice versa) cashflow forecast) would
have no significant impact on
the Group’s profit or loss
kLmkE - 4,580 BEARE BERE TER (2003 - ol BEFEEN/(FD)5%
(Wam)  (03%F A% (2003 : YREAR (083%F:  (0BF: RRBEREFAN
FREERE BIATERE - 169%) RE)RIEUAEEN
EAMR) R274) BRELEAYE
N/A N/A 15.69% 5% increase/(decrease)
(2023: Discount  (2023: Higher discount in the discount rate of
for lack of rate of lack of lack of marketability would
marketability) - marketability, lower the have no significant impact on
fair value and vice versa) the Group's profit or loss
Gyl R 15.69% RETERBILRRE
(20035 : iz (035 87 B/ (AD) % e
5 RALSER) [ikaikilid HESENERELEAYE
ERERE
BIRTERAE -
R274)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 TEEREE®

3.3 Fair value estimation (continuec) 3.3 A EME @
(a) Financial assets and liabilities measured at (@ BRAFENENESREERES
fair value (Continued) B(E&)
Contingent consideration payable for business FEBE IR ET S AE ()
combination (Continued)
The following table provides the information about TFRIBHF 2024 F } 2023 F 12
Level 3 fair value measurements as at 31 December A3BEBEEIRAFEF=
2024 and 2023: (Continued) REER : ()
Relationship
Valuation of key inputs
2024 2023 techniques Significant and significant
024% N5 and  unobservable unobservable Rate/ sensitivity of
RMB'000 RMB'000 Key inputs inputs  inputs to fair value range fair value to the input(s)
TERARS
REXFT
fhERER EXTARE REHARE
ABRTT  ARETI TERARS BARE HATENRE L /80 ATEHRABBOHRE

Financial liabilities

SMAR

Contingent consideration - 8,115 Discounted Discount rate Higher the N/A 5% increase/(decrease) in
payable for business cash flow used to derive rate of discount (2023 4.75%) the discount rate of future
combination the discounted lower the fair cashflow forecast would
cashflow  value and vice versa have no significant impact on
the Group's profit or loss
EBAHNENSIARE ¥RRER BT ERR ERERE TR ARASTHERANMRE
REMMERE BIATERDE (20235 /(i) 5% B red
RZ % 475%) TEENERELEAYE
Net income Lower net income, N/A (2023: 5% increase/(decrease) in
used to derive lower the  RMB1,990,000 the net income of future
the discounted fair value and to cashflow forecast would
cash flow vice versa - RMBS,149,000) have no significant impact on
the Group's profit or loss
BRGERR BRARE TR RRBLTRAHTRA
RERAFRA AIATEDE (20235 L/(TH)s%$ R el
RZ TR AE® TEENBRELEAYE

199000072

AE®

51490007
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(@) Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (Continued)

The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for the years ended 31 December 2024

3 SRIEKREE®
ANSRENEE e -))
(@) BAVEHENSREERS
&)

TREFNEZE 2024 F % 2023
FI2ANBIUEFEZEIRT

and 2023; Bg) -
2024 2023
20245 20234
Contingent Contingent
consideration consideration
payable for payable for
Unlisted business Unlisted business
investment combination investment combination
BB £BEH0
ELHRE EARARE FETRE  ERIARE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR®TR ARETR ARBFTL
At 1 January M1 A1R 4,580 (8,115) 6,093 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33(c) Ykt B 2 =] (4752 33(¢)) - - - (8,052)
Changes in fair value recognised — REzHHERE
in profit or loss AFEZE (4,580) 8,115 (1,513) 63)
At 31 December R12A31H = = 4,580 (8,119)
Unrealised (I0ss)/gain RERERNAER
recognised in profit or loss and (B8) /st A
included other income, HlA -~ Yegs &
gains and osses, net BEFE (4,580) 8,115 (1513) (63)

(b) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost were
not materially different from their fair values as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

(@ Impairment of non-financial assets other
than goodwill

Non-financial assets (including property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with
finite useful life) are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise
judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, in case of value in use, the net present value
of future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and
an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs, including
allocation of corporate assets when a reasonable
consistent basis of allocation can be established,
otherwise recoverable amount is determined at the
smallest group of cash-generating units, for which the
relevant corporate assets have been allocated. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the discount
rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the recoverable amounts.

4

B E o4 ET R H

AEt RAB T REBAELREEMRR(R
BERRBEATHRREMHELRAGE
ETRE) EITIS AR -

AEBEARREL BT RRRK - GFHHE
BR BREE BIEARERERA
R o TXFmEEA A EEBAY T EM
BEEMNEERABENREEELEANS
Emfhst RR& o

(@ FE@EE(BHERKRIN K
B
FERMEE(BEDE  BMEMR
B ERREERAERFHERY
BV EE ) RN RAH T8 KR
{E(ﬁﬂﬁ)ﬂﬁﬁ EETEERLRE
: ZK’*ImLﬁH#‘J%ﬁIT’FWEJ“ :
tﬁ%pﬁﬁ BO#EEFREY
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REFEEREEMMGF RARRSRE
HIREFE) e D IR R EENR
B R Q@ hE AT W E & 58 A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continuea)

(@)

Impairment of non-financial assets other
than goodwill (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of right-
of-use assets subject to impairment assessment were
approximately RMB23,038,000 (2023: RMB21,719,000),
after taking into account the impairment losses of
approximately RMB4,793,000 (2023: RMB2,846,000) in
respect of right-of-use assets that have been recognised
respectively. Details of the impairment of right-of-use
assets is disclosed in Note 15.

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions
and interpretation of tax rules in various jurisdictions.
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly.
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in respective
tax legislation.

Deferred tax assets/liabilities are recognised for tax
losses not yet utilised, taxable temporary differences
arising from revaluation of investment properties and
other deductible or taxable temporary differences. As
those deferred tax assets can only be recognised to
the extent that it is probable that future profit will be
available against which the unused tax loss can be
utilised, management’s judgement is required to assess
the probability of future taxable profits. Management's
assessment is constantly reviewed and additional
deferred tax assets are recognised only if it becomes
probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred
tax asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continueq)

(©

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group considers the ECLs of trade receivables
are based on management’s estimate of the lifetime
ECLs which is taking into account the historical loss
experience, ageing of overdue trade receivables,
customers’ repayment history, customers’ financial
position and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions, all of which
involve a significant degree of management judgement.

The provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and of forecast general economic
conditions. The information about the ECLs and the
Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in Notes 3.1(b)
and 18 respectively. If the financial condition of the
customers or the forecast economic conditions were to
deteriorate, actual loss allowance would be higher than
estimated.

Based on the management’s best estimates, the carrying
amount of trade receivables as at 31 December 2024 was
approximately RMB67,832,000 (2023: RMB39,913,000),
net of loss allowance of approximately RMB2,055,000
(2023: Nil).

4

BEEst b R HE =)
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H 7 RWGRIRRE
REBRR - B HRWFIANIEHIE
EBERDEREEEY2MEHE
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B AR ZRETIENEREK - TP
E’J%‘é?ﬁﬂﬁ - B BN BA TGRS A e
BAT R AR BB EHE - L

MRIRE S RERIEENEIEE
B o

TERRE B B R B HIRIE R IB R 5
LOEMROR S B - BTEHEER
BEEAEEE S ERFENERS
BRI FE3 D) L 18IRE - HEFH
B AR B TRl A E R R B - AR
BESIEREERR G -

RIBFEEENREMT - R20244F
12A318 EZEWRENEDE
4/ AN R 67,832,000 7T (2023 4F -
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continuea)

(d) Impairment of loan and interest receivables

The measurement of impairment of loan and interest
receivables requires judgement and estimation on
the amount and timing of future cash flows with, in
particular, assessment of the collateral values, if any,
and a significant increase in credit risk. During the
judgement process, the impairment of loan and interest
receivables is assessed on 12-month ECLS basis as there
has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the receivables, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs. In measuring whether the credit risk of receivables
has increased significantly, the management has taken
into accounts occurrence of default event, expected
future cash flows and both the current and forecast
general economic conditions.

The provision of ECLS is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECLs and the Group's loan and
interest receivables are disclosed in Notes 3.1(b) and 18
respectively.

Based on the management’s best estimates, the
carrying amount of loan and interest receivables as at 31
December 2024 was approximately RMB 18,635,000 (2023:
RMB46,192,000), net of loss allowance of approximately
RMB7,577,000 (2023: Nil).
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e EEe

BEEsr b R HE =)

(d)

P & 3 N R BORE

FHERWER RN ERERZEHRK
R REN TR LR ELHIE R
i LERFEERREE(WA) R
EERRBEEZIEN - RAEEED
M E R KB 2 MER12(E A&
HEREBEBREEFNG  RAREER
B B WA TE R A SR MR ARE SR 0 - B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T E

N

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continueq)

€)

Fair value of Level 3 financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position cannot be derived from active markets,
their fair value is determined using valuation techniques
including asset-based approach, income approach and
discounted cash flow model. The inputs to these models
are taken from observable markets where possible,
but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement
is required in establishing fair values. The judgements
include considerations of inputs such as discount
rate, risk-free interest rate, volatility and probability.
Changes in assumptions about these factors could
affect the reported fair value of financial instruments
(including financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss and contingent consideration payable for business
combination).

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's operating segments, which also represent the
Group’s reportable segments, are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision-maker of
the Group, who has been identified as the executive directors
of the Company. Chief operating decision-maker reviews
the Group's internal reports in order to assess performance,
allocate resources and determine the operating segments.

The Group is organised into business units based on their
products and services and has four reportable operating
segments as follows:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

Transportation service;

Warehousing service;

In-plant logistics service; and

Customisation service.

BEEst b R HE =)

e) FE3IMERMTENNFE
ERAUBHIMARTESNEREE
kemaE E’J N FESENERT S
R - EQFERBGERIE
E \L%ﬁé% % WA ML
BEmRA - EAIBERIERT - %%
ERNBABREEETS B
FATBERT - REERFERT
ZETERENHE - ZFFEE
EHEEREX  ERRANEX  RBER
BEZRAENERE - ZFHAERR
MELAREEYESRTR(BRER
RNFEFABENEREERDES

PHENHARE) MEHRFE

£

SEZ2BREDMIEREBEZ AT HED
B DERBETEODR/RARAHTES
MAKBETELERRENENMETE -
ITEEERREEZNAEB Z2ABRE
ARHERAE  nEERREFELEDE -

AEBREER KRGS D X EA L
BLAT @R 25 E 05 -

() EHRS:

(i ARRS

(i)  ERAMRRE &

(iv)  ERRT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

L

n\/T\

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Reportable segment results represent the profit or loss
resulted by each segment and exclude interest income from
bank deposits, loan receivables measured at amortised cost,
fair value change of financial assets at FVPL and contingent
consideration payable for business combination, and
unallocated corporate income and expenses.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
contracts with customers and results by segment:

DEBE R ()

T2 BREIEZ D HBELHE% (TR
R B RATIZER - DA 85 A0 AN 5 8 e L
BERMFEMA - BATFEHABRENS
MEEMATEEDREEAHENRA
REURRSTEEZRAREL) -

UNTRAREEZSFEDNEL GO E
KRB

Year ended 31 December 2024 H#F2024F12A31MBILEE
In-plant
Transportation ~ Warehousing logistics Customisation
service service service service Total
141
EREE BRMEE Wi R it 5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERTR AERTR AERTR AERTTR AE®TR

Segment revenue; AREE
Sales to external customers HHNBREMEE 173,683 23,976 56,836 1,719 256,214
Segment results ARER 5,584 (15,130) 5,278 (1,346) (5,614)
Interest income from bank deposits BOEFHEMA 761
Interest income from loan receivables AN EZMFI S YA 2,867
Unrealised loss on fair value change AT (E: ABH#HSREERD

of financial assets at FVPL THEEYPNREREE (4,580)
Fair value change on contingent EBAMEAIARED

consideration payable for ATEEY

business combination 8,115
Unallocated corporate income FARBEWA 3,637
Unallocated corporate expenses Kol ERT (35,328)
Loss before income tax RETERMEE (30,142)
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/\\IT\

N

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
contracts with customers and results by segment: (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

DEER (#)

AT RAEEZRD HE D

REEDW : (&)

#F2024F12A31MALLEE (&)

In-plant
Transportation ~ Warehousing logistics ~ Customisation
service service service service  Unallocated Total
BR
EnRE BRRE Wi iR ERRE FESR a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERTE AR®TRT ARWTRT ARMTR AERTRT ARRTR
Other segment information; HtpEEs
Amortisation of intangole assets BREESY 165 = = = = 165
Depreciation of property, plant nE - BERXENE
and equipment 76 167 17 - 945 1,205
Depreciation of right-of-use asses FREEENE 805 3,693 - - 2931 7429
Loss on disposal of property, plant LENE  BERKE
and equipment EiE 3 10 - - - 13
Impairment of right-0f-Use assets FREAERNE = 1947 = = = 1947
Impaiment loss on trade receivables B RYFERERE 2,055 - = = = 2,055
Impairment loss on loan and EWRERRNERE
interest receivables BE - - - - 7574 7,574
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
contracts with customers and results by segment: (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

5 o%FERE)
AT ARERRZRS S
REEAN : ()

HZE2023F12A31BILFE

In-plant
Transportation ~ Warehousing logistics  Customisation
service service service service Total
BAR
BB B fR% TRR% &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Segment revenue: SEkE
Sales to external customers HONIEEHRE 50,335 19,276 62,932 1338 133,881
Segment results AHEE 10,256 (30,705) 14127 (377) (6,699)
Interest income from bank deposits 7 S 1,052
Interest income from loan receivables R & U ETHFIEMA 4478
Unrealised loss on fair value change  &RATEFFABRREBEE
of financial assets at FVPL NTERBMKEREE (1513
Fair value change on contingent 2BAREMARARER
consideration payable for NTEZE
business combination (63)
Unallocated corporate income FARLEUA S04
Unallocated corporate expenses AAELERT (36,302
Loss before income tax BETERAIEE (33,406)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
contracts with customers and results by segment: (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

DEER (#)
T ARERRZRSSBE S
REEN : ()

HZE2023F 12 A31 BIEFE (&)

In-plant
Transportation Warehousing logistics  Customisation
service service service service Unallocated Total
BHRE EHRE TR TRRH REAE ozt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AEETT AR AR
Other segment information: EftamEs
Amortisation of intangible assets B AESH 27 - - - - 27
Depreciation of property, plant n% - BEREENE
and equipment 214 131 - - 1292 1,637
Depreciation of right-of-use assets RRREENE - 249 - - 1.3% 3852
Gain on disposal of property, plant HENE  BEREENE
and equipment - (485) - - - (485)
Impairment of right-of-use assets RRERERE - 2,846 - - - 2,846
Segment assets and liabilities NEEENAE

No segment assets and segment liabilities and other segment
information are presented as such amounts are not reviewed
by the Group's chief operating decision-makers for the
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment
or otherwise regularly provided to the Group's chief operating
decision-makers.

Geographical information
The Group principally operates in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 98% (2023: 96%) of
the Group's revenue from external customers, based on the
operation location of respective customers, is derived from the
PRC.

HRAREBTREARARE TR LERE
FEHNETERDELRAF XA
fREAMIARERIRE T A EE TR LE
REE - MUESIDBEERDHARE
AR E b B EFL o

Hb [ & R
NEBEBAHBIEEETR -
REZE2024F 12 A31H IEFE - BIEMR

BEENGEEHE  REBEREGINBES
I 251 98% (2023 4F = 96%) IR A AR E o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A R ERE I s

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 oBERE
Geographical information (continued) [ & R )
The Group’s non-current assets other than goodwill, deferred REBIEMIBUE(WAME  BERR
income tax assets and financial instruments by geographical B FRREEE EVNEENEREED
locations, which are determined by the geographical locations ¥ BEMERENILRE  BKREEMEZ
in which the asset is located in the case of property, plant and HWIBMNEETE)EOMIERDEE (TRE
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and deposit EE - REMEHEERERIA)WNT :
in relation to purchase of property, plant and equipment are as
follows:
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Non-current assets JEMBNEE
The PRC s 63,175 62,380
Hong Kong BB 306 11
63,481 62,391
Information about major customers FHRFEEPHNEF
Revenue from major customers, each of whom amounted to MAEERZE10% A LR EERF I E
10% or more of the Group’s revenue, is set out below: sy T
2024 2023
20245 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT ARBT T
Customer A ZEA 57,322 24,568
Customer B ZFB 49,800 51,759
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

b2 & BT IS SR B S

CUSTOMERS

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

external customers

REFFEHHWRE
KEIMNBEF AW D

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTRT ARKTT

Revenue from contracts with ERMBEREENFE1SRAEER
customers within the scope HMEREEFRSHHKS :
of HKFRS 15:
Recognised over time BE I R R
— Transportation service — B ARE 173,683 50,335
— Warehousing service — B RS 23,976 19,276
— In-plant logistics service — RN RS 56,836 62,932
Recognised at a point in time RE B 2RER
— Customisation service — ERRS 1,719 1,338
256,214 133,881

All revenue contracts have an expected duration of one year
or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to those unsatisfied performance obligations under

these contracts is not disclosed.

B s s ORISR A —FHAT
HIRR - N E B B R EERIE 155
AANEBRBEIEEZTAMNEBETIRER
ERBHEEENNZZER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

T E
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B BHRERM T

OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7

HMWA - s REEFE

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT AREFIT

Interest income from bank deposits RITEFHR B A 761 1,052

Interest income from loan receivables JFEUR B R B A 2,867 4,478

Interest income from rental deposits HEZSFBHRA 33 93

Government grants (Note) BRIF B (At aF) 179 1,020
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant &% « HE R EBEH

and equipment, net (E518) /Wes (13) 485
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries oS B B A RS 1B (M52 33(a))

(Note 33(a)) (1.687) -
Gain on early termination of lease RERIEHEE NS 680 -
Unrealised loss on fair value change of BRATEFABGNSRMEE

financial assets at FVPL RN ESBH R BIEEE (4,580) (1,513)
Change in fair value on contingent EBE BN IAREN

consideration payable for business N EEE

combination 8,115 (63)
Net foreign exchange gains P& s 578 1,473 3,258
Others HAh 1,272 785

9,100 9,595
Note: Hia

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amount mainly included
government grants to the Group for retention of staff and value-added tax ("VAT")
credit granted under the VAT policy with no unfulfilled conditions attached before

recognition.

BE2024FR20283F12ANHILFE FHSBELE
BEMSEBIER T TAEENBFEK
BN (BER ) BER T OIS ETE - A HERAT I &
s ARIER I

A RAR R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T E

N

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

8 REERAFX(BEEEH=)

2024 2023
20245 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBETT

Fees, wages and salaries, and other e TERFEAKEARR
allowances 62,123 57,038
Contribution to defined contribution plans ~ ExB4t kst 214 2k 9,799 9,706
71,922 66,744

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's subsidiaries
operating in the PRC have to make contribution to staff
retirement scheme managed by local government authorities
in accordance with the relevant rules and regulations.
Contributions to these schemes are charged to profit or loss
as and when incurred. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions.

The Company does not operate any other defined contribution
schemes, and as such, there is no forfeited contributions, nor
does the Company employ any actuary for defined benefit
plans.

20244 2023412 A31H » REBERK
R B A Y T BB 1 B ZE R R AR B AR A ROk
A E AT IR E B A B TiRIREH 214
oo HARBREEEOHRREELERTA
BOHBE R o A% E I SR IMEFR A
EESIEEERLT

AR R (R R E A R E ARG 8
Hit - BB YR TAEERRE
A BRI EED -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea)
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8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8 EERANHIX(BHEEEME)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (&)
(Continued)
(@) Benefits and interest of directors (@) BN EFEER

(i) Directors’ emoluments iy =E==M=

ZFENESTTHRAEHZE 2024
FNANBIEEENHSH

Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration for
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out

below: T
Salaries, Contribution
allowances to defined
and benefits  Discretionary  contribution
Fees in kind honus plans Total
g 2WR ERER
g Ehila S (A HEHR a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERTT ARRTT AERTT AERTT AE®TT
Executive directors: HITEE -
Mr. Le Kang LREE 664 = 1,659 - 2,323
Mr. Li Jiahao (Note v) BEERE (W) 430 267 - 53 800
Mr. Li Jiali (Note vii) RN (Mt vii) 400 273 - 53 726
Mr. Li Zhigang* (Note i) B () 406 - - - 406
Mr. Du Yingyou (Note | HEREE (W) 553 = = - 553
Ms. Liu Ping (Note iv) Bt (M) 79 - - - 79
Independent non-executive  BUFHiTEE
directors:
Mr. Yu Chun Man (Note 1) REXFE (M) 81 - - - 81
Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick 2Rt 1M - - - 11
Dr. Wang Yi THET 1 - - - 1M
Mr. Chan Koon Yung BEELE m - - - M
Mr. Zhang Yao (Note vi) RIBSA (Wit vi) 52 - - - 52
3,048 540 1,659 106 5,353
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

e

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

BRI T

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

(Continued)

(@) Benefits and interest of directors (continued)

)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration for
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out

8 EERIMAXX(BEESH=)

(&)

(@)

B ME SR )

i EEBS ()
SEFRBRBTRABRE
2023F12 A31 8 1L F Z /9 B

below: SEFWT
Salaries, Contribution
allowances to defined
and benefits Discretionary contribution
Fees inkind bonus plans Total
#% 2RR EEHR
we ENils B BE o 5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREFT ARBTT AREFT ARETT
Executive directors: HITEE -
Mr. Le Kang LREE 650 - - - 650
Mr. Li Jiahao* (Note vi) BEERAE (Wztvi) 480 319 - 53 852
Mr. Li Jiali (Note vii) RNEE i) 480 325 - 53 858
Mr. Song Ruipeng (Note i) Risliesk & (Hiztii) - - - - -
Mr. Li Zhigang (Note i) IS () 7 - - - !
Mr. Du Yingyou (Note | HEREE (W3ti) vl - - - 901
Non-executive director; FRTEE
Mr. Du Yingyou (Note ) AR (W) 50 - - - 50
Independent non-executive v iHTEE -
directors:
Mr. Yu Chun Man (Note v) RIESEE (W3t V) 19 - - - 19
Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick BEREE 108 - - - 108
Dr. Wang Yi THET 108 - - - 108
Mr. Chan Koon Yung REBLE 108 - - - 108
2401 644 - 106 3151

* Mr. Li Zhigang and Mr. Li Jiahao are the Chief Executive
Officer in 2024 and 2023 respectively.

* FENEERERERED RN
20244 [ 2023 F HEAE & fE AT

=

B o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
A IS RERM 5T

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

(Continued)

(@) Benefits and interest of directors (continued)
(i) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(i

(iii)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Mr. Du Yingyou has been redesignated from a non-
executive director to an executive director on 19 June 2023
and resigned as executive director on 17 March 2025.

Mr. Li Zhigang has been appointed as an executive director
on 9 December 2023 and has been appointed as the chief
executive officer of the Company on 9 September 2024.

Mr. Song Ruipeng has been removed as an executive
director on 9 December 2023.

Ms. Liu Ping has been appointed as executive director on
15 April 2024.

Mr. Yu Chun Man has resigned as independent non-
executive director on 30 August 2024.

Mr. Li Jiahao has stepped down from the position of the
chief executive officer of the Company on 9 September
2024. His position as an executive director remains
unchanged.

Mr. Zhang Yao has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 9 September 2024.

Mr. Li Jiali has resigned as executive director on 29
October 2024.

None of the directors waived any emolument
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:

Nil).

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors of the Company as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office during the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023:Nil).
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8 EERIMAXX(BEESH)

Bk ES S
EEH S (4)

0]

it -

(in)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

(vi)

(vi)

(viii)

MR % E B R202356A19
HHFQTESHERATE
% W R202593A17H &
HITES -

FAEM % A& B R20235612 A9
HEZERPITES - 12024
FORVARZERARAIER
iTE -

R 6 % & B 2023412 A9
HRERRITES -

2% 4+ B R2024F 48158
EZEAPITES -

R % A B R20244 8 A30
HEHEB I IFRITES -

REEFLREBR202459A9H
BEARRERNITE —B - &
MITEFRAGTTE -

RIBEED 202459 B9 &

ZERBIUFNMTES -

B3N EAEBR202445 10 529
HEERTES -

HE2024F12 AN BIEFEE -
14 B = W E T ) B £ (2023
Fm) e

BHZE2024F12831HIEFE -
AEEBERARAAEEIN
B & 1E & 8 5 A S AR
EEENRESIERBEBEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A R RE I s

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8 EERAFXX(BEEEM)

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (&)
(Continued)
(@) Benefits and interest of directors (continued) Q) BFRESHES®

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Directors’ retirement and termination
benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable
by any directors in respect of their other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

No payment was made to the directors as
compensation for early termination of the
appointment during the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

The Company did not pay consideration to any
third parties for making available directors’ services
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there
were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of the directors, or
controlled body corporates and connected entities
of such directors (2023: Nil).

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

EERARALER

BZE2024F 12 A31BILFE -
BEESAREHABARRX
HKTE QR EHE RN EAMR
745 i W B =X e WO PR AE ) (2023
FE)

BE20245F 12 AN BILEFE
BEEFRRENR LB MmE
(A # (8 (20234 : &) o

RERRESRBEOE=F1R
MR E
HE2024F12A3MBILFE -
ARG EMERHEZRE
MM % =75 24K E (2023
FfE)o

FHUES  E5EHNEE
REHEERAZSHEANE
R EUERRHEMARZNE
%

BZE2024F 12 A31BILFE -
BEAES  EFEFEE
REREERRRBEANE
R BUERREMR Z L5
(20234 : &) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

b2 & BT IS SR B S on

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS)
(Continued)

(@) Benefits and interest of directors (continued)

(v) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in the Note 29, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of the subsidiaries of the
Company was a party and in which a director of
the Group had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil).

(b) Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, four
(2023: three) individuals are directors whose emoluments
are disclosed in Note 8(a)(i). The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the other one (2023: two)
individuals are as follows:

8 EERINEX(BEEEME)

(&)

(@) &N RESED @

) EZERXZ ZTHIEHLHH
BEAER
BRMSFE29FT B AN - REE
204 F 12 AMB IEFEF R
o {a] F 1 3 SE A7 B AR R R 3K
NN R R CI Sy NI v
AEBEKMEBERNMASE
EEsaEHEREEEE
mZ R ZHRE #(2023
Fm) o

b)) EEEEFMMAL
EBEmPFALTH - HE (20235 -
SRIATAESR HB&RK =
a)) K EE o H 88 — 2 (20234F - W

F)ALTH B @EMT
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Wages and salaries TERF® 1,121 1,933

Contribution to defined TR RET B
contribution plans - _
1,121 1,933
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b2 & BT IS SR B S

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)
(Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (continued)
The emoluments of the remaining one (2023: two) highest
paid individuals other than the directors fell within the
following bands:

EERIEX(BRESHE)

AEEREFHA L #)
BEESES— 5 (20234 W)
SEHMATMHIN T THE -

Number of individuals

A8
2024 2023
2024 5 20234
Emolument band N ERE
— Nil to HKD1,000,000 — 078752 1,000,000 70 - 1
— HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 — 1,000,001 TE
1,500,000 7% 7T 1 1

None of the above individuals who are not directors of
the Company received any emoluments from the Group
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
compensations for loss of office.

BELMERARREEHALTELE
B EE R B S E R IAAREB R
MAAREERZ FRAEPRAEAL
BERAVFRIE -

HEREBZEREBARAT/ — T —PUFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontined

5 A R BE N

10

OTHER EXPENSES 9 HMEX
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBETT
Auditor's remuneration 1% 5 A 5 B 968 1,283
Entertainment expenses BEFRX 2,747 2,453
Fleet operating expenses BHREERY 4,906 4,682
Insurance expenses REBIs 752 806
Legal and professional fees FEREXEER 6,016 5,103
Other taxes and surcharges H AR IE K g 525 318
Qutsourced labour costs SNELES T RN 10,959 9,464
Repair and maintenance expenses HEREERT 810 435
Telephone and communication fees BELREAE 368 360
Travelling expenses FEF X 1,383 1,511
Utilities expenses UNERiE 981 575
Other operating expenses Hih & EM 5,933 4,724
36,348 31,714
FINANCE COSTS 10 BB RA
2024 2023
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBT T
Interest expenses on lease liabilities MEaENaEY
(Note 15(0)) (K3 15(0)) 968 501
Interest expenses on bank and SITREMESR ERY
other borrowings 3,003 556
3,971 1,057
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

11

INCOME TAX

(@)

PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") is calculated at
25% (2023: 25%) of the estimated assessable profits for
the current year.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company is entitled to
preferential tax concession rate at 15% as it has obtained
the High and New Tech Enterprises licence.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company is qualified as a
small and thin-profit enterprise. Provision for the EIT has
been provided at a tax rate of 5% on the annual taxable
income up to RMB3,000,000 (inclusive) arising in the PRC
during the period.

Hong Kong Profits Tax

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2023:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit. No provision
for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong as there are no
assessable profits for both current and prior years.

Egypt corporate income tax

Egypt corporate income tax is calculated at 22.5% (2023:
22.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the current
year.

11 A8

(a)

i

AR 1b S PTSRR
PECEMSH((E¥ERSR])EXR
FEAEFHE SR @ ) 25% (2023 4F -
25%) 5t & -

KATETHE AR D ERS
CEWR EERTHEEHESK
15% °

ARAETHBRAFA/NEHF
EER - HNERREENFERE
AU A A KR 5 3,000,000 7T
(&) BIRSHHFEFTIREEMSE
T o

BAENEH
5118 B T0 38 (4 At BB R B R %
16.5% (2023 4F : 16.5%) T & - AR
EEERMAIONB L AREFE
ROBE A RBOR A - O
BEZEHEA T REBRG B
fé -

2 YSEINE IR T

R R ERERIEARFE NG ESR
B M22.5% (20234F : 22.5% )14 o

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH

225



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A IS RERM 5T

11 INCOME TAX (continued) 11 8% @)
(d) Income tax from other tax jurisdictions d) EMHWBErERENAE
15t
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the Hh RARE R B A B IR Th iR 8 A
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions. ERERARITHENH -
Taxation recognised in the consolidated statement of NireiBmRERZHENT

profit or 10ss represents:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBET T

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax HEL¥FRER

Current year REE 39 3
Overseas Income tax BIPFRF]R
Current year RFEE 529 373

Deferred income tax (Note 26) BRIEFFBIR (KizE26)
Origination and reversal of temporary B Z50E 4 K1
differences (654) 381

Income tax (credit)/expenses FRreH (%), Fx (86) 757
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

/\\IT\

11

N

INCOME TAX (continued)

11

The taxation on the Group’s l0ss before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the PRC

8% &)

ARE BB FTS TR E 18 2 BB B ) o
CEMEBHREEREMEL 2 MEHIER

Enterprise Income Tax standard rate of income tax as follows: Bz ZFEMT ¢
2024 2023
20245 2023
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT
Loss before income tax R PTG Al IE 18 (30,142) (33,406)
Calculated at a taxation rate of 25% R 25% B EFE
(2023: 25%) (20234 : 25%) (7,536) (8,352)
Preferential tax concession rate for EEBRERNEERERX
qualified entity 2,203 2,675
Tax effect of different tax rate in REMBELEEETRMHELN
other jurisdictions Mg 302 749
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TR0 S M Bl s 2 2 2,961 2,451
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARMBARNBBEE (2,280) (19)
Tax effect of temporary differences RERERHEENRIELE
not recognised 2,361 -
Tax effect of unused tax losses not REER R B ABIIEE R
recognised s % 1,903 3,266
Tax concession for the year RIBEER 2 = (13)
Income tax (credit)/expenses Fri (Ee) Fx (86) 757

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

12 DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company did not recommend the payment
of any dividend for the years ended 31 December 2024 and

2023.

13 LOSS PER SHARE

(@)

Basic loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to the owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

12

13

iR E

RAREFBTNEZIRTE = 2024 F £ 2023
F12A3MHIEFERNERBRE -

R
(@)

53

FREXRER
SREARRIETRA R TEE AR
BARIAFNE BT EBRIETY
HEtH -

2024 2023
20245 2023 FF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TRT AREETF T
Loss for the year attributable to RNEVER AL FREE
the owners of the Company 24,710 34,431
2024 2023
2024 5 20234
(Restated)
(s ES)
Weighted average number of B BT E @R hnE
ordinary shares in issue (FRREMHEE)
(number of shares in thousands) 127,092 105,066

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been
adjusted retrospectively to reflect the impact of share
consolidation (Note 24(a)) during the year ended 31
December 2024.

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share is the same amount as the basic
loss per share for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 as the Company has no dilutive potential
ordinary shares.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T E

BRI T

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 Y% BERKE

Plantand  Furniture and office Leasehold Motor  Construction
machinery equipment equipment  improvements vehicles in progress Total
BER#EH LY b NG HRYREE RE ERIE #t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFR AREFL ARETFT
At 1 January 2023 ®2023%1A18
Cost KA 14,509 147 1,850 26131 5773 - 48410
Accumulated depreciation ZifiE (14,16 (119 (8%9) (7,741) (5,014) - (27935)
Accumulated impairment Z:thfE - (1) - (16,478) - - (16479)
Net hook amount HEE 347 2 951 1912 759 - 39%
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE2023F 12 31 ALER
Opening net book amount BUEEFE 347 27 951 1912 759 - 39%
Additions AE {0 - 46 248 Al - 545
Acquired on acquisition of WA AR
subsidiaries (Note 33(c)) (H:£330) 3% R 4 742 3N - 119
Disposals e
—Cost —KA (14,000) (36) (27 (25712) (119) - (40,140)
— Accumulated depreciation —ZiNE 13709 34 20 8,288 101 - 2412
— Impairment —WfE - 1 - 16,478 - - 16479
Depreciation E (19 (1) (212) (813) (557) - (1.637)
Exchange adjustment ERR% - - - kK - - Kl
Closing net book amount BREEFE 118 53 792 1,152 770 - 2885
At 31 December 2023 and R2023512B310R
1 January 2024 202451818
Cost KA 585 149 1623 A3 6,240 - 10,033
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (467) (%) 831) (284) (5,470 - (7148
Net book amount ERZE 118 53 792 1152 770 - 2885
Year ended 31 December 2024  HE2024F 12 31 ALLERE
Opening net book amount BOREFE 118 53 792 1,152 770 - 2,885
Additions HE 49 470 4 88 61 124 1,280
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries NI B 2 FEEE
(Note 33(b)) (Hi330) = o 13 o o = 13
Disposals e
—Cost —HA (37) = @) (786) (288) = (1,114)
— Accumulated depreciation —ZithE 35 - 3 651 273 - 962
Depreciation ik (186) (86) (216) (513) (204) - (1,205)
Closing net book amount BRERFE 426 437 630 592 612 124 2,821
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12A31R
Cost A 1,044 619 1,674 738 6,013 124 10,212
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (618) (182) (1,044) (146) (5,401) - (7,391)
Net book amount FEFE 426 437 630 592 612 124 2,821
LEEREREEERAT / — T _MNFFH 9929
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea)
BRI sEe

n\/T\

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

LIABILITIES

(@ Amounts recognised in the consolidated

15 EREEEREEAE

(@) MERE MBI RER

statement of financial position IR
(i) Right-of-use assets iy EAEEE
office
premises
Land use Motor and
rights vehicles warehouses Forklifts Total
N E
tibEAE RE REE RE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT
At 1 January 2023 ®2023£1818 - - 6,132 887 7,019
Additions arising from entering FUHEEELNAE
into new leases - - 30 674 704
Acquired on acquisition of WeBE R A RIS M BE
subsidiaries (Note 33(c)) (H£33() - - 20,694 - 20,694
Depreciation e - - (3,221) (631) (3,852)
Impairment RME - - (2,846) - (2,846)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023%£12A310R
1 January 2024 2024%1B1A = - 20,789 930 21,719
Additions arising from entering FUHREEANTE
into new leases - - 12,924 536 13,460
Acquisition - 10,348 - - - 10,348
Acquired on acquisition of WK B ARRKE
subsidiaries (Note 33(b)) (HizE33() - 6,114 - - 6,114
Depreciation il (36) (805) (5,843) (745) (7,429)
Impairment E = - (1,226) (721) (1,947)
Early termination of lease RELIRE = = (19,227) = (19,227)
At 31 December 2024 120245125318 10,312 5,309 7,417 - 23,038
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A R RE I s

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continued)

(@ Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (continued)

(i)

Lease Liabilities

The following table shows the remaining
contractual maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities
at the end of the reporting period:

15 FHRAREERBEESS®

(@ MRS BB K fE R
FRIA (40

iy HEHE
TRINRAEEHEBER R
FHRNH T AR BN

2024 2023
2024 5% 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Within 1 year 15K
After 1 year but within 2 years 1E%B2ER
After 2 years but within 5 years 2EFEEIBSER

11,132 5,896
3,922 3,870
232 15,723
15,286 25,489

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
applied to the Group's lease liabilities for the year
ended 31 December 2024 range from 4.5% t0 5.23%
(2023: 4.5% 10 5.23%).

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or l0ss

HZE2024F12A31MB8 ILF
E - A4EHEABEREAD
IAEF I = ERFEN T
4.5% % 5.23% (20234 : 4.5%
%5.23%) °

(b) MEREBRRERZHIE

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERELSERE
Interest expenses on lease liabilities  fAS& & 88 (K72 10)
(Note 10)

Lease payments relating to

short-term leases
Impairment of right-of-use assets & A ERME

Gain on early termination of lease

RFRIFEE RS

RHIHEREEENR

(7,429) (3,852)
(968) (501)
(5,876) (35,291)
(1,947) (2,846)
680 -

The total cash outflow for leases in the year ended
31 December 2024 was RMB26,448,000 (2023:
RMB39,691,000).

HE2024F12831BIEFE HE
e m 4% A AR 26,448,000 7T
(20234 : AR#39,691,0007T) °

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH
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15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continued)

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or [0SS (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
management of the Group identified that the
performance of warehousing service segment was worse
than expected due to tough economic environment and
strong market competition and concluded that there
was impairment indicator and conducted impairment
assessment on certain right-of-use assets with a carrying
amount of RMB1,947,000 (2023: RMB2,846,000). The
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit of the warehousing service segment to
which the right-of-use assets belong as it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of the right-of-use
assets individually.

As at 31 December 2024, the recoverable amount
of cash-generating unit of the warehousing services
segment has been determined based on a value in use
calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by the management
of the Group covering the following five years with a
pre-tax discount rate is 13.1% (2023: 13.1%). The cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using growth rate of 1.00% (2023: 1.83%). Another key
assumption for the value in use calculated is the budget
gross margin, which is determined based on the cash-
generating unit’'s past performance and management
expectations for the market development. Based on
the result of the assessment, the management of the
Group determined that recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is lower than the carrying amount and
impairment loss of RMB1,947,000 (2023: RMB2,846,000)
has been recognised against the carrying amount of the
relevant right-of-use assets in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea)
BRI sEe

15 FHRAREERBEESES®

(0)

REFE B
(&)
HZE2024F 128318 LFE A%
EEREHANE - HREREAEE
RERBIOTE RS BHERE
DHMERELTBRNEZ - W15
BRRABGFEREDNR LHER
H A AR ¥1,947,000 7T (20234 :
AR #2,846,0007T) B & F £ B #
BEETHENG BREEEE
HEEAREENTRE S5 i)
REBGFERAREENBRHR
BOMBREEEBMAIUEISFE -

o ﬁ@ ET /T)\

MR2024F12 A318  BRERS H 56
MRSELEMMATKRESREIIR
BEREESEET -ZAEER
TERAEEEEEBIAENREKR
FUBEEMNBRE SRR - BLATRL
/K E131% (20234 : 13.1%) ° &
FHIE IR £ 12 1.00% (20234 -
1.83%) WIS REHEE - T HERE
BN S —EARBRRATEEENX
HNRERSESEMNABEES
EEBHMSERNEHEE -
BEFIHEER AEEEBREET
REEEBMHITRE & REERNE
HE WEREEERET A
ERAREEMNREEERBERIE
AR 1,947,0007C (20234F + AR
#2,846,0007T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

T E

B BHRRM T

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

LIABILITIES (continued)
() The Group's leasing activities and how

these are accounted for

The Group leases various office premises, warehouses
and forklifts for its operations. Lease contracts are
typically made for fixed period ranging from 2 to 6 years
(2023: 2 to 7 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group leases certain motor vehicles for its
operations. Lease contracts are typically made for fixed
period of 3 years (2023: Nil). The Group has an option
to purchase these motor vehicles at the expiry of the
leases. It is practicable that the Group will exercise the
option to purchase and continue to use for operations
and they are therefore depreciated over their estimated
useful life.

The Group obtained the land use rights on which the
land is situated in the PRC at a cash consideration
of RMB10,000,000 with directly attributable costs
approximately RMB348,000 during the year. The land use
rights relate to leasehold land for logistics warehouse
and hotel development purpose in the PRC. The land
use rights are not allowed to be transferred or leased
pursuant to the contracts for grant of the land use rights.
They have a lease term of 50 years, commencing from
2024 and expiring in 2074.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, none of the leases
includes variable lease payments.

15 FHRAREERBEESS®

(©

AEEMNBEETY AR
YiE=
AEERELBERERTTHAWE -

BERXE -HEAGH—RIE2E6
F (202345 : 2 7F) WEFEHRAET
3o ME RFIR E B EERER - ]
BREZONRGHRRAGE - REE
THHR R R 4 N °] BOH B 0 R A2 B -
AEERBAEONER AEEE
HIRT SR BT THOHAR -

AEEREZEEER T IE-H
EAK— MR =9F (20234 : &) K
B EMRATY - AEBEAEREE
HERRBEZSAE -AEEH
THEBEEERYEEANEED
PIE AT B iR A FHE R F #E
RIE -

REBRERAANBEERBARE
10,000,000 7T K& H i FE IR AR LA R
# 348,000 7T B 15 i 7 HR B A - 3 {8
FARE - Z LR RS R B A
R REEREERERENHEE
TH o RBELHERBEEER

T A TISEES A - A
A509F » 2024 FHEE 2074 F R ©

R 2024 F ] 2023 12 A31 8 » #iE
MERFEAEHEENZK -

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A R ERE I s

16 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 16 BAFEFABRZENEREE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBET T

Unlisted investment JELETIRE = 4,580

Unlisted investment represents equity interests in an unlisted FELMEEREN —EEPREYERET
company which is principally engaged in provision of internet MEM BBERE EARXEH &
information, data processing, application software, information BHE R R RBHIE LT AR
technology development and technical support service in i AP EREARBIERLB2ELRRA
the PRC. The fair value was determined by the directors of EIRE (203F : —BBIEEREEMN
the Company with reference to valuation carried out by the BN ETHEEMET BEEBETAT
management of the Company (2023: an independent qualified BT ERBERNERENIES3E) -

professional valuer). Information regarding the methods and
assumptions used in determining fair value is stated in Note
3.3(a).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea)
BBl R M aE e

n\/T\

17 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17 BERHEMERLEE

Customer
Goodwill relationships Total
e EFRME et
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFT ARETTT
Year ended 31 December 2023  #X2023%12831H
ILLEE
Opening net book amount HMEREFE - - -
Acquired on acquisition of WM B 2 IR
subsidiaries (Note 33(c)) (K1:£33() 425 1,647 2,072
Amortisation charge BEER - (27) (27)
Closing net book amount HY R IR A 425 1,620 2,045
At 31 December 2023 #®2023%12831H
Cost B 425 1,647 2,072
Accumulated amortisation and ZHEERRE
impairment - 27) 27)
Net book amount REFE 425 1,620 2,045
Year ended 31 December 2024 #E2024%12831H
LLEE
Opening net book amount HAYIER R A 425 1,620 2,045
Acquired on acquisition of U B PH B A Rl IR (M5t
subsidiaries (Note 33(b)) 33(b)) 278 - 278
Amortisation charge BHER = (165) (165)
Closing net book amount HY AR BR B 703 1,455 2,158
At 31 December 2024 #2024%12831H
Cost RN 703 1,647 2,350
Accumulated amortisation and ZEEERRE
impairment - (192) (192)
Net book amount REFE 703 1,455 2,158

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

b2 & BT IS SR B S on

17 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and intangible
assets with a definite useful life have been allocated to
the cash generated unit of provision of transportation and
warehouse services undertaken by acquired group as stated in
Note 33.

Notes:
(a) Impairment test for goodwill

The goodwill arose from the acquisition as disclosed in Notes 33(b) and
33(c) during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 respectively.

Goodwill arose from the acquisition as disclosed in Note 33(b). No
impairment loss has been recognised for the year ended 31 December
2024 as the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the acquired
company is insignificant to the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the directors of the Company conducted
assessment of the recoverable amount of acquired group as stated
in Note 33(c) (2023: with reference to the valuation conducted by an
independent firm of professional valuer with recognised qualifications
and experience), using the discounted cash flow methodology. The key
assumptions used by management for value-in-use calculations include
(i) average annual revenue growth rate, which is 10% (2023: 18.09%) for
a five-year period, and (i) discount rate, which is 14.77% (2023: 14.77%).
The estimated growth rate used in the value-in-use calculations for
period beyond the five-year period is 2.22% (2023: 2.22%). Based on the
assessment, the directors of the Company considered that impairment
of goodwill is not required to be made in the consolidated financial
statements. The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying
amount and the management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not result in impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)

e

BRI T

17 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(0)

Impairment test for intangible assets other than goodwill

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the directors of the Company are not
aware of any events or changes in circumstances which would indicate
that the carrying amount of the intangible assets may not be recoverable.

Amortisation methods and periods

Amortisation charges were expensed in the consolidated income
statements for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful life using the
straight-line method over the following periods:

— Customer relationships 10 years

See Note 2.8 for the accounting policy relevant to intangible assets.

177 BEREMEBLEEE @)

Hiet - (%)

(b)

\IEE (REERIN BEMNR

20244 220235 12 A31H - ARAFEF R
BERAEMEHRBERBCRABVAENER
AR g Rk m -

77 R

6 TN E B 2024 F & 2023F 12 A31H Ik
FENGEEERTIIT

AR B BUER DA BAR # 85 A R T A
FHNELEE -

—RPHE 104

BVAEMARE T BERENHIE2.8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A IS RERM 5T

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18 EZRHEMEKRRE

2024 2023
2024 5 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTT AR¥TT

Trade receivables arising from contracts ZBFAXNESNE 5 FEWGE

with customers (Note (a)) (Kt7t (@) 67,832 39,913
Prepayments SN 8,439 12,147
Other receivables Hih Ui kA 3,279 1,082
Rental deposits (Note (b)) HEZS (M b)) 3,602 5,710
Loan and interest receivables (Note (c) W EZRFIE (K15 () 18,635 46,192

101,787 105,044

Less: Non-current portion B IERBE D

— Loan and interest receivables —EWER KT B (17,892) (11,692)
— Rental deposits —HERe (2,671) (675)
Current portion BN D 81,224 92,677

Further details on the Group's credit policy are set in Note 3.1 BEAEBEERRNE —SHBIHNH
). £3.1() e

(@) Trade receivables (@) EBSEWzIE
KEE-REBEFEESNT0E150
AREEDR - EHRKRERRES
HE2FIMERDHET :

The Group normally grants credit terms to its customers
ranging from 0 to 150 days. The ageing analysis of the
trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

238

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TRT AREFT

Within 30 days 30BA 63,292 27,411
31 to 90 days 31E90H 3,141 5,666
91 to 180 days 91Z180H 206 5,696
Over 180 days i 180 H 1,193 1,140
67,832 39,913
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18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
(b) Rental deposits

Included in the rental deposits of the Group is an
undiscounted amount of RMB143,000 (2023: RMB143,000)
as at 31 December 2024 paid to key management
personnel (2023: key management personnel) of the
Company and their close family members, as the Group
leased an office premise owned by them.

Loan and interest receivables

18 ESREMEWFIE#)

(b)

HEZRE

20245128310 - AEEHEE
BehRE—ERAARTEEE
AB (2023%F  TBERAB) RE
EXHBENNRAREEARS
143,000 7T (20234 : A R % 143,000
) HERAEREEREHES
B A -

JEWE SR B
2024 2023
2024 5 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRT AR¥TT

Loan receivables U E R 25,088 46,192
Interest receivables FEUF B 1,124 -
26,212 46,192
Less: loss allowance T ESIR AR (7,577) -
18,635 46,192

The carrying amount of loan and interest receivables is
denominated in the following currencies:

A 30 B . 0 B T L DA T 51
HAHE

2024 2023
20245 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBETT

RMB AR 5,935 34,500
HKD BT 12,700 11,692
18,635 46,192

HEREBZEREBARAT/ — T —PUFFH
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18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(©

Loan and interest receivables (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, three (2023:
two) supplemental agreements in respect of 3 loans
(2023: 2 loans) were entered into between two of the
Group's subsidiaries and the respective borrowers
with aggregate principal amount of approximately
RMB18,088,000 (2023: RMB14,221,000), in which both
parties have agreed to revise the maturity terms from
2024 t0 2026 (2023: from 2023 to 2025).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had outstanding
loans with aggregate principal amount of approximately
RMB25,088,000 which is related to 4 loans which
comprised of 3 corporate loans and 1 individual loan.
Among the 4 loans, 1 loan with aggregate outstanding
principal amount of approximately RMB7,000,000 are
repayable within 1 year, and 3 loans with aggregate
outstanding principal amount of approximately
RMB18,088,000 are repayable over 1 year but less than 2
years.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had outstanding
loans with aggregate principal amount of approximately
RMB46,192,000 which is related to 9 loans which
comprised of 8 corporate loans and 1 individual loan.
Among the 9 loans, 7 loans with aggregate outstanding
principal amount of approximately RMB34,500,000 are
repayable within 1 year, and 2 loans with aggregate
outstanding principal amount of approximately
RMB11,692,000 are repayable over 1 year but less than 2
years.

The interest rate of the loans ranged from approximately
from 6% to 12% (2023: from 6% to 12%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all the loan
receivables of the Group were unsecured.
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18 ESREMEWFIE®

(©

FEWE R EHE @
HZE2024F 128318 EFE &K
SEEFREHMEAREASBE
#4975 A R #18,088,000 7T (2023 4F :
AR #14,221,0007T) B AE B B R A
L3 (2023F : 28) BRI L=
(20234 : Mfn) Mo ek - HR Ut -
R AR E 5 B B B 2024 F &
52026 F (20234 : A1 2023F K A&
2025%F) °

MR2024F12A31H  AEEH
AEEERLSBBEOABARE
25,088,000  BIAEEFHH - &
FEEIECEERRIZEMAE
HoNZAEERF 1EREER
& 4 A R % 7,000,0007T K B 5K
ARVFERNER MIEREELS
wEEK AR 18,088,000 THIE 7K /A
RVEAE2FATERE -

202312 A318 "EEH
AEEERASLENAARE
46,192,000 * EOEEFRBHE - A
FEESECEERRIZEM/MAE
HoRZIEERFR 7TEREER
S HaEEL A R % 34,500,000 TR E X
BARIFEREE M2EREERS
HEEEH AR 11,692,000 TR E KA
RUFLAE2FLANEE »

BHEMEAN T 6% = 12% (2023
FNF6%E12%) ©

R2024F 2 2023F 12 A31H » A&
EFATAERERY AEEA -
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19 AMOUNT DUE FROM A NON-CONTROLLING 19

20

N

SHAREHOLDER

The amount due from a non-controlling shareholder is

e — 2 FE AR R R

PR — & FFE R IR R

NIESEER RS

unsecured, interest-free and have not fixed terms of BEEERERAR -
repayment.
TIME DEPOSIT AND CASH AND CASH 20 EHERRBRERREEEY
EQUIVALENTS
2024 2023
20245 2023 FF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT AREET T
Time deposit with original maturity JREIERE R = B A &8 E BT R
over three months (Note (a)) (K177 (@) 10,000 -
Cash at banks (Note (b)) RITIRE (H3E b)) 49,670 77,989
Cash on hand FEEIRS 53 37
Cash and cash equivalents in the REERERERTH
consolidated statement of cash flows B4 RESZEEY 49,723 78,026
Note: BiaE
(a) Time deposit is made for a period of over three months but within 1 (@) EHRFERDIFRREERIFETBTEENR
year with a creditworthy bank with no recent history of default, which is B2 RT RHHMB=EAER—FAN BE
unsecured and carries a fixed interest rate at 1.9% per annum. R RIREEFFE19%EE ©
(b) Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit (b) RITHSRZEF LW ERNBITEBFHFE

rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no

recent history of default. The effective interest rate on the Group's cash

and cash equivalents during the year ended was ranging from 0.15% to

0.25% (2023: 0.20% t0 0.25%).

FEFS - RITHBNEERFAYEEND
BORITHER - FR AEENREERS
SEWMEFRFENF0.15% = 0.25% (2023 4 -
0.20% % 0.25%) °

HEREBZEREBARAT/ — T —PUFFH
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21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21 EFRHEHMEMNKE
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’ 000

AR®TT ARBET T

Trade payables (Note (@) B 5 RENRIE (K5 @) 38,695 19,659
Accrued employee benefit expenses EHEEEEY 5,252 5,176
Advance from a business partner EBBHEBRR(HFE D)

(Note (b)) 8,178 8,178
Other accrued expenses and H b REE B N B E < B IR

other tax payables 1,829 3,443
Other payables Efh e /I8 2,518 10,541

56,472 46,997

Less: Non-current portion W FERBEL D
— Advance from a business partner — BB (HF D)

(Note (b)) (8,178) (8,178)
Current portion BN AR 48,294 38,819
(@) Trade payables @ EZEMNNKIEA

The credit period granted by the Group's suppliers mainly AEERHREER THONRAREE
ranges from 30 to 90 days (2023: 30 to 90 days). A30Z290H (20234 1 30HEH) ©
The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on ESERNFIELREZAHZ25HER
invoice date were as follows: BONT
2024 2023
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB' 000

AR®BTRT AR¥TT

110 30 days 1£30H 28,757 15,589
31to 60 days 31E60H 4,012 2,011
6110 90 days 61£290H 1,616 393
Over 90 days H@E90H 4,310 1,666
38,695 19,659
(b) Advance from a business partner (b) HEBRBHEEBR
Advance received from a business partner relates to a 2T R W B B TR SR B A R AR
business project in warehousing service segment which BoM—EA£KEEAER  HH
would be refundable to counterparty upon the expiry of HERBHEREEETYH -

project retention period.
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22 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22 EHAEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTRT ARKETT

Receipts in advance regarding: AT BIAEZ FEWGRIA -
— Provision for transportation and — RER kA HRE
warehouse service 474 566
Note: Hfat
(@  Typical payment practice @  ABRIER
When the Group receives a deposit from customers before provision for EAKEERER KA IR RIEA R
transportation and warehousing services, which depends on the specific EEZeE (FUARTP AN ARER) @ &
terms of contracts of customers, this will give rise to contract liabilities at BRAENRBEELESNEE - NZEEIURE
the start of contract. Payment are usually based on billing schedule. BRI -
(b) Movement in contract liabilities (b) AHBEZE
Transportation and
warehouse services
EWR AR
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER#TT ARMETFTT
At 1 January ®1A18 566 -
Recognised in revenue AU R (566) -
Increase in contract liabilities AHIEEEM 474 -
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries A B B B 2 )R LB (B3 33(0))
(Note 33(c)) - 566
At 31 December R®12A31H 474 566
All contracts in respect of transportation and warehouse FEEakERREEONEREE—F
services are for periods of one year or less. As the Group EX—ELA"F c AR AE B RME B
has applied the practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the LB 15RO BRENERERT 25
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not ﬁtﬂiﬁ&?ﬁﬁﬂ%%ﬁ%ﬂi@ﬁ SHNR5E °
disclosed.
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23 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 23 BITREMMER

2024 2023
2024 5 2023 4F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBFIT
Bank loans, secured (Note) RITER - B (F1E) 44,109 48,715
Bank loans, unsecured fEﬁf*” il 3,785 972
Other borrowings, secured (Note) HipfE k- BHEF(H2) 2,890 2,915
50,784 52,602

Note: P 5E

Secured bank and other borrowings are secured by pledge of equity interest in
one of subsidiaries within the Group and guarantee executed by a non-controlling
shareholder of the Group and his close family member, and certain properties
held by him. This non-controlling shareholder has significant interest in certain
subsidiaries within the Group.

BEMBITREMEFTAEERN—RHE R 7 B AAE
RASE-ZREERREELORBERESENET
MENEREBENR - ZERRBERRNASENET
MERR P HEEEARE

At 31 December 2024, the bank and other borrowings were 2024123310 - BEERITRE
repayable as follows: BT -
2024 2023
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFIT
Within 1 year 1R 18,130 9,786
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F%E2FR 9,164 12,091
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FBESFA 9,978 13,706
After 5 years 5F 1% 13,512 17,019
50,784 52,602
Less: Amount due within one year or B AEARBDEEY —FNA
repayable on demand classified BB B IR ERKIER 2 FUE
as current liabilities (50,784) (52,602)
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23 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

At 31 December 2024, the exposure of the Group’s borrowings

23 BITREMER @

R2024F12 A31H » AEEKE R

are as follows: m
2024 2023
2024 5 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBET T
Fixed-rate other borrowings & E;‘ru;@ L b &2k 2,890 2,915
Variable-rate bank loans FENFRIBITER 47,894 49,687
50,784 52,602

All the other borrowings are due within one year and the bank
loans contain a clause that give the lender unconditional right
to call the loans at any time, and therefore they have been
classified as current liabilities.

The effective interest rate on the Group’s bank and other
borrowings during the year ended 31 December 2024 was
ranging from 3.55% to 15.69% and 6% respectively (2023: from
3.45% 10 14.76% and 6% respectively).

PrAEMEFTER —FRIHRRITER

BE—IBIER

ERmER - Et &St

BE-

ETEF /\ﬂﬂﬂﬂfﬁﬂﬁz

ERDBRRE

HE2024FE12ANBIEFEER KEE
BOREMETNERINES AN T

3.55% % 15.69% K 6% (20234 : &
345% & 14.76% F2.6%) °

Rl F-

HEREBZEREBARAT/ — T —PUFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

24 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 24 BAR#HE
(@) Share capital (@ R
Number of shares
(thousand) Share capital
BN E (TH) B
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 F 20234 2024 F 20234
HKD'000 HKD'000
FiERT THL
Authorised: BE -
At 1January N1A1H 10,000,000 10,000,000 100,000 100,000
Share consolidation (Note i) B & Bt (B sziin) (9,000,000) (9,000,000) - -
At 31 December WN12A31H 1,000,000 1,000,000 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRAE :
At 1 January W1A1H 1,141,280 964,400 11,412 9644
Issue of shares through share  EBIRHELERITIG
placing (Note /) (Hizti) - 176,880 - 1,768
Issue of shares through share B BIRIHELERITIH
placing (Note i) (Hf3zii) 192,880 - 1,929 -
Share consolidation (Note i) WA A BF (ATt i) (1,200,744) - = -
At 31 December RN12A31H 133,416 1,141,280 13,341 11,412
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24 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

24 BAR#HE =)

(@) Share capital (continued) @ B’xw@
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT
Share capital presented in consolidated R&EA MR REREFH
statement of financial position % A 11,469 9,770

All shares issued during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 rank pari passu in all respects with the
existing shares of the Company.

Note:

(i)

(i)

On 7 July 2023, the Company issued an aggregate of 176,880,000
shares with a price of HKD0.196 each. The gross proceed from the
share placing was approximately HKD34,669,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB31,981,000).

On 30 April 2024, the Company issued an aggregate of
192,880,000 shares with a price of HKD0.097 each. The gross
proceed from the share placing was approximately HKD 18,709,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB16,474,000).

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders
of the Company at an extraordinary general meeting held on 6
November 2024, every ten issued and unissued shares of HKDO0.01
each in the share capital of the Company were consolidated into
one share of HKDO.1 each with effect from 8 November 2024.

FTB R E E 2024 F % 20234 12 A 31
BIEFEEETHRMERRD RS
EROPIBE I ZERERSER -

Htst -

(iii)

202367 R7H KRB ERE
1%0.196 7 7T 8 77 48 5+ 176,880,000 f%
B BROEEFMENRERLER
#934,669,000% 7T (HHERHARE
31,981,0007T) °

R2024F 4 4308 + ARQFAER0.097
BT E 1T HE 5T 192,880,000 % i 15 o B B%
19 B & BT 15 79 318 48 78 A 49 18,709,000
BT EERLHAR16,474,0007T) °

RIEA D AR 2024 611 A 6 HE1T
BRRFHIAEG LRBMNTBAER
B20245 11 A8HE  ARAIRAHTF
TREREECOTEITZ EBITRAR
TROEHA—REREENIETZ

Bfn o

HEREBZEREBARAT/ — T —PUFFH
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24 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

)

(i)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account
is governed by the Company’s Articles of
Association and the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, which provides that the share premium
account may be applied in making distributions
or paying dividends to shareholders, provided
that immediately following the date on which
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.

Statutory reserve

It represents statutory reserve of the subsidiary of
the Company established in the “PRC". According
to the relevant laws in the PRC, the subsidiary
in the PRC is required to transfer at least 10% of
its net profit after taxation, as determined under
the relevant accounting principles and financial
regulations applicable to enterprises established
in the PRC, to a non-distributable reserve fund
until the reserve balance reaches 50% of its
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must
be made before the distribution of a dividend to
owners. Such reserve fund can be used to offset
the previous years’ losses, if any, and is non-
distributable other than upon liquidation.
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24 BAR@HEw)
FHEHEE & B

(b)

(M

(i)

g

Petn i ERRr A AR FA
BERAUEFASEERARDA
BE ERERMDEERA B
1A [8) B 3R H 93 IR 3K A AR
B EEREREFD D IRSK
NS HHIE  AREABRE
NEEHEHRBEEBBIETE
HIH (&R o

EERE

HIEARRBR o B RSz
BRRZEERE - RIEPE
AR PEMMERRZER
R E AR B E AR
et R A R 558 I B E 1
BRIIR AL & 2 10% B E
AnkEES  EEREEH
R H M E A 50% © 1t 7
BEBRARRREA AN KBS
RIYEL - BB ARE
HBEFENEE(WE) &
FER TATANIK -
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24 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

Other reserve

Other reserve represents (i) an amount of
RMB3,550,000 arising from the effect of the
conversion of Guangzhou World-Link (China)
Co., Ltd. ("Guangzhou World-Link") into a
joint stock company with limited liability in 2016
whereas the excess of the net assets over the
designated conversion amount attributable to
the owners of the Company; (ii) an amount of
RMB3,449,000 arising from a group reorganisation
in 2016 pursuant to which the entire registered
capital of Guangzhou World-Link was acquired by
a group entity from its then shareholders. Upon
completion of the above transactions, the balance
of the retained profits and non-distributable
reserve of Guangzhou World-Link attributable to
the owners of the Company; and (iii) an amount of
RMB20,095,000 due to capital contributions from
certain shareholders of the Company in 2017.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair value
of the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to the eligible participants
under the share option scheme of the Company
recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in Note 2.20.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 2.6.

24 BAR#HE =)
EENME KB 8@

(b)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

HAib ks
H bR () BN R B IRFI
KRB R AR (TR
F]) R2016F X HI ARHDE
RARNEEEEANSEAR
#5 3,550,000 7T © & &= FE
MEARRHE ABLIETE
BReFEOHILD ()R 20164F
SEHEHAEANSBARE
&MNM%'F%'FM¢“
RFNEHAMEREEEE
BAEZRREWE - N i
X%E&&‘$Aj%ﬁA%
15 BN R B IR TR R T &
A 9K A e R (i) A
RNEETFTRER2017FEE
AR 20,095,000 7T °

BREEE
BREREEREME2 20)5)?
HEABRERORIBEAR
BREGEETAERS ,\%
B B FR S AR ET RTT R B 8L
HEYAF(E -

BE 5%

[E 3 B e R R E B I E T B
BHRRELENMAEN 25 -
ZFEBRENE2OME SR
R ERIE ©

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH
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25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at an extraordinary
general meeting of the Company on 23 November 2023, the
shareholders of the Company have approved to terminate
the existing share option scheme (“Existing Share Option
Scheme”) of the Company as adopted on 26 September 2017
and adopt the new share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) of the Company.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to the eligible persons as rewards
or incentives for their contribution to the Group. The Company
may, at its absolute discretion, offer an option to the eligible
persons to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an
exercise price and subject to the other terms of the Share
Option Scheme. The total number of shares of the Company
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of
the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in
time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which options granted and may be granted to any individual
in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options granted
to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive
directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital
must be approved in advance by the Company'’s shareholders.

The Share Option Scheme remains in force for a period of 10
years. Under the Share Option Scheme, each option has a 10-
year exercise period unless otherwise determined by the board
of directors of the Company. The exercise price is determined
by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant, (i) the average closing price of the shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

The share options granted under the Existing Share Option
Scheme remained outstanding and will continue to be valid
are exercisable in accordance with the provision of the
Existing Share Option Scheme notwithstanding the proposed
termination of the Existing Share Option Scheme.
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25 BREETE

BEAR A RIR2023F 11 A23H B AR
RERARE EBBNEIIRER - AAA
R B H AR IEARRRIR2017F9 A 26
HIEERRETE ([ REMEEe))
W ERAN AR D R FT I A g =t & ([ R R 4wt
DI

BERETINENRSARARMAERA
ITREBERE  UMEAEUAKERTE
BRE) SR B SRR - AR R ] 2 RIBIRTT
FEELBREAINEMGERAGERA
TREBRE  ARBARRRND - RE
ARBRRELIAE - BITERIRERE
S RARR BT EME SR N A R
Pt AT BT A R R IR iy B A KT
BB A DA MEM R EITH RN &
B RN 10% ° REARBRRELHME
EA — S REEA B X H R AT R
B BB B R P R B B 3297 RS T 31T )
A THFHBBARRNEMNREDETR
ME1% WX T EERRIBILIFNITE
ENBEREBBARRRAN01%  BIZE
RARBIRRELLE

BRGS0 FHAGER AR - RIEW
st 8l SHBRENTEHA10F
BRIEARFEZTERARTE - (TREBAR
RAEFET B TEERRTZ2E8S
EF VAR RRMHPE L BHHWRTE ;)
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HAREIR A BT S M IR EBEE R R
Al TITE - AMEEEAR LIRBRBRE S -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A R RE I s

25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The following table details the Company’s share options in
issue under the Share Option Scheme during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023:

25 BRREFE (2
TREFFIARRQBREE 2024 F % 2023 F 12
A31BLFEEREEREFZCRITNE
&

Number of exercisable and outstanding share options

MiTERARTERRESE

Balance Balance

Exercisable period as at Lapsed Cancelled as at

Categories of fTER Exercise 1 January during during 31 December

Participants Date of grant  From To price 2024 the year the year 2024

120245 R2024%

1R1A 12A318

SHERR R EH ] E iR ok ] FREN FRiEH iofe

(Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii)
(i) (W#ii) (Witiii)

HKD ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

BT T T T T’

Directors 1 June 2020 1June 2020 31 May 2030 0.188 12,000 (2,400) (9,600) -
Bz 2020%6A1H 20206A18 2030%5A31H

Employees  1June 2020 1June 2020 31 May 2030 0.188 57,000 - (57,000) -
] 2020%6A1H 20206A18 2030%5A31H

69,000 (2,400) (66,600) -

Number of exercisable and outstanding share options
AT REATREREXE

Balance Balance

Exercisable period asat Lapsed Cancelled asat

Categories of TR H Exercise 1 January during during 31 December

Participants Date of grant From To price 2023 the year the year 2023

RN2023% RABE

1R18 124318

28EFH  REAH i E TEE oFaial EREN FREH ke

(Note J) HKD ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

(Hrzi) BT Fhg Thg T T

Directors 1June 2020 1une2020 31 May 2030 0.188 12,000 - - 12,000
= 020%6R18 02056A18  200F5A318

Employees 1June 2020 1June 2020 31 May 2030 0.188 57,000 - - 57,000
& 020%6R18 02056A18  200F5A318

69,000 - - 69,000

LREFEREBERAR/ — T UFFH 25
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25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Note:

(i

(iii)

The categories of participants represented the position of grantees as at
the date of grant.

As three directors of the Company has resigned, 2,400,000 share
options were lapsed and the total amount of approximately HKD200,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB184,000) for the lapsed share options
were transferred from share option reserve to accumulated losses during
the year.

The Company and the participants entered into cancellation agreements,
pursuant to which the participants agreed to surrender their share
options for cancellation (the “Cancelled Options”), and the Company
agreed to pay the participants at cash consideration of HKDO0.01 for
each Cancelled Option, with a total amount of HKD660,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB613,000). Consequently, 66,600,000 share options
were cancelled and the total amount of approximately HKD5,536,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB5,093,000) for the Cancelled Options
were transferred from share option reserve to accumulated losses during
the year.

Save as disclosed above, no share option was granted,
exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Details of outstanding share options at the end of the year are

25 BERRRERTE (e

(i)

(iii)

B E XXk ESN
FRANALFE -
e ke

SEFJFIEARARE L B EBRAL -

HRARR =REFREE > 2,400,000 f A% 2
B T SR BB R 48 £ #E 40 200,00058 7T (48
B AR 184,0007T) B 7 F A B B E R
BEEREHE -

RAFESEEILFHEBE - R 28ER
ERMEEFREAMEH ([l - m
ARRRAERENETHBERERN2EEXNR
ERE0.01ETT - LR 660,000BTTAEER
#ANERH613,0007T) © E It - 66,600,000 17 i A
TR - AR A M AR 2 7R 405,536,000
AT (HHE R L ARKS,093,0007T) ERFAHA
B E RS -

E’\%Z;Kt 2024 % }2. 2023

- FETTIE %?ﬂﬁﬁ?ﬁé{ﬂﬂ °

RERHRITENBEREFBOT

as follows:
2024 2023
2024 % 2023
Number of exercisable share options AT AR E S B (F1H)
(in thousands) - 69,000
Weighted average exercise price IEFITEE N/A HKDO.188
EA 0.1887%8 7T
Weighted average remaining N RERE K EARR (6) N/A 6.4
contractual life (years) REH
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25

N

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value
of the share options under the share option scheme which is
terminated during the year are based on the management’s
best estimate. The value of an option varies with different
variables of a number of subjective assumptions. Any change
in the variables so adopted may materially affect the estimation
of the fair value of an option. The significant assumptions used
in the binomial model to derive the fair value at the date of
grant were as follows:

Expected volatility 41.606%
Expected life 10 years
Risk-free rate 0.529%
Expected dividend yield 0.00%
Early exercise multiple for directors 2.80
Early exercise multiple for employees 2.20
Early exercise multiple for non-employees 2.20
Closing share price at grant date HKDO.188
Exercise price per share HKDO0.188

The expected volatility is calculated based on the historic
volatility of share prices of the Company and comparable
companies based on publicly available information. Expected
dividend yield is based on historic dividends.

25

BRESE e

HHE ARG R BT BIE T R AR E
ATEFRANEERBRNDENTEEN
B - BREEERE T EBHBRRN
TRASEMARTR - TASKRAZEE
LRSS e WBREATEE
HEABAYE L TARER R ERN
MSHEEEHMATE EABRRET -

Ta HR R 18 41.606%
TEHRA R 104
= BRI 0.529%
TEHARR Bk 5 R 0.00%
ERREPTEEH 2.80
EERBITEREH 2.20
FEBIRFITHESH 2.20
R B B2 IR W E 0.18878 7T
GRITERE 0.18875 T

FAEHRIE TR AR AR DX B RRAD (B AR 2 B SRR
et E - MALBRARNERARAGE
FIEUE - RS R TDERELRE

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH
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26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26 FEMBRARANAER
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(@) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised () EERECHBEEE (8
&)
(i) Movement of each component of deferred () EZHEBEEEREESIBIN
tax assets and liabilities BE
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) e ﬁﬁ%ﬂkﬂimmaﬁﬁubp
recognised in the consolidated statement of ERBEEE (& 2
financial position and the movements during the FRHE EJJXZDT
year are as follows:
Right-of-
use Lease Intangible Tax
assets liabilities assets losses Total
EREEE HEAR ELEE REAGHR #t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AR¥TT ARBTR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2023 20231818 (1,053) 1,053 - - -
Acquired on acquisition of WS T B A R U BE
subsidiaries (Note 33) (H333) (5,174) 4,674 #12) 1,250 338
(Charged)/credited to profit () AR
or loss 823 (930) 7 (281) (381)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F 128318 %
1 January 2024 202441018 (5,404) 4,797 (405) 969 (43)
(Charged)/credited to profit CIEIVEINF
or loss 4,686 (4,073) 4 - 654
At 31 December 2024 R2024512 5318 (718) 724 (364) 969 611
(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement (i) HREMBRARER
of financial position
2024 2023
20245 2023 FF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT AEBTT
Net deferred tax asset recognised  REA BB RTHR Y
in the consolidated statement of EIERIBEESE
financial position 975 241
Net deferred tax liability recognised 4e& B SR KRR Y
in the consolidated statement of BERBEAESRE
financial position (364) (284)
611 (43)
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26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax not recognised

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not recognise
deferred income tax assets of approximately
RMB13,449,000 (2023: RMB11,546,000) in respect
of unutilised tax losses amounting to approximately
RMB54,957,000 (2023: RMB46,184,000) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income with expiry
within 5 years due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has unrecognised
deferred tax liabilities of RMB3,888,000 (2023:
RMB5,110,900) in relation to withholding tax on
undistributed profits of RMB38,880,000 (2023:
RMB51,109,000) of the Group's subsidiary in the PRC
as the Company is in a position to control the dividend
policy of this subsidiary and no distribution of such profits
is expected to be declared by them in the foreseeable
future.

Except for the disclosed above, the Group does not have
any other material temporary differences at the end of
the reporting period (2023: Nil).

27 AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO A DIRECTOR

The amount due from/to a director, Mr. Le Kang, is in the
nature of current accounts, unsecured, interest-free and has
no fixed terms of repayment. The maximum debit outstanding
balance was RMB786,000 during the year.

26 REVBRRRANFER @

(b) REERELEHIE
R2024F 12 A31H AR E LA
R AR PSE T SRR - 2N 5 B 3 A 5t AT
HEEAEBERRAEFRI R E
RBBAORDABEEBOAR
¥ 54,957,000 (20234 : A R #&
46,184,000 7T ) FE RIEFE FTIHE & 2=
“4 A B #13,449,000 7T (20234 = A
FR# 11,546,000 7T) °

R20245 12 318 » AEBBAE
5 B A BT B A B B R 9 TR i A
A R #38,880,000 7T (20234 : AR
51,109,000 7T ) & T8 F L 7 B K 78
RIEERIE & & A K1 3,888,000 7T
(20234 : AR #5,110,9007T) © R
Y YayNS R Al =PNS ol
R BIEASESRARERITEE

SRR -

B EXFTIRTEEIN  AEERREH
7 7 4 AT {a] E b 88 K T BF 2= 58 (2023
&) o

27 EW t—REERE
FEUL M — B EREF R ERFAB TR
REME  BEF  RERERTERS -
FAREFTREAREREGHRTERAR 786,000

JC ©
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28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 28 ZE7GIZIoMEmIT A

2024 2023
20245 2023 4F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBFIT
Financial assets EMRE
At fair value BOATFE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATFEAABENSMEE = 4,580
At amortised cost BEEEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N HE A RS GRIE 93,348 92,897
Amount due from a non-controlling FE U — 42 JEF R A% B R 0E
shareholder 30,048 32,121
Amount due from a director el —ZEEHRIA 110 -
Time deposit with original maturity over — FRE| 5 B #8:8 =18 A & & BifF K
three months 10,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents HERIREEEY 49,723 78,026
183,229 203,044
183,229 207,624
Financial liabilities eRAR
At fair value BAOTFE
Contingent consideration payable for ERAHENSAKRE
business combination - 8,115
At amortised cost BEEEE
Trade and other payables B 5 &k B A ET FRIE 56,472 46,997
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EALE TR 50,784 52,602
Lease liabilities HEGE 15,286 25,489
Amount due to a director N —REERR = 4,581
122,542 129,669
122,542 137,784
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29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 29 BEBMAERZ KRR
BALANCES
(@) Transactions with related parties () HEEBALRS
Apart from the financial arrangement dealt with related FRET 23 P B BR A B RA B T A
parties as disclosed in Note 23, the Group entered into HIERHEON - RER - REEETZ A
the following significant related party transactions during TEXBEE RS
the year:
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TT ARBT T
Repayment of principal and interest a8 5 (Ei@ M & [ RH
element of lease payments paidto  &x& R F| 235 *
related parties* 650 631
Interest expenses on lease liabilities R B ST WEHNFEERE
charged by related parties* F SR * 179 43
* Related parties represent directors/key management personnel of * B AEAATES, /TETEAER

the Company and their close family members.

Balances with related parties

Details of outstanding balances with related parties are
disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
position and in Notes 18(b), 19 and 27.

Key management compensation

Key management includes the directors and senior
management of the Group.

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group, including directors’ remunerations as disclosed in
Note 8(a) to the consolidated financial statements, are as
follows:

WEZHRRE

£ B B 07 O A5 B

HRRAR R BB AR E
AR R R M EE18(D) ~ 19 K274 E -

Aber & BF

TEEEAEME
TEEREORAREEERSRE
TE -

REBTEEEABTH(BENS
A B S TRR KT RE 8(a) P R A E S B
)T

2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBFIT

Fees, wages and salaries, and other  #4& ~ T& M¥ 4 A K E 28,
allowances 5,485 3,191

Contribution to defined contribution — F Mt TR

plans 130 126
5,615 3,317
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30 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 30 EBEERERKE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Cash generated from operations (@) SREARS
2024 2023
2024 5% 20234
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
i AR®TR ARETT
Loss before income tax BRETS R ATE R (30,142) (33,400)
Adjustments for: AT EBEELFAE
Depreciation of property, M - BERRENE
plant and equipment 14 1,205 1,637
Depreciation of right-of-use TRESERE
assets 15(b) 7.429 3,852
Amortisation of intangible assets 4 124 & # 17 165 27
Impairment of right-of-use CREEERE
assets 15(b) 1,947 2,846
Impairment loss on loan and U E TR R M SR BB
interest receivables 3.1(b) 7,574 -
Impairment loss on trade B P RWFIEREEE
receivables 3.1(b) 2,055 -
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HENE - BER
property, plant and equipment  REEE, (W) 7 13 (485)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries  HE M B A GIEE 7 1,687 -
Unrealised exchange gain REIRPE 3 U 2s (3,426) (2,831)
Interest income from bank RITHERFEHA
deposits 7 (761) (1,052)
Interest income from loan JEHE R B HA
receivables 7 (2,867) (4,478)
Interest income on rental HEReNEWA
deposits 7 (33) (93)
Finance costs BB A 10 3,971 1,057
Gain on early termination of REKRIHEENWEE
lease 7 (680) -
Unrealised loss on fair value BRATHERT A BRL
change of financial asset CHEEATEEHN
at FVPL REHEIE 7 4,580 1,513
Change in fair value on %ﬁﬂ’\ﬁﬁ’lfﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁ’ﬂ
contingent consideration NEEE
payable for business
combination 7 (8,115) 63
Operating loss before working LEEASEBRICESE
capital changes (15,398) (31,350)
Changes in working capital: BESEE
Trade and other receivables féi% T2 Hopth E U k18 (24,290) (2,982)
Trade and other payables B 5 N H b e o8 11,250 (2,671)
Amount due with a director fEM— 2B E 0B (4,691) 2,127
Amount due with a non- JEU — & IEFEAR AR SRR
controlling shareholder 2,073 1,391
Cash used in operations R FTAR S (31,056) (33,485)
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30 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b)

30 REBEREXRMT#)

BREEDELNBELK

financing activities

Bank and
other Lease
borrowings liabilities
B|ITR
HffE® HEAH
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREEF T AREFT
As at 1 January 2023 #2023F1818 - 7,592
Non-cash movements: FIREEE)
— Acquired on acquisition of — BB A PRI
subsidiaries (Note 33(c)) (Bt#£33(c) 50,586 21,092
— Recognition of lease liabilities —HRMEERE - 704
— Interest expenses — FBEHEX 556 501
Net cash inflow/(outflow): B&FRA R
— Principal element of lease —XNHEMES E’JZIK EilSa)
rental paid - (3,899
— Interest element of lease — XNHEERSHAEIH
rental paid - (501)
— Interest paid on bank and — ZRIT REMERFLE
other borrowings (556) -
— Proceeds from bank and — RITREAMERBPTEHRIE
other borrowings 4,580 -
— Repayment of bank and — BEBBITREMER
other borrowings (2,564) -
At 31 December 2023 and #2023F12A31HR
1 January 2024 2024%181A8 52,602 25,489
Non-cash movements: IR
— Acquired on acquisition of — U BB B A R RS
subsidiaries (Note 33(b)) (Kt7E33(0) = 5,500
— Recognition of lease liabilities —EREEARE - 13,460
— Early termination of lease —REBHKRIEE = (19,907)
— Interest expenses — FEMX 3,003 968
Net cash inflow/(outflow): B&FRA R
— Principal element of lease rental — % HHEEHES E’JZIK%%IS%
paid - (9,256)
— Interest element of lease rental — X HEERSHFEHS
paid - (968)
— Interest paid on bank and other ~ — S HR1T &% E A & 50 51 &
borrowings (3.003) =
— Proceeds from bank and other — RITREAMERBFTEHRIE
borrowings 6,420 -
— Repayment of bank and other — EBBITREMER
borrowings (8,238) =
At 31 December 2024 #20245%12A8 318 50,784 15,286
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31 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

31

RRATRMBRARRREEEE

(@) Statement of financial position of the @ ARREBEMARREK
Company
2024 2023
2024 ¢ 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
it AR®TT ARET T
ASSETS HE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment  #1% « E & i& 27 11
Investments in subsidiaries RETBARMIRE 53,511 53,551
Right-of-Use assets FEREEE 278 -
Total non-current assets JEREISE#E 53,816 53,562
current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables Z S REMmEWZIE 396 15
Amount due from a director FEW— B EEHIE 110 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries e I B A T 718 12,206 -
Cash and cash equivalents BERIBELEEYD 29,986 39,093
Total current assets mENEERE 42,698 39,108
Total assets BEHRE 96,514 92,670
EQUITY #a
Share capital ik&N 24 11,469 9,770
Reserves 53] 31(b) 74,067 63,333
Total equity Bausd 85,536 73,103
LIABILITIES afR\
current liabilities REBAR
Lease Liabilities HEaE 219 -
Other payables and accruals HtEASRIERESER 2,584 6,297
Amount due to a director ER—REEHIE - 4,581
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERB AT HRIE 8,100 8,689
Total current liabilities mENRERSE 10,903 19,567
Non-current liabilities FERBAR
Lease Liabilities HEaE 75 -
Total non-current liabilities i E& F#%E 75 -
Total liabilities AEWEH 10,978 19,567
Total equity and liabilities #aR&E#E 96,514 92,670
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31 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 31 AXQRHMBERRARRFHEEE

RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY (#)
(Continued)
(b) Reserve movements of the Company b) ARFIFHEEE
Share
Share Other option  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
RiaR Rfheife TAR G tR RitEH it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2023 R2023E1510 62920 20,09 5217 (46,861) 41431
Loss and total comprehensive  ERFERZEERAE
expense for the year - - - (8,448) (8,448)

Transactions with owners ~ BHEAHZ S
Issue of shares through share— EBRHEERTRA
placing (Note 24(a)) (W 2)) 30,350 - - - 30,350

At31December2023and  R2023%12A31RR

1 January 2024 20241810 93,270 20,095 5271 (55,309) 63,333
Loss and total comprehensive  FRBERZERZLH
expense for the year - - - (3,428) (3,428)

Transactions with owners ~ BREHANZS
Issue of shares through share— EBRHRERTRA

placing (Note 24(a)(i) (Bt 24)) 14,775 - - - 14,775
Lapse of share options (Note 25) BRI A (Hfs225) - - (184) 184 -
Cancellation of share options s+ 4 e (2125

(Note 25) - - (5,093) 4,480 (613)
At 31 December 2024 R2024%128318 108,045 20,095 - (54,073) 74,067
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32 SUBSIDIARIES 32 BT
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 2024 F K% 2023F 12 A31A AR R K E
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows. Unless otherwise EMBARGIBEHINNAT - RBAEAIN
stated, they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary ZEWNBRARMBRAERIEE®EK - BAT
shares and the proportion of ownership interests held equals AT NERALREEFANER
the voting rights held by the Group. E o
Issued and
fully paid Equity interest

Place of incorporation ordinary share attributableto  Principal
Name of subsidiaries and kind of legal entity capital the Group activities

BRSINER EETR
U ANGIES EAERER BREERSF FREELRRE TERE

2024 2023

2024 20235

Indirectly held by the Company:

ERTEMERE
Guangzhou World-Link The PRC, RMB30,000,000 100% 100% Provision of transportation,
(Note (i) limited liability company warehousing, in-
plant logistics and
customisation services
BN EEIRT (T2 (1) HE - BRAT AR 30,000,000 7 RELES - 2F - BAMR
N SR
Guangdong Leshi Xianglong  The PRC, RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Provision of transportation
Supply Chain Management  limited liability company services
Co., Ltd. (Note (i)
BRELMEMRRERER HE - BRAT AR 10,000,000 7T RAEH MR
BRAR (K )
Zhongshan Haihui Technology ~ The PRC, RMB30,000,000 60% 60% Provision of transportation
Logistics (Group) Company limited liability company and warehousing services

Limited ("Haihui")
(Note (i) and (iii))

RIEERAR(RE)ER T BRAF AR 30,000,000 7T REEH LA HRE
RE([BR L) (K0 R (i)
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32 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of incorporation
Name of subsidiaries and kind of legal entity

M R I B R
WELFEHE EARRAY

32 MEAT &)

Issued and
fully paid Equity interest
ordinary share attributableto  Principal

capital the Group activities
ERITR
BERERSF HEEMEL R IERH
2024 2023

2024 % 20234

Indirectly held by the Company:
ELRFHERH

Goal Rise Logistics (Egypt) Egypt, EGP50,000 = 100% Provision of transportation
Limited (Note (iv)) limited liability company Services

AR (R R)ERAT ®’E - BRAT 50,000% K85 REERRYG
(HzE(iv)

Keshiketeng Banner Meixuan ~ The PRC, RMB3,920,000 51.22% - Provision of transportation
Logistics Co., Ltd. (Note (v)) limited liability company and warehousing services

Rt REEFENRERLE  HE - BRAF AR 3,920,0007T RELER R RS
Wiz10)

Notes: Wit

(0} Unless otherwise stated, the principal place of operation of each @i BEEERIN  ERANEBKEHMEMERET

company is the same as its place of incorporation.

A Szt F AR R

(ii) The English name represents the best effort of the Group’s management (i) HZM B R RIS - BT
to translate its Chinese name, as the subsidiary does not have official AEEEBBRAZKABNBEAEP XA -
English name.

(iiiy  This subsidiary was acquired by the Group during the year ended 31 (iii) ZHBARANEBREBE 202341243181

December 2023 (see Note 33(¢)).

FREAUE (RHFES3) °

(iv)  This subsidiary, which is held by Goal Rise Logistics (Overseas) Investment (iv) ZHBARBEAYMROEINIREFRARE
Limited, was disposed by the Group during the year (see Note 33(a)). A RAREERFEANHSE (RKE33@)) °
(v) This subsidiary was acquired by the Group during the year ended 31 v) ZHE AR RAEENBE 202412 A31 B 1E

December 2024 (see Note 33(b)).

FREAUHE (RHFE330))

HEREBZEREBARAT/ — T —PUFFH
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33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES UNDER
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

(@) Disposal of subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2024

On 26 August 2024, the Group disposed of its 100% equity
interest in Goal Rise Logistics (Overseas) Investments
Limited and its subsidiaries to an independent third party
at a cash consideration of RMB3,500,000.

The net assets of Goal Rise Logistics (Overseas)
Investments Limited and its subsidiaries at the date of
disposal were as follows:

33 HEMBRAARREKSHE

TWREHB QT
(@) MEZE2024%F12A31H1E

FEHENB AR
PR2024F8 A268 » REBME — %
TN E = I EE @AY O8I
BEBR AR RENE AR F A/ 100%
gt - W& K E R AR 3,500,000
5T o

fFm (85N R E B R A B R EH
BRARRHE A EEREN T

RMB'000
AR®ETIT
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E b U IE 682
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEFEY 4,717
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENTE (1,923)
Current income tax liabilities BIHAFTS A E (476)
Net assets disposed of it EmEEFE 3,000
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B A REE (1,687)
Reclassification adjustment on exchange HERREE X FEBEHERMERS
reserve released upon disposal B DIEAE 2,187
3,500
Satisfied by: IATBFREEE -
Cash consideration HEeRE 3,500
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEFHEEARNRS LT -
Cash consideration HeRE 3,500
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of It ERNREKIREEED 4,717)
(1,217)
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33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES UNDER
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary under business (b)

33 HEHNBARARREKSHE
TWEKNB AR &)

MREZE2024F12A318 1k

combination during the year ended 31
December 2024

On 30 July 2024, the Company, through Guangdong
Yues International Logistics Co., Ltd. (formerly known as
Guangdong Yues International Intelligent Logistics Co.,
Ltd.), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the
“Guangdong Yues International”) entered into a
capital contribution agreement with Keshiketeng Banner
Meixuan Logistics Co., Ltd. ("Keshiketeng Banner
Meixuan”), whereby Guangdong Yues International
subscribed newly increased registered share capital of
Keshiketeng Banner Meixuan representing approximately
51.2217% equity interest in Keshiketeng Banner Meixuan
at a cash consideration of RMB3,920,000. Keshiketeng
Banner Meixuan is principally engaged in provision
transportation and warehousing services. The transaction
was completed on 7 August 2024. The acquisition has
been accounted for as acquisition of business using the
acquisition method.

The primary reason for the above acquisition was for
the expansion of the Group's business and to increase
returns to its shareholders.

FEREBEOFIETHE
—RIMt B AR
2024478308 © AR AEBA

REIZEMB AR EREKXEEDR
BRAR(AIBAERLXEKREE
MnBRAR) ((EREKEER])
R RBEESEDRERAR (R
AREESE DIV LEHE &
It BREZRFEBEURSREAAR
# 3,920,000 7C R 52 11 52 BB H R
FgAMER(BE R R R BES
BAB12217% IEHE) - AT RIEIES
BXENFREMERRERERS - %
T BEMN2024E8 A7 BRERK o ZIW
BEHEOCRARBEAEAEBBEA
g§ °

EREEEN T Z2RARBRA S
B0 7% MG AR B #R

HREFEREBERAR / —Z —FFH

265



266

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

b2 & BT IS SR B S on

33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES UNDER
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary under business
combination during the year ended 31
December 2024 (continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Keshiketeng Banner Meixuan as at the date of acquisition
were as follows:

33 HEMBRAARREKSHE

TWEKRB AR (&)

(b) MEZE2024F12 A31H8 1t
FEREBEHETKRE
s LEYNGIE )
51 7 B HE AR R K B BB AT 34
BERBENATEMT :

RMB'000
AREETIT

Property, plant and equipment (Note 14) M - R R (A 14) 13
Right-of-use assets (Note 15) EREEE (it 15) 6,114
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E b U IE 2,713
Cash and cash equivalents BERBEEHEY 3,920
Lease liabilities HEaE (5,500)
Trade and other payables B 5 REM R FIE (149)
Net identifiable assets acquired P & B AT 5k Bl & R E 7,111
Non-controlling interests? FEFEAR I AR (3,469)
Net identifiable assets attributable to RATIEE NGB EEFE

owners of the Company 3,642
Goodwill arising on business combination EBEHEENEE (Wit 17)

(Note 17) 278
Total consideration BB 3,920
Satisfied by: LATRON A REE -

Cash consideration RERE 3,920
Net cash arising on acquisition: WIS SIEEL MRS F5E

Cash consideration HeERE (3,920)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired BTN R e MRS EEY 3,920

# Non-controlling interests are measured at the non-controlling #
interests’ proportionate share of fair value of the identifiable net

assets of the acquired subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
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33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES UNDER
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary under business (b)

33 HEHNBARARREKSHE
TWEKNB AR &)

RELZ2024F12 A31 8 1k

combination during the year ended 31 FEREBEHETRE
December 2024 (continuead) —fENB AR ®)
Note: B EE -

Goodwill arose from the above acquisition by the Group is mainly
attributable to the benefit of expected revenue growth and future
market development. These benefits are not recognised separately from
goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable
intangible assets. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes.

The acquisition-related costs are insignificant and are included in other
expenses.

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

The acquired subsidiary contributed approximately
RMB3,545,000 to the Group’s revenue and resulted loss
of approximately RMB617,000 for the period between
the date of acquisition and the end of the year ended 31
December 2024.

Had the above acquisition been complete as at 1 January
2024, the total amount of revenue of the Group for the
year would have been approximately RMB258,704,000
and the amount of the loss for the year would have been
approximately RMB27,110,000. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed at the beginning of the year,
nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

AAREET ERKBEEMELCHETIER
AR SRR RRRTISERNES - AR

ZEBR T A B BB ENERIRE - &
W EAEEDFER - ECHER ZmEEYA
FYEHIBR RIS TR -

WHEERARMAKALTEAN - AR AHMRA
Fo

WESEURAEEEE S E

PR BB OB BB 2 B A UK B B HR AR = &
E2024F 12 ANBILFEXREE A
AN BB R U4 A R B 3,545,000
JC - WEAEEL ARE617,0005T °

it Eat U B BIEMR 2024 F 1 A1 H
B RIRSEERAFEREBEG A
49 A 258,704,000 7T + AN 4E E
E5 BRI A4 AR 27,110,000 7T © 1
ZERMEEHARAG - BARMUREIM
W EERFEY TR AEEERASE
UG RIS E SRR - T BERRE
,Z,%EIU‘}FE/EU ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES UNDER
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

(©)

Acquisition of subsidiaries under business
combination during the year ended 31
December 2023

On 31 October 2023, the Company, through Guangdong
Yues International, acquired 60% equity interest (the
“Sales Shares”) in Haihui and its subsidiaries (together
“"Haihui Group”) from an independent third party (the
“Vendor” or “Mr. Wang Haixi") at a consideration
of RMB9,000,000 (the "Consideration”) (the
"Acquisition”). Upon the completion of the transaction,
Haihui Group has become a subsidiary of the Company
and the consolidated financial statements of Haihui
Group were therefore consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements of the Company.

Pursuant to the agreement for sale and purchase
("Acquisition Agreement”) dated 31 July 2023
entered into among the Guangdong Yues International,
the Vendor and Haihui in relation to the Acquisition,
the Consideration shall be paid by the Guangdong
Yues International to the Vendor in cash, subject to
status of fulfilment in the profit guarantee (the “Profit
Guarantee”) as discussed in the below section.

Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, the Vendor and
Haihui has jointly undertaken to the Guangdong Yues
International that the audited revenue and audited net
profit of Haihui Group for the period commencing from 1
August 2023 and up to 30 June 2024 (the “"Guaranteed
Period”) shall not be less than RMB60,000,000 (the
"Guarantee Revenue”) and RMB3,500,000 (“the
“Guarantee Profit") respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
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33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES UNDER
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

(c) Acquisition of subsidiaries under business (©)

33 HEHNBARARREKSHE
TWEKNB AR &)

MEE2023F12A31H 1k

combination during the year ended 31
December 2023 (continued)

On 22 December 2023, Guangdong Yues International,
the Vendor and Haihui have entered into an amendment
agreement to the Acquisition Agreement (the
"Amendment Agreement”) to revise certain terms
in the Acquisition Agreement. Pursuant to the terms of
the Amendment Agreement, the original Guaranteed
Period as stated in the Acquisition Agreement should be
amended and replaced as the period commenced from 1
January 2024 and up to 31 December 2024 (the “Revised
Guaranteed Period”), with other terms and conditions
of the Acquisition Agreement remain unchanged and
continue in full force and effect.

In the event that either the Guaranteed Revenue or the
Guaranteed Profit is not achieved, Guangdong Yues
International has the right to exercise the put option
and request the Vendor to repurchase the Sale Shares
at nil consideration (the “Put Option”). If Guangdong
Yues International decides to exercise the Put Option,
Guangdong Yues International shall not be obliged to
pay the Consideration and the Vendor shall, within 20
business days upon receipt of the notice of exercising
the Put Option issued by Guangdong Yues International,
complete all the necessary procedures including the
registration with relevant government authorities in
respect of the repurchase of the Sale Shares.

If Guangdong Yues International decides not to
exercise the Put Option, and (i) where the Guaranteed
Profit is achieved, no adjustment will be made to the
Consideration or (ii) where the Guaranteed Profit is not
achieved, Guangdong Yues International shall pay to the
Vendor the Consideration adjusted with the shortfall of
the actual profit for the Revised Guaranteed Period to the
Guaranteed Profit.

FEREBEHETRE
)= NETNE )

M2023% 128228  FERLFEFRE -
gﬁ&ﬁ%ﬂi%%%%mmwam
2 (THRMEATIRM ) - LA 2T Ui 773
m%$%ﬁ RIBETHHDER -
W BB 0 R B HET TR
WA AB2024F1 A1 BEEZ2024
F12 831 B I EIRS ([ E TR E
W) MR T 0 EL A I R M
BETE . WREAB RN R

}EH °

AR ZEBRERALRERNE
ERERBBAEITEDBEE - 2K
ETNTREQDBHEMN ((EE
- 1%%%%‘%&@?&%%?@@%
o BEREXBERBAINRE
B ARKE ‘Jf%%ﬂéﬁl[@%%’éﬁﬁ’aﬁ
EEiEEERNE — TEEEAN
STRMBEVERIEF - BHEREBRA
HEETEOEERND o

el R AE R BBORTE M TIE I BB #E -
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33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND

(©)

B 15 SRk Y sk o

33 HEMBRAARREKSHE

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES UNDER TREHNBAR®)
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)
Acquisition of subsidiaries under business © REZE2023F12831H1E
combination during the year ended 31 FEREBEHETHE
December 2023 (continued) Ehy=PNEINE )
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities PR Pl EE R B EN A TE
acquired and goodwill arose as at the date of the AR S B BAE A BT
acquisition are as follows:
RMB'000
ARETT
Property, plant and equipment (Note 14) WE - BB KR (i 14) 1,191
Right-of-use assets (Note 15) EREEE (it 15) 20,694
Intangible assets (Note 17) BEE (Kt 17) 1,647
Deposit in relation to purchase of property, BEME  BEERXENHEBELZS

plant and equipment 36,167
Deferred income tax assets EEFTEMEE 628
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E IR 15,213
Amount from a non-controlling shareholder KRB — B IFER AR A RIS 33,512
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREFEY 1,426
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFMESHARE (290)
Lease liabilities fHERE (21,092)
Bank and other borrowings SR1T R E A fE 5K (50,586)
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A FRIA (25,092)
Taxation payables FERIFRIB (141)
Contract liabilities (Note 22) SREEMT22) (566)
Net identifiable assets acquired BB EAFEE 12,711
Non-controlling interests? FEFEAR I AR (5,084)
Net identifiable assets attributable to RARIEA AR #AFEE

owners of the Company 7,627
Goodwill arising on business combination EBEHEENEE (Wit 17)

(Note 17) 425
Fair value of contingent consideration FARELTE 8,052
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEEEA RS R FE
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BUER S MRS FEY 1,426
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33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES UNDER
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

(c) Acquisition of subsidiaries under business © REZE2023F12831H1E

33 HEHNBARARREKSHE
TWEKNB AR &)

combination during the year ended 31
December 2023 (continued)

# Non-controlling interests are measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of fair value of the identifiable net
assets of the acquired subsidiaries.

Note:

The fair value of the contingent consideration payable are required to be
measured at fair value in accordance with HKFRS 3 (see accounting policy
set out in Note 3.3(a)).

Goodwill arose from the above acquisition by the Group is mainly
attributable to the benefit of expected revenue growth and future
market development. These benefits are not recognised separately from
goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable
intangible assets. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes.

Acquisition related cost of RMB660,120 have been excluded from the
consideration and have been recognised as other expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

The acquired subsidiaries contributed approximately
RMB13,757,000 to the Group's revenue and resulted
profit of approximately RMB670,000 for the period
between the date of acquisition and the end of the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Had the above acquisition been complete as at 1 January
2023, the total amount of revenue of the Group for the
year would have been approximately RMB159,899,000
and the amount of the loss for the year would have been
approximately RMB33,366,000. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed at the beginning of the year,
nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

FEREBEHETRE

LN NETNE )

# FJEPE R AE 2 TR IETE R A 2 5 (h B IR
P /B A B Al BIE & E A T EA L HET

P

o
et -

REBEFEMBEREENEIFR  BREKAREDN
RFEAEZAFEFE(RMEI@QMENE
SR e

AEERE DR BEE MR E T ERENEHK
AEREARRTIGHRERAOBE - ANZEFHE
ST A AR AR A EOERRE - EibRE
AEDHER - DERNEEE I TEEMS
BiARHIRR ©

WREME R A AR 660,120 E B RE+ 5
B WEREREBRERANERAEMES -

WEHASEEEENTE

B U iE B BRE E & E 2023 5 12 A 31
BIEFER - HIEOHE AR AR
SEER T X AR 13,757,000 7T K
g 28 B #) A R 670,000 T H9F) S o

fity L3t BB 202361 A1 B 5EhK
AEBARFENBRABHOBAR
159,899,000 7T © A F E B E1E
# A N R 33,366,0007T ° #E AR
BHR2EDTREMERERFIT
K AEEEREERNKE REE
- DTREERREERTEA -
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33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES UNDER
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

(©)

Acquisition of subsidiaries under business
combination during the year ended 31
December 2023 (continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
(Continued)

In determining the “pro-forma” revenue and loss of the
Group had Haihui Group been acquired at the beginning
of the current year, the directors of the Company
calculated amortisation of intangible assets based on the
recognised amounts of intangible assets at the date of
the acquisition.

34 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@)

Disposal of equity interest and
shareholder’s loan in Haihui and
termination of put option

Reference is made to the announcements of the
Company dated 31 July 2023 and 22 December 2023 and
Note 33(c) in relation to, among other things, the sale
and purchase agreement and an amendment agreement
(collectively, “the 2023 Agreements”) entered
between the Group, the Vendor and the Haihui in respect
of the Acquisition as well as the Put Option.

Due to the highly fragmented and competitive nature
of the logistics market in the PRC, especially in the road
transport sector, Haihui faces significant market pressure
and has not demonstrated the expected level of synergy
with the Group. The management of the Company is
of the view that Haihui Group is unlikely to fulfill the
Guarantee Profit and therefore decided to terminate
the 2023 Agreements as well as the Put Option, which
allow the Group to focus on core strategic areas,
reduce exposure to market risks, thereby enhancing the
operational efficiency of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
e EEe

34 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)
(@) Disposal of equity interest and (a)

34 R{EPREE®)

&8 S BE R IRRE K

shareholder’s loan in Haihui and
termination of put option (continued)

On 20 December 2024, Guangdong Yues International,
Mr. Wang Haixi, Ms. Guo Chonghui and Haihui entered
into the Sale and Purchase Agreement (the “SPA"),
pursuant to which Mr. Wang Haixi has conditionally
agreed to purchase, and Guangdong Yues International
has conditionally agreed to sell, the Sales Shares in
Haihui at a consideration of RMB1 (the “Disposal”).

On 20 December 2024, Guangdong Yues International,
an independent third party (the “Purchaser”) and
Haihui entered into a loan transfer agreement (the
“Loan Transfer Agreement"”), pursuant to which
the Purchaser shall acquire from Guangdong Yues
International the shareholder’s loan at a consideration of
RMB7,000,000.

On 20 December 2024, Guangdong Yues International,
Mr. Wang Haixi, and Haihui entered into a termination
agreement (the "“Termination Agreement”), pursuant
to which all the parties to the Termination Agreement
have agreed to terminate the Acquisition Agreement and
the Put Option at nil consideration (the “Termination
of Put Option”).

The management of the Company is of the view that
the Disposal does not meet the held for sale definition
as per HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations”, as the completion of the
transactions is subject to approval at an extraordinary
general meeting scheduled on 27 January 2025. Hence,
the disposal of assets and liabilities of Haihui Group were
not classified as disposal groups held for sale as at 31
December 2024.

VA K2 #% 11 B B e (42)

2024412 4208 + BEREECEIRR -
TEEEE  BRELETRBZFL
EEms ((AERE]) Bt T8
BELBRHRERE  MERER
REGREREEESZNHEER
7 RERARKIUL(HERER]) -

R20245 12 A208 » B FEZHE
RLRER ([HEF D EEEIVER
Hixtra ((ERERRE]) - B
BHAMERERBEBKBEREESE
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FR2024512 320 - EREKEIR -
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IR ) - Bt RIEBERER]
MR ERBE YRR EEE
REAZ([RILDWE)) -

AREIEEBERE  BIEEBHHR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
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34 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(@)

Disposal of equity interest and
shareholder’s loan in Haihui and
termination of put option (continued)

Details of the above transactions can be referred to
announcement and circular issued by the Company dated
20 December 2024 and 10 January 2025 respectively.

The above transactions were approved by the
shareholders in an extraordinary general meeting on 27
January 2025 and completed on 8 February 2025. Upon
completion, Haihui Group will cease to be subsidiaries
of the Company. Accordingly, the financial results of
Haihui Group will no longer be consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and the
gain or loss on the Disposal will be recognised in profit or
loss subsequent to the end of the reporting period. Up to
the date of this report, the management of the Company
is still in the progress of preparing the initial accounting
for the Disposal.

Rights Issue

On 14 February 2025, the Company proposed to raise up
to approximately HKD69,376,000 before expenses by way
of the rights issue of a maximum of 533,664,000 rights
shares (assuming no change in the number of shares in
issue on or before the record date) at the subscription
price of HKDO.13 per rights share on the basis of four (4)
rights shares for every one (1) existing share held on the
record date. The proposed rights issue were approved
by the shareholders in an extraordinary general meeting
on 24 March 2025. Details of the above rights issue can
be referred to announcement and circular issued by the
Company dated 14 February 2025 and 7 March 2025
respectively.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

34 REPREE®)

(@)

HEEBEREMEEER
LA K #8211 Bl R e (42)

LR SHBALEARRDRIR
2024412 420 A % 202541 A 10 H
TIEM DS KB -

il X 5B R202591 827 B &R
R R A B K& #2025
F2ABHTHK - RTHKIE  BEE
EETHAERRBINME AR -
It BEEBEMMEEEGTBIA
REBEMLGAEVERE AR EFE
o E ) Rl YN e RIS =E
PR - BERAREE  AAFF
BENEGREEFENYL SR
b=

A%

PR202562 140 KRREZ K
REEABEEE —(WRBEERS
B O RHEBRAR G 2 £ 2 AR
BETRERRMIZE LA BHE
f% 77 = 2% 17 5 % 533,664,000 A% 4 A%
B D (R B BT h 0 8B R R %
BHIsk 2RI EE )  BEEZH
69,376,000 7T (FBRFIZ AT) © 325
A B R 2025F 3 A 24 A E R ER
BEERFFRIRS L& o Fill AR el
A2 AR QA DRI 202552 A 14
B &%20253 A7 B FIBH A% MR
|1| °



Financial Summary
G E 2

A summary of the results, and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

=1
=a

ERARBENAEREMBFENREREER
BEHME(HREETENERRZ

KR

published audited consolidated financial statements is set out below: &2 -
RESULTS 4
For the year ended 31 December
#F12A31BLLEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204 20214 2022 % 2023 & 2024 5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTIT ARETT ARBTT ARETRT AR¥®TRE
Revenue Wz 185,198 211,779 179,483 133,881 256,214
Profit/(loss) before income tax B RS RLRT 7,014 (21,082) (1,050) (33,406)  (30,142)
SwF(E1E)
Income tax (expense)/credit Frig8F (Fx),#E% (4,551) 3,980 880 (757) 86
Profit/(loss) for the year FRRF(EE) 2,463 (17,102) (170) (34,163)  (30,056)
Attributable to: AR & J5 e -
— Owners of the Company — AREHEA A 2,463 (17,102) (170) (34,431)  (24,710)
— Non-controlling interests — FEIERRAE S - - - 268 (5,346)
2,463 (17,102) (170) (34,163) (30,056)
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Financial Summary continues)

B R

As at 31 December

®12B831H

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

2020 4F 20214 2022 4 20234 2024 5

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFTIT ARETIT ARETT ARETT AR®TT

Total assets BEE 228,026 184,546 179,207 282,828 256,827
Total liabilities BmaE (93,788) (53,917) (35,199)  (139,020) (123,409)

Net assets BEFE 134,238 130,629 144,008 143,808 133,418

Equity attributable to the RAFHAA

owners of the Company eI R 134,238 130,629 144,008 138,456 129,943

Non-controlling interests R - - - 5,352 3,475

Total equity s iEEE 134,238 130,629 144,008 143,808 133,418
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